Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

SUKKYOO LEE

Date

Oxidative stress in muscle progenitor cell function

By

Sukkyoo Lee Doctor of Philosophy

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Science Biochemistry, Cell and Developmental Biology

> Marie E. Csete, M.D., Ph.D. Advisor

> > Charles Saxe, Ph.D. Committee Member

J. David Lambeth, M.D., Ph.D. Committee Member

> S. Russ Price, Ph.D. Committee Member

Thomas J. Burkholder, Ph.D. Committee Member

Accepted:

Lisa A. Tedesco, Ph.D. Dean of the Graduate School

Date

Oxidative stress in muscle progenitor cell function

By

Sukkyoo Lee M.S., Korea Advanced Institute of Sci. & Tech., 2002 B.S., Seoul National University, 2000

Advisor: Marie E. Csete, MD, Ph.D

An abstract of a dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Science Biochemistry, Cell and Developmental Biology 2008

Abstract

Oxidative stress in muscle progenitor cell function By Sukkyoo Lee

Muscle progenitor cells are essential for muscle development, growth and regeneration. Differentiation of muscle progenitor cells accompanies the complex molecular change and muscle progenitor cells are exposed to oxidative stress throughout the life span in vivo. In this dissertation, I investigated the effect of oxidative stress on muscle progenitor cells using primary myoblast cells isolated from transgenic mice. Gpx1-null myoblasts are globally defective in proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis during differentiation *in vitro*. In addition, oxidative stress increased by Gpx1 deletion in muscle tissue induced early senescence. I have also studied the role of mitochondrial SOD2 in muscle progenitor cells during aging. Sod2 overexpression preserves the function and relative abundance of mitochondria, but not muscle mass with aging in myoblasts. Data also suggest that the PI3K/Akt pathway is redox-regulated by oxidative stress. The fusion defect of Sod2^{+/-} (young) during differentiation might result in part from this altered PI3K/Akt signaling pathway. In addition, the haplo-deficiency of SOD1 (Sod1^{+/-}) in myoblasts has the significantly decreased myotube formation compared to wild-type with the altered expression of HIF-1 α and myogenin. Overall, the work characterizes the effect of oxidative stress in muscle progenitor cell function, and highlights the importance of oxidative stress during muscle differentiation.

Oxidative stress in muscle progenitor cell function

By

Sukkyoo Lee M.S., Korea Advanced Institute of Sci. & Tech., 2002 B.S., Seoul National University, 2000

Advisor: Marie E. Csete, MD, Ph.D

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Science Biochemistry, Cell and Developmental Biology 2008

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction	1
An introduction to reactive oxygen species (ROS)	2
Free radical theory of aging	2
Major antioxidant defense mechanism and implications in pathology	5
Roles of ROS during aging	10
Skeletal muscle development and regeneration	12
The source of ROS and its generation in myoblasts	17
Signaling pathways that participate in muscle differentiation and	
regeneration and their possible redox regulation	20
IGF-1/PI3kinase/Akt	20
MAPK cascade	27
NF-κB	31
HIF1	35
The crosstalk between redox-regulated signaling pathways	38
The regulation of mitochodria in muscle differentiation	38
Oxidative stress in muscle during aging	40
Protein degradation in muscle atrophy; Ubiquitin ligases	41
Signaling pathway for protein degradation	44
Autophagy of muscle during aging	47
Apoptosis of muscle during aging	48
Mitochondria of skeletal muscle during aging	51
Aging markers of muscle	53
	00
Chapter 2: Materials and Methods	62
Chapter 3: Glutathione peroxidase-1 null myoblasts are globally	
defective	78
Introduction	79
Results	80
Discussion	104
Chapter 4: Sod? overeveression preserves muchlest mitachandrial	
Chapter 4: Sod2 overexpression preserves myoblast mitochondrial	109
mass and function, but not muscle mass with aging	110
Results	112
Discussion	133
Chapter 5: Aberrant HIF-1α expression in response to oxygen in	
Sod1 heterozygote myoblasts	138
Introduction	139 140
Results Discussion	140
	170
Chapter 6: Discussion	151
References	163

Lists of Figures

Figure 1.1:	Major role of the PI3K-Akt pathway in muscle	
	maintenance	26
Figure 1.2:	MAPK signaling pathways	32
Figure 1.3:	HIF-1 α as a master regulator of oxygen sensing	37
Figure 3.1:	Abnormal morphology of freshly isolated Gpx1 ^{-/-}	
	myoblast colonies	81
Figure 3.2:	Relative intracellular oxidant stress as a function	
	of O ₂ culture conditions and Gpx1 deletion	83
Figure 3.3:	The relative abundance of mitochondria in	
	myoblasts was quantitated by qRT-PCR using	
	amplification of mitochondrial genome and	
	chromosomal genome regions	85
Figure 3.4:	Western blotting to detect carbonyl modification of	
	intracellular proteins	86
Figure 3.5:	Increased apoptosis of cultured Gpx1 ^{-/-} myoblasts .	89
Figure 3.6:	Terminal differentiation of skeletal muscle <i>in vitro</i> .	91
Figure 3.7:	Evaluation of adipogenic potential	99
Figure 3.8:	Lipofuscin staining (Sudan Black)	101
Figure 3.9:	The expression and activity of SOD family MAPK in	
	wild type and Gpx1 ^{-/-} myoblasts	102
Figure 3.10:	Akt and MAPK signaling pathways during	
	differentiation in wild-type and Gpx1 ^{-/-} myoblasts	103

Figure 4.1:	Myoblast proliferation and differentiation as a	
	function of Sod2 and aging	114
Figure 4.2:	Activation of PI3K/Akt pathway during muscle	
	differentiation	119
Figure 4.3:	Altered Akt signaling pathway during muscle	
	differentiation	122
Figure 4.4:	SOD2 expression and enzyme activity levels	125
Figure 4.5:	Measurement of ROS in myoblasts	128
Figure 4.6:	Myoblast mitochondrial abundance and function	
	as a function of SOD2 levels and aging	131
Figure 5.1:	Relative intracellular superoxide levels in Sod1*/-	
	vs. wild-type myoblasts	141
Figure 5.2:	Differentiation of myoblasts in different oxygen	
	conditions	143
Figure 5.3:	HIF-1 α and myogenin expression patterns are	
	altered by loss of CuZnSOD	146

Lists of Tables

Table 2.1:	The sequences of primers for quantitation of	
	myogenic regulatory factors (MRFs)	76
Table 2.2:	The sequences of primers and probes for	
	quantitation of mitochondrial DNA abundance	77
Table 3.1:	Proliferation of myoblasts on various extracellular	
	matrices	87
Table 3.2:	Antioxidant treatment improves differentiation	
	capacity of Gpx1 ^{-/-} myoblasts	93
Table 3.3:	Deficient myotube formation of Gpx1 ^{-/-} myoblasts is	
	partially rescued by co-culture with wild-type	
	myoblasts in a dose-dependent manner	95
Table 3.4:	Expression of myogenic bHLH genes during	
	myoblast differentiation	97

List of Abbreviations

bHLH:	basic helix-loop-helix
BrdU:	bromodeoxyuridine
CM-H ₂ DCFDA:	carboxydichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate
C _p R:	crossing point for 18s ribosomal RNA as a control
C _p T:	crossing point for target gene reaction
CuZnSOD:	copper zinc superoxide dismutase
DAPI:	4'-6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
DM:	differentiation media
DMEM:	Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium
DP:	differentiation potential
ECL:	entactin-collagen-laminin
E _R :	efficiency of primers for 18s ribosomal RNA as a control
<i>E</i> _T :	efficiency of primers for target gene
FGF:	fibroblast growth factor
GFP:	green fluorescent protein
GM:	growth media
Gpx1:	glutathione peroxidase-1
GSH:	glutathione
HIF:	hypoxia inducible factor
MHC:	myosin heavy chain
MnSOD:	manganese superoxide dismutase
NAC:	N-acetylcysteine

- PBN: phenyl-*N-tert*-butylnitrone
- PBS: phosphate-buffered saline
- PCR: polymerase chain reaction
- PFA: paraformaldehyde
- PGC1α: peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-γ-coactivator-1α
- ROS: reactive oxygen species
- TUNEL: terminal deoxynucleotidyl nick end labeling

Chapter 1: Introduction

An introduction to reactive oxygen species

Oxygen (O₂) is essential for life as an electron acceptor and participates to produce ATP through oxidative phosphorylation. However, oxygen tension is about 21% in the atmosphere and reactive oxygen species (ROS) are produced as detrimental by-products during oxidative phosphorylation. Living organisms have developed anti-oxidant defense mechanisms comprised of enzymes and small molecules during evolution. The phylogenic study of superoxide dismutase (SOD) suggests that the evolutionary advent of SOD family occurred when the atmosphere became oxygen rich (about 1.5 billions year ago). The SOD family genes are conserved from yeast to humans during evolution (Landis and Tower, 2005).

Free radical theory of aging

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are generally very small and highly reactive molecules partially reduced from oxygen (O₂). The primary cellular source for ROS generation has been proposed to be mitochondria. The free radical theory of aging was established (Harman, 1956). Mitochondria, cellular respiration sites as well as major sites of ROS generation, are proposed to be remnants of anaerobic bacteria based on phylogenic studies and morphology observations (Foth, 2007; Gabaldon and Huynen, 2007). Briefly, the mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation system is composed of five protein-lipid enzyme complexes - NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase (complex I), succinate:ubiquinone oxidoreductase (complex II), ubiquinol:ferrycytochrome c

oxidoreductase (complex III), ferrocytochrome c:oxygen oxidoreductase (complex IV) and ATP synthase (complex V). Complex I, II, III and IV plus ubiquinone (Q) and cytochrome c compose the respiratory chain of mitochondria. Complex I catalyzes electron transfer from NADH or NADPH to ubiquinone homologs, ferricyanide and DNA. The reduction of ubiquinone is inhibited by rotenone, piericidin A, barbiturates and mecurials and complex I is a major source of superoxide production with complex II and III. The major component of complex II is succinate dehydrogenase (SDH), a membrane-bound enzyme of the citric acid cycle. Complex II catalyzes electron transfer from succinate to ubiquinone. The oxidized ubiquinone by complex I and II transfer electron to cytochorome c, a reaction catalyzed by complex III. The release of cytochorome c into the cytosol is one of the characteristics of intrinsic apoptosis. Complex IV is a multisubunit enzyme complex including cytochrome oxidase that catalyzes terminal transfer of electrons to oxygen. The formation of ROS is summarized as following chemical reactions.

(1)
$$O_2 + e^- \rightarrow O_2^-$$
 (superoxide anion radical)
(2) $O_2^- + e^- \rightarrow O_2^- + 2H^+ \rightarrow H_2O_2$ (hydrogen peroxide)
(3) $H_2O_2 + e^- \rightarrow OH + OH^-$ (hydroxyl radical and hydroxide anion)
(4) $OH + e^- + H^+ \rightarrow H_2O$
(5) $H_2O_2 + Fe^{2+}$ (Cu^+) $\rightarrow OH + OH^- + Fe^{3+}$ (Cu^{2+}) (Fenton reaction)
adical formation in mitochondria is initiated with formation of superoxide

Free radical formation in mitochondria is initiated with formation of superoxide anions $({}^{\circ}O_2)$ as by-products of respiration. Superoxide anions are further catalyzed to hydrogen peroxide by SOD2. Consequently, hydrogen peroxide is

catalyzed to water by catalase or Gpx enzyme family. The increase of ROS might result from the loss of cytochrome c or a defective respiratory chain as well as coenzyme Q in mitochondria (Kushnareva et al., 2002).

ROS are also produced by enzymes and small molecules in the cytosol. NADPH oxidase and xanthine oxidase family produce superoxide anions using oxygen as substrate following chemical reaction (1) (Linas et al., 1990; Cheng et al., 2001). The ROS-generative capacity of NADPH oxidases is the subject of much recent study. The catalytic subunit gp91phox (Nox2) of the NADPH oxidase in phagocytes produces superoxide anion (O₂⁻) in response to microbes and immune response (Cheng et al., 2001). Various family members of NADPH oxidase have been identified in other cells and tissues, and are termed the Nox/Duox family. In humans, seven homologs in the Nox/Duox family have been identified, Nox1-5, Duox1 and Duox2 (Suh et al., 1999; Cheng et al., 2001; Shiose et al., 2001). Unlike mitochondrial generation of superoxide, Nox/Duox family generates superoxide anion in a highly regulated manner to perform a physiologic function, rather than being produced as by-products of normal cellular function. The Nox/Duox family is implicated in multiple biological responses such as phagocyte function in innate immunity (Cheng et al., 2001), proliferation (Arnold et al., 2001; Chamulitrat et al., 2003), apoptosis (Geiszt et al., 2003), receptor signaling (Lassegue et al., 2001; Mahadev et al., 2004) and biosynthesis of extracellular matrix (Edens et al., 2001). In smooth muscle, Nox2 and Nox4 have been known to increase superoxide anion production in human coronary atherosclerosis (Sorescu et al., 2008) and Nox1 overexpressing

transgenic mice have increased hypertension and cardiac hypertrophy (Dikalova et al., 2005), suggesting an important role for Nox1 in maintaining normal blood pressure.

All of the above-mentioned ROS differ in their activity. Hydroxyl radical (•OH) is known to be most reactive and destructive chemical among them. It is a strong oxidant capable of taking either an electron or a hydrogen from compounds and can be incorporated into an aromatic ring. Thus, the hydroxyl radical can damage directly all components of cells; DNAs, proteins, lipids, and amino acids. Hydroxyl radical can be formed by reactions (3) and (5) above. The fenton reaction (5) depletes transition metal ion such as Fe²⁺ and Cu.

Major antioxidant defense mechanism and implications in pathology

In mammalian, the expression and activity of antioxidant enzymes are cell/tissue specific and subcellular localization of antioxidant enzymes are highly specialized. In addition to anti-oxidant enzymes, various small molecules such as vitamins function as antioxidants and contribute to regulating the redox-status. Thus, the picture of control of ROS production and redox-status in cells is exceedingly complicated and considerably more inter-connected than anticipated by Harman's original formulation, which emphasized mitochondria as a major site of ROS production. In mammals, multiple anti-oxidant enzymes and small molecules have been identified and their functions have been studied.

SODs are metalloenzymes that catalyze the dismutation of two superoxide anions (O_2^-) into hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) and O_2 . Three types of SODs are

known in mammals. SOD1, also known as Cu, Zn-SOD, is dimeric, mostly abundant in the cytosol and requires Cu, Zn as cofactors. SOD1 is implicated in neurological disorders such as amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) (Bowling et al., 1993; Rossen et al., 1993). ALS is a clinically and genetically heterogeneous late-onset neurodegenerative disease accompanied with degeneration of cortical and spinal motor neurons. Mutations of Sod1 gene are found to cause ALS and more than 100 different Sod1 mutations have been identified to cause the similar phenotype of this disease (Beckman et al., 2002). Neuron-specific expression of mutant SOD1 was known to be sufficient to induce ALS-like phenotype supported by transgenic mice (Jaarsma et al., 2008). In addition, the number of neurons and axons in mutant SOD1 transgenic mice decreased and ubiquitin expression increased in the spinal neurons of these mice (Jaarsma et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2008).

SOD2, also known as Mn-SOD, is tetrameric, localized in mitochondria and requires Mn as a cofactor. SOD2 is the first anti-oxidant defense enzyme against ROS generated in mitochondria because SOD2 is strictly localized in mitochondria. Various pathologies are implicated with aberrant SOD2 expression including cardiomyopathy (Li et al., 1995), hemolytic anemia (Friedman et al., 2004), seizures (Liang et al., 2004), cancers (Connor et al., 2007), tumor metastasis (Nelson et al., 2003), Alzheimer's disease (Esposito et al., 2006), hypertension (Rodriguez-Iturbe et al., 2007) and aging (Kokoszka et al., 2001). SOD2 knock-out mice have similar phenotypes and are embryonically or neonatally lethal depending on the mouse strain (Li et al., 1995; Huang et al., 2001).

SOD3, a secretory copper enzyme, also known as EC-SOD, is localized in the extracellular matrix and classified into A, B, and C depending on the affinity to heparin (Sandström et al., 1993). SOD3 is implicated mainly in cardiovascular disorders and ischemia because its role is modulating the levels of extracellular superoixde anion generated in the vasculature (Qin et al., 2005). SOD3 knockout mice have increased cerebral infarct volume after ischemic injury (Sheng et al., 1999). SOD3 overexpressing transgenic mice have attenuated aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) which is known to be caused in part by the increased superoxide anion production (McGirt et al., 2002).

Glutathione peroxidase (Gpx) catalyzes the reduction of H₂O₂ or organic hydroperoxides to H₂O. Free glutathione (GSH; L-γ-glutamyl-L-cysteinyl-glycine), is a cofactor in the reaction (for Gpx1-6), and is converted into glutathione disulfide (GSSG) during Gpx-mediated catalysis. Except for Gpx5 and Gpx6, the other Gpx enzymes also use selenocysteine (SeCys) as a cofactor. In mammals, the Gpx family includes six proteins with distinct but overlapping amino acid sequences, substrate specificity and subcellular localization. Cytosolic (Gpx1), gastrointestinal (Gpx2), plasma (Gpx3), phospholipids hydroperoxide (Gpx4), epididymal (Gpx5) and olfactory epithelium (Gpx6) have been identified as major sites of expression for the different family members (Brigelius-Flohe, 1999). Various pathologies are implicated as a consequence of changes in Gpx expression including colorectal cancer (Murawaki et al., 2008), atherosclerosis (Espinola-Kein et al., 2007), hypertension (Kashyap et al., 2005), endothelial dysfunction (Galasso et al., 2006) and aging (Ji et al., 1990). In addition, Gpx4 knock-out is embryonic lethal in mice, and Gpx4 heterozygous knock-out mice have decreased survival when they are exposed to cytotoxic oxidative stress (Yant et al., 2003).

Catalase mediates the same reaction mediated by the Gpx family; dismutation of two H_2O_2 into H_2O and oxygen. Most catalase is strictly localized in peroxysome in eukaryotic cells, and biogenesis of the peroxysome is also one of the critical antioxidant defense mechanisms. Aberrant change of catalase expression has been implicated in liver tumorigenesis (Litwin et al., 1999), colon carcinoma (Lauer et al., 1998), liver allograft rejection (Steinmetz et al., 1998) and ischemia-reperfusion injury (Singh, 1996). The important role of catalase during aging has been emphasized by transgenic relocalization and overexpression of catalase in mitochondria (Schriner et al., 2005). Transgenic mice overexpressing catalase in mitochondria showed decreased age-dependent arteriosclerosis and increased genomic stability with catalase activity increased up to 50-fold in mitochondria of cardiac and skeletal muscle (Schriner et al., 2005). The most striking result from these studies was increased lifespan (about 17-21%) of the mt-catalase transgenic mice compared to wild-type mice (Schriner et al., 2005). This result suggests that catalase might be key in oxidantmediated regulation of longevity, but the expression of catalase in a place where it is not normally expressed may also mean that the longevity effect in not related to a normal physiologic role for catalase alone in longevity.

Small molecules also function as antioxidants. Glutathione (GSH) is the most abundant non-protein thiol in mammalian cells. The role of GSH is includes its function as a substrate for glutathione S-transferase, which catalyzes GSH conjugation and leads the detoxification of xenobiotic compounds, and for Gpx as noted earlier. GSH is oxidized to its disulfide form, GSSG after these enzyme reactions and the ratio of GSH/GSSG is a standard surrogate measure of intracellular redox status (Erden-Inal et al., 2002). GSH is implicated in many diseases for which oxidative stress plays an important role in diseases generation and progression. The importance of GSH as a ubiquitous antioxidant is now widely appreciated. For example, tumor progression increased with the decreasing ratio of GSH/GSSG and oxidative stress caused by tumor promoters was not decreased by the supplementing free GSH (Navarro et al., 1999).

Thioredoxin is a ubiquitous 12 kDa redox regulator with multiple biological functions. Reduced thioredoxin functions like a protein disulfide oxido-reductase. Oxidized thioredoxin is converted back to reduced form by thioredoxin reductase. Thioredoxin as well as GSH is one of the important thiol-disulfied based redox buffers in cells. The members of thioredoxin family are thioredoxin 1 (Trx1; cytosolic) and thioredoxin 2 (Trx2; mitochondrial). Thioredoxin has a growth factor effect on MCF-7 breast cancer cell by increasing cell proliferation when it is added into culture medium *in vitro* (Gasdaska et al., 1995) and functions as a signaling molecule by augmenting the expression of tumor necrosis factor (TNF) and interleukin-6 (IL-6) (Schenk et al., 1996). Transgenic mice overexpressing Trx are protected against reperfusion injury in the brain (Takagi et al., 1999),

have increased the glucose metabolism (Umekawa et al., 2008), and extended life span (Mitsui et al., 2002).

Roles of ROS during aging

The detrimental effects of ROS produced by enzymes or non-enzymatic source like mitochondria will accumulate in cells over the life span and eventually result in the death of the organism. Consistent with this view, all cellular components - DNAs, proteins and lipids – have been shown to be progressively damaged directly by ROS. However, though lower organism lifespan has a clear connection to function of specific antioxidants (Sun and Tower, 1999; Sun et al., 2002; Sun et al., 2004), deletion of single antioxidants in mouse models has not resulted in a clear connection to lifespan (Van Remmen et al., 1999; Muller et al., 2006), likely because of complex interactions and redundancies in the antioxidant systems. Independent of longevity, detrimental effects of ROS are implicated in many diseases associated with aging (Finkel and Holbrook, 2000) including cancer (Klaunig and Kamendulis, 2004), atherosclerosis (Qin et al., 2005), aging (Finkel and Holbrook, 2000), and muscular atrophy (Pansarasa et al., 1999; Muller et al., 2007).

ROS also function as signaling molecules in normal (non-pathologic) processes resulting in various biological responses in cells. ROS promote cell proliferation (Foreman et al., 2003; Geiszt and Leto, 2004), skeletal muscle and differentiation (Franco et al., 1999; Li et al., 2006), apoptosis (Haendeler et al., 2002; Choi et al., 2006), receptor signaling (Choi et al., 2005; DeYulia et al.,

2005), migration (Chiarugi et al., 2003; Giannoni et al., 2005) and signaling cascades (Cho et al., 2004; Kamata et al., 2005). Currently, how these biological responses are regulated by the temporal and transient oxidative stress is not well-understood. However, for some of these functions, the redox-sensitive sites of proteins have been identified and studied in some detail (Aslund et al., 1999; Lee et al., 2002; Zhou et al., 2004; Ali et al., 2006; Bossis and Melchior, 2006; Kohli et al., 2007).

Several methods are currently applicable to measure specific ROS. First, electron spin trapping is applicable to detect superoxide anion or hydrogen peroxide. Mechanism of this method is using the reaction of unstable free radical with diamagnetic molecule (the spin trap) to form a relatively stable free radical. Radical adducts formed can be detected and the amount of the specific ROS can be quantitated. A vast majority of spin traps form radical adducts through the addition of the radical to the trap to form a nitroxide radical. Two major classes of traps are widely used such as nitrones and nitroso compounds. This method is fairly specific for quantitation of ROS using cells. For example, the inhalation of H_2 gas markedly suppresses brain injury by buffering the effects of oxidative stress and the decrease of hydroxyl radical is identified as target of H_2 gas by electron spin trapping (Ohsawa et al., 2007). Another example is that a timedependent ROS production and hydrogen peroxide release from mitochondria of human hepatoblastoma cell line (HepG2/C3A) in response to palmitate is measured using electron spin trapping (Srivastava and Chan, 2007). Disadvantages of this method are low sensitivity, higher cost of equipment, and

possible artifacts due to difficulty of differentiating hydroxyl radical from hydroxyllike species. Second, multiple fluorescent chemicals, which react with ROS, are available for use with either the fluorescence microscope or fluorometer. This method is easier to carry out than the spin trap method but more difficulty comes from unspecific reaction with heterogeneous radical-like compounds inside cells. A third method is to evaluate the overall redox-status inside cells because the increase or decrease of specific ROS eventually changes the redox-status in cells. As mentioned above, the ratio of GSH to GSSG is a standard parameter, for this type of measurement, and can be measured using colorimetric methods or high performance liquid chromatography. There may be difficulty in connecting the redox-status with the increase or decrease of ROS because of the complexity of ROS reactions in cells.

Skeletal muscle development and regeneration

Skeletal muscle comprises about 50% of the body mass and generates force through the contractile movement of myofibers. Muscle mass is maintained and regenerated to form myofibers through the activation of the quiescent satellite cells during the entire life span. At molecular level, there is a common mechanism underlying muscle differentiation between embryogenic myogenesis and adult myogenesis.

After fertilization, the zygote makes its way to the uterus, which takes three to four days in mice and five to seven days in humans. As it moves, the zygote divides. The first cleavage produces two identical cells and then divides

again to produce four cells. The cells divide further asynchronously to produce 8 cells, 16 cells, and so on (Gilbert, 2000). By the 16-cell stage, the compacted embryo is called a morula in which maternal influences such as mRNA and proteins in the oocyte cytoplasm are significantly decreased and the cells of the embryo adhere tightly each other. Cells have become specialized and form an outer rim of cells called the trophectoderm and an inner core of cells, the inner cell mass (Gilbert, 2000). The cells of the inner cells mass will give rise to all the tissues of the embryo's body as well as to nontrophoblast tissues that support the developing embryo. The cells of the inner cell mass and trophectoderm divide continuously and form a cavity called blastocoel (Beddington and Robertson, 1999). It is filled with a fluid secreted from trophectodermal cells. As a result of captivation (a process that occurs during the formation of the blastocyst and establishes the polarity of embryonic cells) and the separation and differentiation of the trophectoderm from the inner cell mass, morula becomes a blastocyst. The blastocyst will generate three primary germ layers - endoderm, mesoderm and ectoderm through a process called gastrulation (Gilbert, 2000). The mesodermal layer is created through gastrulation, and located between the ectoderm and the endoderm. The mesoderm is divided into the axial mesoderm (near notochord), intermediate mesoderm, paraxial mesoderm and the lateral plate mesoderm. Most skeletal muscles are derived from the paraxial mesoderm (Brand-Saberi et al., 1996). Somites (segmentally arranged blocks of mesoderm lying on either side of the notochord and neural tube during development of the vertebrate embryo) are formed through the separation of the paraxial mesoderm into two

cell clusters. Cells of ventral part of somites form sclerotome, which eventually forms the vertebrate ribs. This process is accompanied by down-regulation of Pax3 and Pax7, members of paired/homeodomain transcription factor family (Ben-Yair and Kalcheim, 2005; Gros et al. 2005; Esner et al., 2006). Cells from the dorsal part of somites will form dermomyotome and maintain expression of Pax3 and Pax7, with dermomyotome, a major source for the musculature (Ben-Yair and Kalcheim, 2005; Gros et al., 2005; Kassar-Duchossoy et al., 2005; Relaix et al., 2005). An epaxial and hypaxial parts of somites will be formed from dermis and generate the back muscle and limb muscle. The function of genes regulating developmental myogenesis have been elucidated using transgenic animals. Both of c-Met (the receptor for hepatocyte growth factor) and Pax3 knockout mice have impaired myogenic cell migration to the developing limb (Dietrich et al., 1999; Relaix et al., 2004). In addition, Pax3 is essential to muscle cell survival (Bober et al., 1994; Goulding et al., 1994). After the migration of cells at the edges of the dermomyotome, down-regulation of Pax3 follows, and the myogenic regulatory factors (MRFs: including myf5, MyoD, Mrf4 and myogenin) are up-regulated and regulate the differentiation of myoblasts (Tajbakhsh et al., 1996; Kassar-Duchossoy et al., 2004). Among four MRFs, myf5 and MyoD are suggested as the determination MRFs because they are upregulated earlier than Mrf4 and myogenin and required for turning on the expression of Mrf4 and myogenin during limb myogenesis. More significantly, double knock-out mice which have disrupted both myf5 and MyoD have failed to either produce or sustain myoblast population (Megeney and Rudnicki, 1995; Arnold and Brown,

1996; Yun and Wold, 1996). Compared to myf5 and MyoD, myogenin and Mrf4 are differentiation MRFs supported by finding that myogenin knock-out mice are highly deficient in muscle differentiation while myoblasts population is normal (Megeney and Rudnicki, 1995; Arnold and Brown, 1996).

Myogenesis in the adult continues postnatally during growth and developmental myogenesis is recapitulated in ongoing repair of skeletal muscle to maintain the muscle mass during the entire life span. Satellite cells are known as muscle stem cells which are located between the basal lamina and muscle fibers in muscle observed under electron microscopy (Mauro, 1961; Hawke et al., 2001). These cells are normally quiescent, but can be stimulated to enter cell cycle, proliferate, undergo self-renewal and differentiate into mature myofibers. Active proliferating muscle progenitor cells (differentiated from satellite cells) are also called myoblasts, and are committed to a muscle fate. Two factors that activate guiescent satellite cells into myoblasts have been identified; (1) hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) (Allen et al., 1995; Tatsumi et al., 1998), and (2) nitric oxide (NO) (Anderson, 2000; Tatsumi et al., 2002). Consistent with HGF as an activation factor, c-met (receptor of HGF) is identified to express in quiescent and activated satellite cells (Tatsumi et al., 1998). A burst of NO produced from nitric oxide synthase (NOS) within basal lamina of damaged muscle fiber is suggested as an initial signal for the activation (Anderson, 2000). The activation of satellite cells is enhanced in response to exercise damage or muscle degenerative diseases when the myoblasts are required for growth, repair or regeneration of muscle. The regulatory factors for the activation of satellite cells

are similar to embryonic myogenesis which is regulated by Pax3, Pax7 and Myf5 (Relaix et al., 2006). Quiescent satellite cells expressing Pax7 migrate into injury site and the up-regulation of either Myf5 or MyoD activates the proliferation of myoblasts (Braun et al., 1992; Rudnicki et al., 1993). Terminal differentiation of myoblasts is accompanied with the down-regulation of Pax3 and Pax7 and the up-regulation of myogenin and Mrf4 (Olguin et al., 2004; Relaix et al., 2006). Eventually, these myoblasts differentiate, fuse and become new myofibers or fuse to existing damaged myofibers and repair them. Consistent with embryo myogenesis as above-mentioned, myf5 and MyoD are suggested as the determination MRFs because they are essential for myoblast formation while myogenin and Mrf4 are required for terminal differentiation of myoblasts.

Sarcopenia (also known as muscle atrophy with aging), the loss of skeletal muscle mass and strength occurs during aging and decreases the performance of aged muscle. Sarcopenia is accompanied with both decreased regenerative potential and acceleration of existing muscle wasting. Impairment of the regenerative potential is known to be due to the decreased number and function of satellite cells during aging (Shefer et al., 2006). The mechanism of sarcopenia is complex and broad, and involves increased ROS, mutations in mitochondrial DNA and/or apoptosis (Papa and Skulachev, 1997; Pak et al., 2003). On the other hand, muscle wasting due to unweighting, cachexia or renal disease is accompanied by the activation of muscle wasting ligases such as atrogin-1 and MuRF-1 through signaling pathways such as PI3K-Akt signaling pathway (Sandri et al., 2004; Stitt et al., 2004). The question arises whether there is a different

mechanism between sarcopenia and muscle wasting or whether a universal mechanism governs both. This thesis will focus primarily on how oxidative stress affects differentiation of myoblasts, regeneration of muscle and signaling pathways.

The source of ROS and its generation in myoblasts

The decreased expression of various anti-oxidant enzymes has been reported as the source of oxidative stress in myoblasts (Van Remmen., 1999; Fulle et al., 2004). Among three types of SODs, SOD1 and SOD2 are identified to be expressed in both muscle and myoblasts (Van Remmen., 1999). SOD1 knock-out mice develop normally and exhibit about 17-20% lower muscle mass than wild-type mice and rapid decrease of muscle mass during aging (Muller et al., 2006). Myoblasts isolated from SOD1 knock-out mice rapidly died *in vitro* and myoblasts isolated SOD1 heterozygous knock-out had a significantly decreased myotube formation *in vitro* (Lee., Unpublished data).

SOD2 knock-out mice are embryonically or neonatally lethal depending on the mouse strain (Li et al., 1995; Huang et al., 2001). In muscle tissue, both of mitochondrial ROS production and SOD2 enzyme activity are known to increase during aging (Gianni et al., 2004). SOD2 heterozygote mice have a similar life span compared to wild-type. The levels of mRNA coding for the major antioxidant enzymes (CuZnSOD, catalase, and glutathione peroxidase) are not significantly altered in liver, kidney, heart, lung, or brain in the SOD2 heterozygote mice (Van Remmen et al., 1999). Interestingly, glutathione peroxidase activity and the ratio of GSH/GSSG decrease approximately 50% in the muscle of SOD2 heterozygote mice. Myoblasts isolated from SOD2 heterozygous knockout mice had a severe defect in terminal differentiation to form myotubes *in vitro* (Lee, Unpublished data).

SOD3, also known as EC-SOD, mRNA of SOD3 has been identified to be expressed at the message level in muscle tissue (Oury et al., 1992; Folz and Crapo, et al., 1994), but its protein-level expression and role are still unclear. No data are concerning myoblast expression of SOD3.

In muscle, Gpx1 and Gpx4 are expressed (Zhang et al., 1989; Knopp et al., 1999). Gpx1 knock out mice develop normally, but are exquisitely sensitive to paraquat and diquat (Cheng et al., 1999). In Gpx1 knock-out mice, lipofuscin, a senescence marker, forms in muscle and connective tissue earlier than in wild-type (Lee et al., 2006). Gpx1 knock-out myoblasts have impaired terminal differentiation, which might result from decreased proliferation and increased apoptosis (Lee et al., 2006).

Gpx4 knock-out is embryonically lethal in mice, and Gpx4 heterozygous knock-out mice have decreased survival when they are exposed to cytotoxic oxidative stress (Yant et al., 2003). Gpx4 heterozygous myoblasts exhibit cell aggregations in growth medium *in vitro* (Lee, Unpublished data). Gpx enzyme activity in human satellite cells is known to decrease during aging (Fulle et al., 2007). No data are concerning myoblast expression of other Gpx enzymes.

Antioxidant activity of catalase in satellite cells derived from the elderly is significantly decreased compared to that in cells isolated from young individuals

(Fulle et al., 2007). In addition, cell membrane fluidity is considerably decreased in aged human satellite cells while basal Ca^{2+} levels increase significantly in an age-dependent manner (Fulle et al., 2007). When myoblasts are exposed to higher oxidative stress such as H_2O_2 , catalase activity increases about 4 to 5 fold compared to normal status (Franco et al., 1999). These data might suggest that there is a different regulation of catalase expression in response to acute and sustained oxidative stress.

Various family members of NADPH oxidase have been identified in muscle and muscle precursor cells. Among seven homologs in the Nox/Duox family, Nox2, Nox4, p22, p47 and p67 were detected in human and murine myoblasts (Mofarrahi et al., 2008). The Nox/Duox family is implicated in muscle differentiation. In skeletal muscle, Nox2 is known to stimulate muscle differentiation through activation of NF-κB/iNOS pathway, the downstream of PI3kinase and p38 MAPK (Piao et al., 2005). Nox2 activity increases during muscle differentiation and treatment of C2C12 cells with siRNA against Nox2 decreased muscle differentiation. However, there is no effect on muscle differentiation by knocking down Nox1 (Piao et al., 2005). In smooth muscle, Nox2 and Nox4 are known to increase superoxide anion production in human coronary atherosclerosis (Sorescu et al., 2002), suggesting that up-regulation of Nox activity is implicated in cardiac disease.

The ratio of GSH/GSSG is a standard surrogate measure of intracellular redox status as noted earlier (Erden-Inal et al., 2002). In muscle, free GSH is known to decrease during exercise as it is used to counteract increased oxidative

19

stress (Viguie et al., 1993). GSH is depleted rapidly in clinically ill patients after many kinds of surgical procedures, trauma and age-related chronic diseases (Hammarqvist et al., 1997). *In vitro*, C2C12 cells treated with buthioninesulfoximine (BSO) have impaired myogenesis due to the depletion of GSH by BSO (Ardite et al., 2004).

Signaling pathways that participate in muscle differentiation and regeneration and their possible redox regulation

ROS mediates diverse biological responses through redox-sensitive signaling pathways in muscle differentiation and regeneration. In this section, IGF/PI3kinase/Akt, mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) cascade, NFκB and HIF-1α signaling pathways will be discussed in terms of redox-regulation of these pathways specifically in muscle differentiation and regeneration.

IGF-1/PI3kinase/Akt

Insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) expression is increased during muscle work and its delivery or overexpression results in muscle hypertrophy via autocrine and paracrine signaling (DeVol et al., 1990). Transgenic mice overexpressing IGF-1 under control of a muscle specific promoter increase muscle mass about two-fold (Musarò et al., 2001). When IGF-1 binds to IGF-1 receptor tyrosine kinase, the receptor trans-phosphorylates itself, resulting in subsequent phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrate-1 (IRS-1). Phosphorylated IRS-1 activates phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) and results

in the production of phosphatidylinositil-3,4,5-triphosphate (PIP₃) from phosphatidylinositil-4,5-bisphosphate (PIP₂). PIP₃ can be reversed to PIP₂ catalyzed by the PIP₂ phosphatase, PTEN. PIP₃ provides the docking site at the plasma membrane for the serine/threonine kinase, Akt. Akt is phosphorylated by PDK-1 at the membrane and activated for the phosphorylation of downstream target proteins which mediate cell proliferation, survival, protein synthesis and the activation of transcription factors. Three isoforms (Akt 1/PKBa, Akt2/PKBB and Akt3/PKBy) of Akt exist encoded by the different genes but have more than 85% amino acid sequence identity (Alessi and Cohen., 1998; Coffer et al., 1998; Nakatani et al., 1999). Akt1 knock-out mice are viable but smaller than wild-type littermates (Chen et al., 2001). However, when they were exposed to y-irradiation, survival of Akt1 knock-out mice decreased compared to wild-type (Chen et al., 2001). Selective inhibition of Akt1 is known to block MyoD-mediated muscle differentiation in the transformed mesenchymal murine C3H10T1/2 fibroblasts (Wilson and Rotwein, 2007). However, the selective knockdown of Akt2 had no effect on myoblast survival and differentiation (Wilson and Rotwin, 2007). Interestingly, Akt2 knock-out mice have insulin resistance and diabetes mellitus and this phenotype is accompanied by expansion of beta cell mass in pancreatic islets (Cho et al., 2001), supporting a role for regulation of glucose metabolism by Akt2 (Ng et al., 2008; Tassi et al., 2008). The distinct phenotypes of Akt1 knockout and Akt2 knock-out mice suggest that the selective activation of Akt1 might stimulate its downstream targets for protein synthesis without the disruption of the glucose homeostasis.

Two critical phosphorylation sites for the activation of Akt are threonine 308 (T308) and serine 473 (S473). These sites are known to be phosphorylated in response to growth-factor via PI3K in contrast to other constitutive phosphorylation sites such as serine 124 (S124) and threonine 450 (T450) of Akt (Bellacosa et al., 1998). Site-directed mutagenesis supports the idea that mutation of these phosphorylation sites into non-phosphorylatable sites (dominant negative) abolishes the activation of Akt in response to IGF-1 or insulin, whereas mutations to acidic residues (constitutive activation) render the kinase active independent of growth factors (Bellacosa et al., 1998). Each phosphorylation site might have a distinct role for the activation of downstream targets. Ablation of mTORC2, Akt S473 kinase, changed the phosphorylation status of FOXO3 but not TSC2 or GSK3 β , substrates of Akt (Guertin et al., 2006). S473 phosphorylation of Akt results in 5 to 10-fold increase of Akt activity but is not required for the stimulation of Akt by insulin and IGF-1 (Alessi et al., 1996). In addition, there is no known signaling which causes T308 phosphorylation without S473 phosphorylation. The possible role of S473 phosphorylation dictating the choice of downstream target is suggested by a genetic study (Jacinto et al., 2006) but further work is required to understand the differential role of the two phosphorylations. The function of Akt is well characterized in cell growth and the activation of muscle wasting in muscle biology. mTOR complex 1 (mTORC1 or the mTOR-raptor complex) activated by phospho-Akt increases the translation initiation and ribosome biosynthesis in response to growth factors and nutrients (Wullschleger et al., 2006). Tumor cells, which grow aberrantly and activate the

PI3K-Akt pathway, show increased sensitivity to mTOR inhibitors, such as rapamycin, suggesting the importance of mTOR as one of the downstream target for Akt (Aoki et al., 2001). The substrates of mTOR, such as S6 kinases (S6K1-2) and eukaryotic initiation factor 4E (eIF4E)-binding protein1 (4E-BP1) might be affected by the activation of Akt through mTOR but it is not clear whether the substrates of mTOR are directly affected by the activation of Akt. In muscle, mTOR and S6K activation by the PI3K/Akt pathway is crucial for muscle growth (Bodine et al., 2001b; Rommel et al., 2001; Ohanna et al., 2005; Mieulet et al., 2007). Muscle hypertrophy indicated by about 10% more nuclei per myotube in response to IGF-1 can be abolished by treatment with the mTOR specific inhibitor, rapamycin, in C2C12 cells (Rommel et al., 2001). Muscle hypertrophy caused by in vivo transfection of constitutive active form of Akt into rat muscle is also blocked by the oral administration of rapamycin (Bodine et al., 2001b). These results support a model in which the activation of mTOR is crucial for muscle differentiation and growth. S6K1, a substrate of mTOR, is also critical for muscle cell growth supported by the finding that S6K1 knock-out mice have decreased muscle mass and muscle fiber size compared to wild-type, and S6K1 knock-out myoblasts are fusion-defective during terminal differentiation (Ohanna et al., 2005). At the molecular level, S6K1 knock-out myoblasts have decreased global protein synthesis without a change in levels of the transcription of muscle wasting genes such as Atrogin-1 and MuRF-1 (Mieulet et al., 2007).

FOXO proteins are transcription factors, downstream of Akt, that are involved in diverse biological functions such as cell proliferation, survival,

differentiation, and metabolism (Accili and Arden, 2004; Barthel et al., 2005). Three of the four FOXOs (1, 3a and 4a) are substrates of Akt and have PKB motifs at N- and C- terminal; FOXO6 lacks C-terminal PKB and is localized constitutively in the nucleus (Van der Heide et al, 2005). FOXO factors function as a convergence point for signaling in oxidative stress and growth factor stimulation. PI3K/Akt-dependent phosphorylation of FOXOs is crucial to the regulation of FOXOs and the phosphorylated FOXOs translocate from nucleus to cytosol (Takaishi et al., 1999; Bos et al., 2001; Burgering and Kops, 2002). Various target genes, which are induced by active FOXOs, have been identified including the cell cycle inhibitors, p15 (Katayama et al., 2007), p19 (Katayama et al., 2007), p21 (Nakae et al., 2003) and p27 (Motta et al., 2004), metabolic genes, G6pc (Housley et al., 2008) and lgfbp1 (Kim et al., 2003a), apoptotic mediators, Bim (Stahl et al., 2002; Sunters et al., 2003), Hid (Luo et al., 2007), antioxidant genes, Sod2 (Brunet et al., 2004), catalase (Alcendor et al., 2007), stress response gene, Gadd45α (Tran et al., 2002), autophagy mediators, Bnip3 (Mammucari et al., 2008), and LC3 (Mammucari et al., 2008) and muscle-specific atrophy genes, atrogin-1 (Sandri et al., 2004) and MuRF1 (Stitt et al., 2004).

In muscle, the specific role of FOXOs is well characterized during myocyte differentiation (Wu et al., 2008) and muscle atrophy (Sandri et al., 2004; Stitt et al., 2004). Expression of constitutively active form FOXO1 inhibits muscle differentiation through the negative regulation of PI3K-Akt-mTOR (Wu et al., 2008). Transgenic mice overexpressing constitutively active FOXO1 have smaller muscle mass compared to wild-type controls and decreased levels of mTOR, Raptor and the decreased phosphorylation of S6K, all known to be essential for protein synthesis (Southgate et al., 2007). Increased active FOXO proteins up-regulate muscle-specific ubiquitin ligases such as atrogin-1 (MAFbx) and MuRF1 *in vitro* and *in vivo* and muscle atrophy is accelerated through the inactivation of PI3K/Akt/FOXO pathway (Sandri et al., 2004; Stitt et al., 2004).

Redox regulation of PI3K/Akt pathway is supported by many studies (Deora et al., 1998; Niwa et al., 2003; Connor et al., 2005; Lu et al., 2007). H₂O₂induced oxidative stress increases the phosphorylation of Akt at T308 and S473 in various cells in vitro (LaHair et al., 2006). In more detail, the phosphorylation of T308 or S473 in response to H_2O_2 is either dependent on PI3K or calcium/camodulin-dependent kinase (CaM-K) activity (LaHair et al., 2006). The downstream targets of Akt are also known to be regulated by oxidative stress. The phosphorylation and activity of S6K regulated by PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway decreased by H_2O_2 treatment in rat hepatoma cell line H4IIE (Patel et al., 2002). FOXOs are activated to defend cells from oxidative stress by up-regulating antioxidant enzyme such as SOD2 (Brunet et al., 2004) and induce G2/M cell cycle arrest due to oxidative stress in C2C12 cells in vitro (Furukawa-Hibi et al., 2002). While many results support that PI3K/Akt pathway is redox-regulated, the target protein modified or activated by the oxidative stress is variable depending on the cell type and the concentration of ROS. Though exogenous administration of H_2O_2 activates PI3K-Akt pathway, the physiological levels of oxidants regulating the pathway are not known, and the mechanism of specific protein modifications by ROS are incompletely characterized.


MAPK cascade

MAPK (mitogen-activated protein kinases) pathways are multi-layered signaling cascades. The MAPK family of proteins consists of four major subfamilies, p38 MAPK, ERKs (extracellular signal-regulated kinases), JNKs (c-Jun NH₂-terminal kinases) and ERK5 or big MAPK. The MAPK subfamily is composed of three sequentially acting kinases, MEKK (mitogen activated protein kinase kinase), MEK (mitogen activated protein kinase) and MAPK, resulting in the activation via the sequential phosphorylation of downstream kinases. The primary functions of the MAPK pathway are to regulate the function of proteins in the cytoplasm and the transcription of diverse genes involved in cell growth, proliferation, differentiation, metabolism, transcription, translation and remodeling. Though considerable detail is known about these pathways, the integration of their signaling into coherent cellular behavior is a complex process, requiring mathematical treatment (Poon and Ferrell, 2007). In general, ERKs regulate anabolic processes such as cell growth, survival and differentiation while p38 MAPK and JNKs modulate genes in response to stress such as oxidative stress. The functions of activated p38 MAPK, ERKs and JNK pathways are well characterized in myogenesis (Frost et al., 2006; Li and Johnson, 2006; Lluis et al., 2006; Strle et al., 2006; Yang et al., 2006; Perdiguero et al., 2007).

p38 MAPK is activated via phosphorylation by the sequential cascades of MAPKKK (TAK1, ASK1, DLK and MEKK4) and MAPKK (MKK3 and MKK6). In mammals, four isoforms of p38 have been identified: p38 α , β , γ and δ . Among these, p38 α and β are involved in muscle differentiation. The requirement of

27

p38 α and β in myogenesis was initially supported by the finding that the treatment of C2C12 cells with SB203580, the specific inhibitor of both p38α and β, impairs the fusion of myoblasts and decreases muscle specific gene expression during differentiation (Jones et al., 2005). More convincingly, the myoblasts isolated from p38 α knock-out mice have a phenotype of impaired fusion and differentiation compared to wild-type myoblasts and the crosssectional fiber area of muscle of these mice is smaller than those of heterozygous p38 α knock-out mice (Perdiguero et al., 2007). The molecular mechanisms underpinning p38 α and β function during myogenesis have been recently further elucidated. Activated p38 α and β directly phosphorylate myocyte enhancer factor (MEF) family members such as MEF2A and MEF2C during myogenesis thereby increasing the transcription of MEF-dependent muscle specific genes (Zetser et al., 1999; Wu et al., 2000). MEFs are co-factors for the MyoD family of bHLH genes hence the induction of MyoD-dependent transcription by p38 might be mediated through MEF (Wu et al., 2000).

The redox sensitivity of the p38 pathway has been widely described in various cell types. Briefly, the phosphorylation or the activity of p38 is increased in response to oxidative stress in mouse NIH 3T3 cells (Guyton et al., 1996), rat arterial smooth muscle cells (Ogura and Kitamura, 1998), H9c2 rat cardiac myoblasts (Aikawa et al., 1997; Zu et al., 1997), rat vascular smooth muscle cells (Ushio-Fukai et al., 1998) and rat cardiomyocytes (Clerk et al., 1998).

In the ERK pathway, Ras activates the serine/threonine kinase Raf by recruiting Raf to the membrane in response to extracellular signals transduced

via receptor tyrosine kinases, G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) or integrins. The activated Raf phoshorylates and activates MEK. ERKs are activated by MEK and downstream targets of ERKs are, in turn, further regulated. The major functions of ERKs include regulation of cell cycle (Blalock et al., 1999; Malumbres et al., 2000; Chang et al., 2001), cell transformation (Davies et al., 2002; Fransen et al., 2004; Wan et al., 2004), apoptosis (Ley et al., 2003; Luciano et al., 2003; Harada et al., 2004) and response to oxidative stress (Buder-Hoffmann et al., 2001; Kim et al., 2001; Xiao et al., 2002). Two isoforms of ERKs, ERK1 (p44 MAPK) and ERK2 (p42 MAPK) exist in mammals. ERK1 and ERK2 are ubiquitously expressed and distinctive role for the two isoforms are not clearly understood. The function of the two isoforms might be different considering that ERK1 knock-out mice are viable and fertile while ERK2 knockouts are embryonic lethal (Pages et al., 1999). In addition, ERK1 can be compensated by ERK2 (Pages et al., 1999), but ERK1 is unable to restore the function of ERK2. Interestingly, ERKs have dual functions, positive as well as the negative regulation of muscle differentiation depending on the extracellular signaling. MM14 mouse myoblasts treated with bFGF which stimulates proliferation and represses differentiation of myoblast results in activation of ERKs and inhibition of differentiation (Campbell et al., 1995). This effect may be mediated in part through cell cycle regulators interacting with myogenic pathways (Skapek et al., 1995). ERKs activated by cyclic mechanical stress decrease myogenic differentiation of adult bovine satellite cells (Kook et al., 2008). ERK2 has a positive effect on muscle differentiation supported by the finding that the

down-regulation of ERK2 using siRNA decreases terminal differentiation while siRNA of ERK1 has no significant effect on muscle differentiation (Li and Johnson, 2006).

Redox regulation of the ERK pathway is supported by studies using various cells. Oxidative stress caused by lactosylceramide stimulates the cell proliferation of smooth muscle cells via the activation of ERK1 (Bhunia et al., 1997). Apoptosis of cardiac myocytes and HeLa cells is attenuated by the activation of ERKs in response to H₂O₂, (Aikawa et al., 1997; Wang et al., 1998). Further work is still needed to understand precisely how the ERK pathway is redox-regulated in response to physiological oxidative stress *in vivo*, since most previous studies have focused on artificial *in vitro* conditions in which the oxidative stress is likely well above physiological levels.

The JNK pathway is one sub-group of MAPK cascades that is activated in response to cytokines and extracellular stress (Kyriakis and Avruch, 2001; Huwiler et al., 2004; Roux and Blenis, 2004). JNK is phosphorylated and activated by MKK4/7, MAPKK isoforms which are activated by MAPKKK in response to various stimuli. A major downstream target of the JNK pathway is AP-1 (activator protein-1) transcription factor, which is activated, in part, by the phosphorylation of c-Jun and other molecules (Angel et al., 1988). JNK pathway signaling is involved in multiple cellular functions including apoptosis, cell survival, oncogenic transformation, metabolism and aging. The activation of the JNK regulation in a short burst or more sustained manner depending on the stimuli, cell and

tissue type (Ventura et al., 2006). The inhibition of muscle differentiation caused by TNF- α , which decreases the transcription of IGF-1, is also mediated through the activation of JNK in C2C12 cells (Frost et al., 2003b; Strle et al., 2006) and TNF- α is a mediator of clinical muscle wasting. Inflammatory stimuli such as LPS (lipopolysaccharide, a bacterial product that causes toxicity in septic patients), which contributes to blood pressure instability with infection or injury, stimulates nitric oxide synthase-2 or IL-6 (interleukin-6) through JNK pathway in C2C12 cells (Frost et al., 2003a; Frost et al., 2004).

The redox regulation of the JNK pathway is supported by many studies. The phosphorylation and activity of JNKs increases in response to ROS (Guyton et al., 1996; Zhang et al., 1998). AP-1 and c-Jun, the downstream targets of JNK signaling, are also regulated by oxidative stress. Increased or decreased DNA binding of AP-1 occurs in response to redox change in various cells (Shono et al., 1996; Li et al., 1998; Mietus-Snyder et al., 1998). In addition, mRNA of c-Jun is increased due to oxidative stress through the JNK pathway in human fibroblasts (Collart et al., 1995), rat vascular smooth muscle (Rao et al., 1993; Zhang et al., 1998), and in human ML-2 leukemic cells and HeLa cells (Devary et al., 1991; Collart et al., 1995).

NF-ĸB

NF-κB (Nuclear factor-κB) is a family of dimeric transcription factors composed of p50/p105, p52/p100, c-Rel, Rel A and Rel B subunits. All of these

31



share similarities in the Rel homology domain (RHD) of 300 amino acids at Nterminus. RHD includes sequences required for DNA binding, dimerization, nuclear localization and inhibitor factor binding. The NF- κ B family is classified into two sub-families; the NF-κB (p105 and p100) and the Rel proteins (c-Rel, RelA and RelB). The NF-kB family is produced as precursor proteins (p105 and p100) and cleaved into mature, DNA-binding forms, p50 and p52 respectively, while the Rel proteins are not cleaved. All NF-kB and Rel proteins can form homo-dimers or hetero-dimers that have the ability to bind to specific DNA sequences, the κB sites. The affinity of every dimer is variable depending on the combination of subunits and each κB site. Inactive NF-κB is normally associated with $I-\kappa B$ in the cytosol, which contains multiple ANK domains for binding to the RHD of NF-kB. In response to extracellular stimuli, I-kB is phosphorylated by I-kB kinase (IKK) and this causes the proteolysis of IKK, the release and activation of NF- κ B. Consequently, the activated NF- κ B with post-translational modifications enters the nucleus and activates the downstream DNA target genes in association with other transcription coactivators such as CBP/p300 and HATs. The functions of NF- κ B are myriad and it is one of the most studied molecules in biology and medicine. NF-kB is implicated in cancer development, immune responses, aging and muscular dystrophy (Perkins, 2003; Cai et al., 2004; Li et al., 2004; Salminen; 2008).

The role of NF-κB in muscle differentiation is still not clear. In C2C12 cells, insulin promotes adult myogenesis through activation of NF-κB, and the differentiation-impaired phenotype of Ras transfected C2C12 cells is restored in

response to insulin through the Akt/S6K/p38 MAPK pathway (Conejo et al., 2001; Conejo et al., 2002). These data suggest that activation of NF-kB promotes muscle differentiation. However, NF- κ B expression decreases in C2C12 cells in response to differentiation medium and subsequently, results in the downregulation and decreased DNA binding of AP-1 and Sp-1, which is reversed by the treatment of cells with cholera toxin and okadaic acid, inhibitors of muscle differentiation (Lehtinen et al., 1996). In addition, NF-κB inhibits muscle differentiation through silencing the myofibrillar gene by YingYang1 (YY1) (Wang et al., 2005). Moreover, myogenesis and cross sectional area of muscle fibers are increased in myoblasts from p65 knock-out mice (Bakkar et al., 2008). These data are hard to interpret, but a possible explanation might in the multiple targets of NF-kB which can be variably activated depending on a variety of circumstances, interconnecting with many other signaling pathways. Thus interpretation of the role of NF- κ B in muscle differentiation will require careful analysis of activation of diverse downstream genes in response to distinct and well-controlled stimuli.

NF-κB is a classical example of a redox-sensitive factor. Redox regulation of NF-κB is mediated through the post-translational modification of NF-κB and IκB in response to various stimuli. IKK phosphorylates IκB at serine residues, which results in the release of NF-κB and activated NF-κB translocates into nucleus. Oxidative stressors such as H_2O_2 induce and prolong the activity of IKK, thereby increasing the phosphorylation of IκB with consequent activation of NFκB (Jaspers et al., 2001; Kamata et al., 2002). This activation is attenuated by NAC or PDTC (pyrrolidene-dithiocarbamate) anti-oxidant chemicals (Kaltschmidt et al., 1997; Kretz-Remy et al., 1998; Rahman et al., 2003).

HIF-1

HIF-1 (hypoxia-inducible factor-1) is a transcription factor responsible for the induction of genes in response to low oxygen tension (hypoxia), and is considered the master regulator of physiologic responses to oxygen levels. The concentration of oxygen in the atmosphere is 21%, while the oxygen at tissue in vivo averages about 2-3 % depending on the proximity to blood vessels and tissue types. HIF-1 is composed of two subunits; a hypoxia-inducible subunit, HIF-1 α and a constitutively expressed subunit, HIF-1 β also called aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator (ARNT). Two isoforms of HIF-1 α are also identified, HIF-2a and HIF-3a. HIF-2a and HIF-3a heterodimerize with HIF-1 β similarly to HIF-1 α and the function and expression of them generally overlap with HIF-1 α . In normoxic oxygen conditions, HIF-1 α is rapidly degraded by ubiquitin-mediated proteolysis though the transcription and synthesis of HIF-1 α is not affected by the oxygen concentration, thus HIF-1 α abundance is controlled by the degradation process. Hydroxylation of two proline residues and acetylation of a lysine residue are critical for the interaction with the von Hippel-Lindau (pVHL) ubiquitin E3 ligase complex (Srinivas et al., 1999; Masson et al., 2001). During hypoxia, HIF-1 α becomes stabilized (not degraded), enters the nucleus, dimerizes with HIF-1 β and activates the downstream target DNAs that contain hypoxia response elements (HRE) in association with transcriptional coactivator,

CBP/p300. HIF-1 α , through this transcriptional regulation, regulates a wide range of physiologic responses to oxygen insufficiency including erythropoiesis, angiogenesis, and upregulation of glycolysis. Under pathologic conditions in the hypoxic core of tumors, HIF-1 α upregulation induces vasculogenesis which enhance tumor progression.

Diverse roles of HIF-1 α in muscle differentiation have also been studied. HIF-1 α is ubiquitously expressed in skeletal muscle tissue under normoxic and hypoxic conditions, as in all other tissues (Stroka et al., 2001). Hypoxia inhibits muscle differentiation in C2C12 cells through accelerated degradation of MyoD. Since MyoD feeds forward on other myogenic regulators, hypoxia results in a block in the normal accumulation of myogenic markers and prevents cell cycle withdrawal (Di Carlo et al., 2004). When rabbit primary myoblasts are exposed to 3% oxygen, HIF-1a is exclusively localized in nuclei rather than being degraded by ubiquitin-mediated proteolysis (Kubis et al., 2005). The activated HIF-1 α in myoblasts due to 3% oxygen decreases the binding with Hsp90 (Kubis et al., 2005). These data indicate that the mechanism of activation of HIF-1 α in muscle differentiation possibly depends on the affinity with Hsp90 which masks nuclear localization signal (NLS), in addition to control of HIF-1 α by ubiquitin-proteasome degradation. However, HIF-1 α is also regulated by the cell cycle, and is not detected in normoxic proliferating C2C12 cells and increases its expression during differentiation (Ono et al., 2006). More significantly, the knock-down of HIF-1 α using siRNA inhibits C2C12 myoblast differentiation and HIF-1 α expression increases in regenerating muscle *in vivo* (Ono et al., 2006). Taken

together, HIF-1 α is one of the transcriptional factors crucial for the muscle differentiation.

HIF-1 α is regulated by ROS as well as by oxygen tension. Treatment of cells with H₂O₂ or an oxidative stress-inducing chemical results in the stabilization of HIF-1 α and the activation of the downstream target genes of HIF-1 α regardless of oxygen concentration (Chandel et al., 2000; Duyndam et al., 2001; Mansfield et al., 2005). The knock-down of SOD2 also activates HIF-1 α through the increase of superoxide production in MCF10A cells (Kaewpila et al., 2008). Furthermore, cells treated with anti-oxidants such as N-acetyl cysteine (NAC), glutathione, vitamins E and C significantly decrease the accumulation of HIF-1 α and attenuate its activation in response to ROS (Shatrov et al., 2003; Rodriguez et al., 2005; Griguer et al., 2006).



The crosstalk between redox-regulated signaling pathways

Redox-regulation of signaling pathways is complex and involves diverse changes of gene expression and post-translational modifications, as well as changes in subcellular localization of proteins. The effect of redox-regulation on signaling pathways is not uniform and depends on cell types and stimuli. Recent studies suggest that redox-regulated signaling pathways discussed above have considerable interconnection and crosstalk. For example, phosphatase such as protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A) and MAPK phosphatases (MKPs) mediates crosstalk between MAPK pathways (Liu and Hofmann, 2004; Wu and Bennett, 2005). In addition, NF-kB is regulated by Akt and p38 signaling in muscle differentiation (Conejo et al., 2002). Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), one of the downstream targets of HIF-1 α is regulated by peroxysome proliferators activated receptor-y coactivator-1 α (PGC-1 α) in a HIF-1 α independent manner (Arany et al., 2008). These interactions are certainly a small minority of all the relevant interactions. For a more complete understanding of the significance of these interactions, systems biology approaches are being increasingly applied for elucidating the crosstalk between signaling pathways (Bharucha et al., 2008; Dittrich et al., 2008; Varjosalo et al., 2008).

The regulation of mitochondria in muscle differentiation

Mitochondria are important sites for production of free radicals as byproducts. In mammals, mitochondria encode 37 genes: 13 for proteins (polypeptides), 22 for transfer RNA (tRNA) and one each for the small and large

38

subunits of ribosomal RNA (rRNA). Mitochondria have their own DNAs, and can replicate independent of genomic DNA and cell cycle. However, many studies points to regulation of mitochondrial biogenesis by signaling from the nucleus (Puigserver et al., 1998; Wu et al., 1999; Lehman et al., 2000).

The mechanism of mitochondrial biogenesis is complex, including the coordinated expression of multiple nuclear-encoded genes. Several transcription factors are identified to have a crucial role in coordinating the expression of genes for mitochondrial biogenesis. Nuclear respiratory factor-1 (NRF-1) and NRF-2 regulate many genes involved in oxidative phosphorylation (Patti et al., 2003). Peroxysome proliferator activated receptors (PPARs) regulate genes involved in fatty acid oxidation (Gulick et al., 1994; Leone et al., 1999). Most studies about mitochondrial biogenesis emphasize PGC-1 α as a master regulator of mitochondrial biogenesis (Puigserver et al., 1998; Wu et al., 1999; Lehman et al., 2000). PGC-1 α induces expression of NRFs and NRFs in turn promote up-regulation of other mitochondrial transcription factors as well as many genes required for mitochondrial respiration (Wu et al., 1999).

Mitochondrial biogenesis is one of the important regulatory events in muscle differentiation. Stem cells are relatively deficient in mitochondria relative to differentiated muscle, so differentiation involves a relative increase of mitochondrial biogenesis over parenchymal cell expansion. Therefore, increased mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) transcription and biogenesis are important parts of differentiation (Moyes et al., 1997; St John et al., 2005). Proliferating myoblasts have a lower mRNA level of PGC-1α, NRFs, citrate synthase and mitochondrial transcription factor A (mtTFA) than differentiated myotubes *in vitro* (Duguez et al., 2002; Kraft et al., 2006). In addition, myogenin, one of the MRFs, is a specific transcriptional target regulated by mitochondrial activity during muscle differentiation (Rochard et al., 2000).

Mitochondrial biogenesis is also regulated by redox status in cells, and *vice versa*. Diverse diseases are caused by the excessive ROS produced in mitochondria and mitochondrial biogenesis is also regulated by ROS. PGC-1 α is required to induce anti-oxidant enzymes such as Gpx1 and SOD2 and excessive oxidative damage in neurons is a feature of the pathology seen in PGC-1 α knock-out mice (St-Pierre et al., 2006). The overexpression of PGC-1 α promotes recovery after oxidant injury by increasing mitochondrial biogenesis and function (Rasbach and Schnellmann, 2007a). In addition, up-regulation of PGC-1 α after oxidant injury is mediated by the activation of the p38 signaling pathway, also known to be redox-sensitive (Rasbach and Schnellmann, 2007b). These results indicate that bi-directional signaling exists between mitochondrial biogenesis and ROS and further studies are required to elucidate this mechanism.

Oxidative stress in muscle during aging

Loss of skeletal muscle mass, known as sarcopenia, is a progressive process leading to decreased strength associated with aging. In fact, the most conserved phenotype of aging across species is loss of or slowed motility. Muscle atrophy is the unintentional loss of muscle mass that results from many catabolic conditions (e.g. diabetes, cancer, sepsis, and aging). One of the major factors contributing to muscle atrophy is oxidative stress. Skeletal muscle is exposed to higher oxidative stress than other tissue due to contractile activity of muscle and high levels of oxygen consumption. Aging and disuse-induced muscle atrophy are both accompanied by an increase in oxidative stress (Kondo et al., 1993; Lawler et al., 2003; Fulle et al., 2004). The increase in oxidative stress is most likely due to two factors: (1) altered electron transfer through the respiratory chain and (2) insufficient anti-oxidant defense mechanisms. Nonetheless, quantifying the loss of anti-oxidant defense mechanism with aging has not been straightforward. Many studies examining individual antioxidant pathways with aging show no dramatic changes in levels or activity of specific antioxidants (Pansarasa et al., 1999; Kim et al., 2003b). However, aging is systemically associated with worse pathology or survival upon insult with oxidants. The ultimate molecular mechanism underlying muscle atrophy involves an increase in protein degradation resulting in an imbalance between protein synthesis and degradation.

Protein degradation in muscle atrophy; Ubiquitin ligases

The ubiquitin-proteasome system is activated with muscle atrophy and responsible for degrading muscle proteins. The ubiquitin-proteasome system is composed of three major enzymes: E1 ubiquitin-activating enzyme, E2 ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme and E3 ubiquitin-ligase. Ubiquitin conjugation occurs in serial reactions including these three major enzymes. Briefly, ubiquitin is activated by an E1 ubiquitin-activating enzyme using ATP as an energy source.

Ubiguitin is transferred from E1 to the active site cysteine of an ubiguitinconjugating enzyme E2 via a trans(thio) esterification reaction. Finally, one of the hundreds of E3 ubiquitin-protein ligases, E3 enzymes function as the substrate recognition modules of the system, mediate the interaction with both E2 and substrate and prevent target proteins from being modified by nonspecific modification. Poly-ubiquitinated target protein is recognized by the 26S proteasome, unfolded, and degraded into the 20S proteolytic chamber using ATP. A single E1 is responsible for the activation of ubiquitin while 20-30 genes encode E2 in mammals. E3 ligases are more diverse and composed of three different families: N-end rule family, homologous to E6-AP carboxy terminus (HECT) domain family and ring finger family. In addition, E3 ligases usually form complexes composed of several subunits. Recently, the proteasome is understood to also provide diversity and specificity to protein targets for degradation by altering proteasome composition under certain conditions (Ferrington et al., 2001; Glickman and Raveh, 2005; Lecker et al., 2006; Hanna et al., 2007). Specificity and complexity of the ubiquitin-proteasome system are regulated depending on the combination of these diverse ubiquitins, three major enzymes and proteasome. During muscle atrophy, increased mRNAs of ubiquitin-proteasome system and ubiquitin conjugation have been reported using in vitro and in vivo models (Lecker et al., 1999; Jagoe et al., 2002; Stevenson et al., 2003; Lecker et al., 2004). In muscle, three E3 ligases are identified to be expressed: atrogin-1 (also known as MAFbx), MuRF1 and E3 α -II (Bodine et al., 2001a; Gomes et al., 2001; Kwak et al., 2004). Atrogin-1 is one of the SCF

ubiquitin-ligases complexes and strongly induced in muscle in response to many catabolic states such as fasting, diabetes, tumor burden and renal failure (Gomes et al., 2001). MuRF1 is a ring finger family E3 ligases and up-regulated during muscle atrophy (Bodine et al., 2001a). More significantly, atrogin-1 knock-out mice and MuRF-1 knock-out mice have attenuated muscle loss, about 56% and 36% less than wild-type after denervation injury (Bodine et al., 2001a). In addition, the decrease of cross sectional area of muscle fibers after denervation is blocked in both atrogin-1 knock-out mice and MuRF-1 knock-out mice and MuRF-1 knock-out mice and MuRF-1 knock-out mice and MuRF-1 knock-out mice (Bodine et al., 2001a). E3 α -II is one part of the ubiquitin-proteasome system, which is known to selectively degrade proteins with basic or large hydrophobic NH₂-terminal residues (Kwon et al., 1998). E3 α -II is muscle-specific and up-regulated during cancer cachexia (Kwak et al., 2004). In addition, the overexpression of E3 α -II in C2C12 cells increases ubiquitination of whole proteins *in vitro* (Kwak et al., 2004).

Oxidative stress also contributes to muscle atrophy. Increased production of ROS (Fagan et al., 1996; Barreiro et al., 2005; Muller et al., 2007) and decreased antioxidant gene expression (Muller et al., 2007) are tightly associated with muscle wasting. Treatment of C2C12 cells with H₂O₂ stimulates ubiquitinproteasome system via up-regulation of E2 and E3 ubiquitin enzymes (Gomes-Marcondes and Tisdale, 2002; Li et al., 2003a). Lastly, anti-oxidant treatment of cells attenuates muscle wasting (Buck and Chojkier, 1996; Appell et al., 1997; Bianca et al., 2002). However, it is controversial whether muscle atrophy due to aging mostly depends on the activation of muscle specific E3 ligases (Clavel et al., 2006; Edström et al., 2006; Raue et al., 2007). The number of studies about muscle atrophy due to aging is limited and more research is required considering aging is highly complex and includes diverse change of signaling pathways.

Signaling pathway for protein degradation

The activation of muscle-specific E3 ligases depends on several signaling pathways. The IGF-1/PI3K/Akt pathway regulates protein degradation as well as protein synthesis. The PI3K/Akt pathway increases protein synthesis via activation of mTOR, S6K, GSK3 and 4EBP-1 (Cross et al., 1995; Scott and Lawrence, 1998; Nave et al., 1999). Activation of PI3K/Akt also phosphorylates FOXO transcription factors and sequesters them outside the nucleus, thereby suppressing activity of FOXO transcription factors. Decrease of phosphorylation of Akt also increases the amount of FOXOs in the nucleus by decreasing the phosphorylation of FOXOs (Stitt et al., 2004). During muscle atrophy, FOXOs induce atrogin-1 and MuRF1 (Stitt et al., 2004). More significantly, FOXO3 binds directly to the 5' end of the atrogin-1 promoter region and induces transcription of atrogin-1 in response to catabolic conditions (Sandri et al., 2004). The induced atrogin-1 and MuRF1 function as E3 ligases and increase the ubiguitination of target proteins (Kwak et al., 2004). Recently, atrogin-1 was found to ubquitinate FOXO1 and FOXO3a and coactivate their transcriptional activity thereby inhibiting Akt-dependent cardiac hypertrophy (Li et al., 2007). This result suggests that there might be more unknown post-translational modifications of FOXOs and coactivation of FOXOs by atrogin-1. As atrogin-1 segregates Aktdependent cardiac hypertrophy, unknown interactions between downstream targets of PI3K/Akt might exist.

During aging, sarcopenia is a multifactor disorder and recent studies suggest aged muscle decreases the response of muscle protein synthesis to anabolic stimuli (Cuthbertson et al., 2005; Rasmussen et al., 2006; Drummond et al., 2008). The IGF-1/PI3K/Akt pathway is one of the most important pathways that function abnormally in muscle atrophy. Muscle protein synthesis in response to a mixture of amino acid and glucose is blunted significantly in healthy elderly humans (Volpi et al., 2000). The downstream targets of Akt such as mTOR, S6K and 4EBP-1 show decreased phosphorylation in response to essential amino acids in healthy elderly humans compared to younger subjects (Guillet et al., 2004; Cuthbertson et al., 2005). In addition, muscle of healthy elderly humans does not respond to insulin, and lower protein synthesis is observed in response to insulin compared to younger subjects (Rasmussen et al., 2006). These results suggest that the balance of protein synthesis and degradation in aged muscle favors degradation more than in young muscle.

Another signaling pathway involved in protein proteolysis in muscle is the NF-κB dependent pathway. NF-κB is up-regulated in muscle during exercise, immobilization and cytokines. NF-κB is activated in exercised muscle compared to sedentary rats and this exercise-induced NF-κB activation is blocked as much as 76% by inhibitors of p38 MAPK and ERK (Ji et al., 2004; Ho et al., 2005). Possible mechanisms involving ROS for the activation of NF-κB during intense acute exercise include increased glutathione oxidation, which results in the

45

increase of ROS which then mediates NF- κ B activation (Sen, 1999). But at the opposite end of muscle activity, immobilization of muscle also activates NF-KB pathway (Hunter et al., 2002; Bar-Shai et al., 2005). Further, there is a difference in the pattern of NF-kB activation between young and aged muscle. In both young and aged rats, NF-kB is activated via an alternative pathway, which does not involve the activation of the ubiquitin-proteasome system (Bar-Shai et al., 2005). After more prolonged immobilization, the activation of NF- κ B, in concert with the ubiquitin-proteasome system, is more predominant in aged muscle compared to the young (Bar-Shai et al., 2005). Anti-inflammatory stimuli such as glucocorticoids and pro-inflammatory TNF- α also activate the NF- κ B pathway and increase protein degradation in muscle (Du et al., 2000; Li et al., 2003b). Dexamethasone, a glucocorticoid, induces muscle proteolysis in vivo (Chrysis and Underwood, 1999) and in vitro (Thompson et al., 1999), which suggests that increased levels of endogenous glucocorticoid may be involved in both disuse atrophy and cachexia, leading to protein degradation. Administration of TNF- α can cause cachexia (Fong et al., 1989), and the inhibition of TNF- α by torbafylline also prevents progression of muscle wasting (Combaret et al., 2002). The activation of NF- κ B was more definitively shown to be required to mediate protein degradation in muscle using transgenic mice (Cai et al., 2004; Hunter and Kandarian, 2004). Briefly, transgenic mice with the activated IkB kinase β induce more MuRF-1 and accelerate the breakdown of protein in muscle (Cai et al., 2004). In addition, both of Nfkb1 and Bcl3 knockout mice demonstrate decreased skeletal muscle atrophy (Hunter and Kandarian, 2004). Nfkb1 encodes the p65

subunit of NF-κB and Bcl3 increases the NF-κB dependent transcription, demonstrating that disruption of NF-κB signaling can counteract muscle atrophy.

Autophagy of muscle during aging

Post-mitotic cells are unable to maintain their normal structure over long periods, and undergo age-dependent degeneration. After terminal differentiation accompanied by cell cycle withdrawal, post-mitotic cells including neurons and skeletal muscle undergo degeneration, leading to progressive organ dysfunction. Accumulation of post-mitotic cells, which function abnormally, is a hallmark of degenerative diseases, and degenerative diseases increase in frequency of aging. Autophagy is the process by which damaged organelles and aberrant cellular components, are delivered to lysosomes for degradation. Autophagy is activated in starvation or stress conditions, and serves a normal homeostatic function. Protein degradation of muscle during aging also depends in part on autophagy. The accumulation of autophagosomes in lysosomal protein deficiency and by the inhibition of lysosome function supports a model in which autophagy is constitutively active in muscle (Shintani and Klionsky, 2004). The autophagy of muscle is mainly regulated by FOXO3 (Mammucari et al., 2007; Zhao et al., 2007). Transfection of constitutively active FOXO3 increases protein proteolysis that is dependent more on lysosomal degradation than on proteasomal degradation, and up-regulates autophagy related genes (Mammucari et al., 2007; Zhao et al., 2007). FOXO3 controls the transcription of autophagy related genes such as Bnip3, Bnip3L, LC3b, Gabarapl1 and Atg12

via binding to promoter regions (Mammucari et al., 2007; Zhao et al., 2007). Autophagy is independent of muscle-specific ubiquitin ligases and proteasome dependent proteolysis (Mammucari et al., 2007). In addition to the normal constitutive homeostatic function of autophagy, its activation is implicated in diverse pathological processes. A better understanding of FOXO3 and autophagy related genes during aging will be important to elucidate the mechanisms of age-related sarcopenia.

Apoptosis of muscle during aging

Apoptosis, also known as programmed cell death, is an important process by which the body eliminates unnecessary or damaged cells during development, and apoptosis is critical to maintain homeostasis in adults. Apoptosis is classified into extrinsic and intrinsic pathways, depending on the signaling mechanism that initiates the response. The extrinsic pathway of apoptosis is induced by deathinducing signals such as ROS and ligands for the death receptors. Activated death receptors, such as TNF-receptor (TNFR) superfamily, induce the activation of caspase-8, an initiator caspase and subsequently, result in the cascade of activation including caspase-3, -6 and -7, which are "executor" caspases. Caspase-3 is cleaved in response to pro-apoptotic signaling and leads to DNA fragmentation and death of mononucleated cells via the activation of caspaseactivated DNase (Baker and Reddy, 1998).

The intrinsic pathway features mitochondria as central mediators of apoptosis. This pathway is usually initiated by internal cell stimuli including ROS

(Polack and Leeuwenburgh, 2001; Mayer and Oberbauer, 2003). In response to pro-apoptotic signaling, mitochondria release cytochrome-c into the cytosol where it forms part of the apoptosome in association with Apaf-1, caspase-9 and dATP. Subsequently, the apoptosome activates caspase-3. Another form of an intrinsic pathway involves the cascade of caspase activation such as caspase-12, -9 and -3 independent of mitochondrial release of cytochrome c. For example, the disruption of intracellular calcium homeostasis activates this pathway.

Muscle is composed of multinucleated myofibers and the myonuclear domain is the amount of cytoplasm supported by a single muscle fiber nucleus. Myonuclear domain, as far as it can be measured, is relatively constant, suggesting that at least two factors contribute to regulate myonuclear domain; (1) the incorporation of satellite cells into existing myofibers and (2) the loss of nuclei during muscle atrophy. Apoptosis is one of the mechanisms responsible for the loss of nuclei during muscle atrophy. Previous observations of the loss of nuclei of muscle involve chromatin condensation and DNA fragmentation, which are the characteristics of apoptosis (Allen et al., 1999; Dupont-Versteegden et al., 1999; Borisov and Carlson, 2000). In multinucleated cells, all nuclei are not transcriptionally active and apoptosis of one nucleus can occur within subdomains of cytoplasm without the involvement of other nuclei, suggesting that individual nuclei within muscle have different thresholds of susceptibility to apoptosis and/or local apoptotic signals are not uniformly distributed in cytosol of muscle (Newlands et al., 1998). In animal models of muscle atrophy, both the abundance of activated caspase-3 and caspase-3 enzymatic activity are

49

increased (Libera et al., 1999; Yasuhara et al., 2000; Leeuwenburgh et al., 2005). In addition, caspase-3 is also increased during apoptosis in myotubes *in vitro* (McArdle et al., 1999). However, other studies have not detected any change of caspase-3 using similar muscle atrophy models (Persinger et al., 2003; Tews et al., 2005). A few other caspases such as caspase-7, -8 and -9 have been studied. The amount of caspase-8 increases after muscle unloading or denervation (Alway et al., 2003). And caspase-7 appears to be induced in a fiber type specific manner in response to pro-apoptotic signaling (Tews et al., 2005). During muscle atrophy, Bcl-2, an anti-apoptotic protein, decreased and Bax, a pro-apoptotic protein, increased while there is no significant change of Bcl-xl, another anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family member (Tews et al., 1997; Libera et al., 1999; Jin et al., 2001; Persinger et al., 2003).

The controversy surrounding the precise details of activation of the major apoptotic pathway during muscle atrophy has to do, in part, with the temporal relationship of apoptosis and muscle protein degradation. Apoptosis and protein degradation occur simultaneously and they are closely connected. For example, caspase-3 is an executor enzyme responsible for both breakdown of myofibril protein and apoptosis (Hasselgren and Fisher, 2001; Du et al., 2004). During aging, both the cross sectional area of muscle fibers and the myonuclear domain decrease in skeletal muscle. Accumulating evidence suggests that an agedrelated acceleration of apoptosis might represent one of the major factors to drive age-related muscle atrophy. First, TUNEL-positive nuclei increase in an agedependent manner in muscle (Strasser et al., 2000). Apoptosis is more common

in aged muscle than in young muscle, and this increase of apoptosis is related to the increase in relative abundance of active caspase-3, but not necessarily increased enzyme activity (Dirks and Leeuwenburgh, 2004). This finding raises another reason that it has been difficult to fully characterize apoptosis in muscle using traditional approaches that focus on activated caspase-3. Recent studies suggest that the unactivated form of caspase-3 plays a positive role in muscle differentiation (Moresi et al., 2008). Nonetheless, both of apoptosis-inducing factor (AIF) and caspase-12 increase in aged muscle, implying that the apoptotic pathway independent of mitochondria is involved in increased apoptosis of aged muscle compared to young muscle (Dirks and Leeuwenburgh, 2004; Baker and Hepple, 2006). Pertinent to aging, different muscle fiber types have different susceptibility patterns. The release of endonuclease G (Endo G) out of mitochondria increases in aged soleus muscle (Type I) while no change was detected in interstitial muscle (Type II) between young and aged mice (Dupont-Versteegden et al., 2006). In addition, the balance of pro-apoptotic and antiapoptotic proteins in response to TNF- α also depends on fiber-type (Phillips and Leeuwenburgh, 2005). More research should be done to determine the role of the different apoptotic pathways in muscle during aging and the functional consequences of apoptosis in aged muscle.

Mitochondria of skeletal muscle during aging

Long-lived postmitotic cells such as skeletal muscle alter dramatically during aging because they can not prevent the accumulation of damaged

(unrepaired) subcellular structures and can not generate undamaged replacements. Mitochondria are important sites of ROS production as well as major sites for ATP production, and are significantly affected by aging. ROS are, in part, by-products of mitochondrial respiration. Thus, malfunction of this system is thought to increases ROS generation. Age-dependent dysfunction of mitochondria mostly results from altered function of mitochondrial proteins, accumulation of mutations in mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA), and dysregulation of mitochondrial biogenesis. Electron transfer activity through the electron transport chain decreases during aging. Enzymatic assays using isolated mitochondria from various tissues of rodents showed an age-related selective decrease in the enzymatic activity of complex I and IV while complex II and III are largely unaffected due to aging (Lenaz et al., 1997; Navarro et al., 2002). In human skeletal muscle, the decreased function of complex I, II and IV is due to decreased protein expression of these complexes (Boffoli et al., 1994). In murine skeletal muscle, respiratory control ratios, which are indicative of the coupling between respiration and oxidative phosphorylation, are about 21-40% lower in the aged muscle compared to the young (Chabi et al., 2008). The accumulation of mutated mtDNA increases during aging and the mutated DNA replaces normal DNA locally in atrophic segments of muscle fibers (Cao et al., 2001). The pathologic role of mutated mtDNA is not clear. However, the abundance of mutant mitochondria appears to increase over time since some mutated mtDNA may have a replicative advantage over normal mtDNA. In normal cells, mitochondria that have the damaged mtDNA are subject to degradation through

autophagy. Mitochondria which have mutated mtDNA may escape autophagy by increasing replication, a pattern seen in some tumors with increased mutated mtDNA (Hochhauser, 2000) and in human colonic crypt stem cells (Taylor et al., 2003). More significantly, transgenic mice which express an error-prone version of mtDNA polymerase y accumulate mtDNA point mutations (Trifunovic et al., 2004). These mice exhibit an aged cellular phenotype with the severely impaired function of the respiratory chain (Trifunovic et al., 2005). However, in this study, ROS production is not affected by the increased mutation of mitochondrial DNA (Trifunovic et al., 2005). These data may suggest that the cytotoxic effect of ROS is the starting point for dysfunction of mitochondria during aging, and impaired mitochondria consequently contribute to the senescence of cells. With aging, the biogenesis of mitochondria is also impaired in skeletal muscle. Both PGC-1 α and the primary mtDNA transcription factor, Tfam decrease at the protein expression level in aged murine skeletal muscle compared to the young (Chabi et al., 2008). In addition, mRNA of both PGC-1a and Tfam also decrease in the aged smooth muscle cells (Ungvari et al., 2008). These alterations suggest that both protein and mRNA level of genes involved in mitochondrial biogenesis decrease during aging and eventually contribute to the decreased function of these cells, and their increased susceptibility to stress.

Aging markers in muscle

It is widely accepted that there is no single specific aging marker for all tissues and cell types. In higher organisms, the degree of complexity is more diverse than in lower organisms due to the need to maintain organs (and their interactions) generated during complex development. Furthermore, commonly used development models (yeasts, flies, and worms) and rodent models used to study aging are considerably less genetically diverse than humans. Aging patterns are also significantly affected by environmental factors, which are also more diverse than in model organisms. For this reason, markers of aging in humans will necessarily be multiple, and are incompletely understood.

One major marker of aging is the oxidative modification of DNA. 8hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine (8-OHdG) is formed when DNA is exposed to hydroxyl radicals. The action of ROS to form 8-OHdG occurs in both genomic DNA and mtDNA (Lopez-Torres et al., 2002; Wolf et al., 2002). The increase of 8-OHdG in skeletal muscle during aging is a feature of rodent (Wolf et al., 2005) and human aging (Gianni et al., 2004).

Oxidative stress-induced lipid peroxidation is another aging marker. Increased oxidative stress damages membrane-bound receptors or enzymes by lipid peroxdation. F2-isoprostanes, malondialdehyde (MDA), 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal (HNE) and low-density lipoproteins (LDL) are all affected by lipid peroxidation with aging. MDA and HNE in plasma increase with age in healthy humans starting at age 18 and continue to increase into old age (Gil et al., 2006). Oxidized LDL is implicated in various degenerative diseases such as diabetes mellitus and atherosclerosis (Steinberg et al., 1996). In skeletal muscle, HNE increased during aging accompanied with increased ROS and RNS (Barreiro et al., 2005; Braga et al., 2008). Global protein modification by oxidant reactions is also characteristic of aging. Protein is carbonylated through metal catalyzed oxidative (MCO) reaction and carbonylation occurs on the amino-acid side chain, prolines, arginines, lysines, and threonines. Furthermore, protein glycation occurs by the reaction of carbonyl derivatives on lysine, cysteine, and histidine with reactive carbonyl compounds formed in carbohydrates (glycoxidation products), lipids, and advanced glycation end products (AGEs) (Nyström, 2005). The cross-linking of AGEs with peptides and proteins makes protein resistant to potentially reparative proteases and causes irreversible damage to various tissues (Schleicher et al., 1997; Westwood et al., 1997) including smooth muscle cells (Hattori et al., 2002). We have found that proteins in Gpx1 knock-out myoblasts are globally carbonylated due to the increased oxidative stress (Lee et al., 2005).

Lipofuscin collects in aged worms, crabs, and mammals with aging. Lipofuscin is a heterogeneous mixture of oxidized protein and lipids with lesser amounts of carbohydrates and metals that emit autofluorescence easily detectable using microscopy. Lipofuscin is likely formed by the consequence of unfinished cellular degradation processes, and the complex mixture of lipofuscin components is resistant to protease and lipase digestion. The resistance of lipofuscin to breakdown is due to the stable polymeric structure formed by the crosslinking between peptide amine groups and proteins (Kikugawa et al., 1989). Lipofuscin likely accumulates due to both dysfunction of lysosomes and accumulated ROS damage with aging. The lysosomal-mitochondria axis theory of postmitotic aging and cell death has been proposed based on findings that autophagy is decreased in lipofuscin-contained postmitotic cells (Brunk and Terman, 2002). This theory proposes that futile attempts to degrade lipofuscin promote leakage of lysosomal enzymes outside the lysosome, such that lysosomes no longer contain the machinery to remove damaged mitochondria. Consequently, the increase in defective mitochondria and the surplus of lysosomal enzymes in the cytosol are critical factors accelerating functional cellular senescence. The age-dependent increase of lipofuscin is observed in brain cells, cardiac myotyctes, and skeletal muscle (Nakano and Gotoh, 1992; Jolly et al., 1995; Terman and Brunk, 1998) as well as other organs. Recently, we have found that increased ROS stress associated with Gpx1 deletion in mice results in premature deposition of lipofuscin in skeletal muscle of young Gpx1 knock-out mice (Lee et al., 2006).

In the case of mitotic cells, replicative senescence occurs after limited number of cell divisions. Cellular senescence results in growth arrest in G1 phase of the cell cycle (Pignolo et al., 1998). The shortening of telomeres is one of the factors that may contribute to the cellular senescence. Telomeres are specialized chromatin structure composed of TTAGGG repeats at the end of chromosome, generated by a reverse transcriptase, telomerase (Tert) at every cell division. In eukaryotes, telomere shortening occurs during aging due to the inability of DNA polymerase to copy the ends of chromosomes with fidelity (Bodnar et al., 1998). The dysfunction of telomeres results in a DNA damage response characterized by the formation of double strand DNA breaks containing the phosphorylated histone H2AX (Celeste et al., 2002; Herbig and Meier et al., 2007). Recently, the decreased regenerative potential of stem cells (as well as better studied differentiated tissues) during aging has also been attributed to the shortening of telomeres. The specificity of telomere maintenance for ongoing proliferative potential was demonstrated in muscle satellite cells in which senescence was accompanied by telomere shortening, and could be rescued by overexpression of telomerase (Cudre-Mauroux et al., 2003; Zhu et al., 2007). However, the telomere length of skeletal muscle as a whole may not change as much during aging (Ponsot et al., 2008). These findings suggest that telomere shortening is not affected in postmitotic skeletal muscle with aging specifically because the cells are non-dividing.

Other well-known molecular markers of aging are cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors, the INK4/ARF proteins. The INK4 class of cell cycle inhibitors is composed of p15^{INK4b}, p16^{INK4a}, p18^{INK4c}, and p19^{INKd}. These inhibitors are homologous to cyclin-dependent kinases, CDK4 and CDK6 and binding of INK4 to CDK4 and CDK6 inhibits phosphorylation of retinoblastoma (Rb) family members resulting in growth arrest of cells. The ARF family members, p14^{ARF} and p19^{ARF}, bind to MDM2 protein, and MDM2 inactivates p53, a tumor suppressor. The importance of these proteins was initially identified in various tumors in which the locus of INK4a/ARF/INK4b is deleted or epigenetically modified to decrease their expression (Nairn et al., 1996). This decrease facilitates tumor cell division in an unregulated manner. Recent evidence has suggested that the increased expression of p16^{INK4a} can be used as a biomarker of aging, supported by the increase seen in aged skin (Ressler et al., 2006), cardiomyocytes (Chimenti et al., 2003; Torella et al., 2004) and kidney (Chkhotua et al., 2003). However, p16^{INK4a} as a biomarker of aging in skeletal muscle or myoblasts has not been specifically addressed.

Oxidative stress in muscle progenitor cell function

Skeletal muscle mass is maintained and regenerated to form myofibers through the activation of the satellite cells during the entire life span. Skeletal muscle and muscle precursor cells are exposed to oxidative stress that accompanies contractile activity. During aging, the oxidative stress increases while the regenerative potential and the pool size of muscle precursor cells decrease, but the precise mechanism of the increased oxidative stress affecting adult myogenesis remains unclear. The oxidative stress broadly affects proliferation, apoptosis and differentiation of muscle precursor cells through regulating intracellular signaling pathways as well as by damaging cellular components directly. Finally, the decreased function of muscle precursor cells during aging contributes in part to muscle atrophy.

The research outlined in this dissertation was largely based on the role of anti-oxidant enzymes and ROS in myoblasts during proliferation, differentiation and aging. As outlined in Chapter 1, SOD2 is a mitochondrial enzyme that catalyzes dismutation of superoxide into hydrogen peroxide and O₂ and functions as the first line of defense against ROS produced in mitochondria. SOD2 is essential for the survival of the organism, supported by the lethality of homozygous knockout mice (Li et al., 1995; Huang et al., 2001). Gpx1 is a

cytosolic anti-oxidant enzyme that catalyzes the catabolism of hydrogen peroxide. Gpx1 is not essential for the organism to survive, since other enzymes have the same catalytic function. The central goal of the research outlined in this dissertation was to investigate the mechanisms by which the deficiency or overexpression of specific anti-oxidant enzymes contribute to muscle precursor cells. We formulated specific aims to address this goal in Chapter 3-5.

Gpx1 knock-out (Gpx1^{-/-}) mice are viable, develop normally, and have a similar life span compared to wild-type mice, due to the redundancy of other enzymes. However, they are less tolerant of a variety of oxidant stresses compared to wild-type mice. Gpx1^{-/-} mice have decreased survival after parquet or diguat challenges (Lei, 2002) or systemic infections (Beck et al., 1998), and show increased organ damage after ischemia-reperfusion injuries (De Haan et al., 2003). A deficiency of human Gpx1 activity has been associated with myocardial diseases (Leopold and Loscalzo, 2005). However, Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts have not been studied. Thus, our first aim was to test the hypothesis that the deficiency of Gpx1 in myoblasts affects proliferation, apoptosis and differentiation (Chapter 3). To address this hypothesis, we first isolated and observed the phenotypes of Gpx1^{-/-} versus wild-type myoblasts. We also examined ROS production, cell proliferation, apoptosis and terminal differentiation *in vitro*. Myoblasts from Gpx1^{-/-} mice are defective in many aspects of muscle biology, and show increased intracellular ROS. However, we have not found any significant alteration in intracellular signaling pathways affected by the deficiency of Gpx1 during differentiation.

As a second aim, we have extended our research to the role of SOD2 in myoblasts during aging as described in Chapter 4. Multiple pathological abnormalities are seen in SOD2 knock-out mice including dilated cardiovascular structure (Li et al., 1995; Huang et al., 2001), increased lipid peroxidation (Li et al., 1995), severe anemia and degeneration of neurons (Lebovitz, 1996). However, the role of SOD2 in myoblasts or muscle differentiation has not been studied. Therefore, our second aim was to hypothesis that Sod2 overexpression in myoblasts preserve mitochondrial function and mass thereby, maintain muscle differentiation with aging (Chapter 4). To address this issue, we have studied young (3-4 weeks old) and aged (27-29 months old) myoblasts from Sod2 heterozygote knock-out (Sod2^{+/-}) and SOD2 overexpressing (Sod2Tg) mice. In addition, we tested the hypothesis that the PI3K/Akt pathway is affected by the deficiency or overexpression of SOD2 during differentiation. We were also interested in the effect of SOD2 on mitochondrial integrity because the subcellular localization of SOD2 is restricted to mitochondria. Our results demonstrated that PI3K/Akt pathway is affected by Sod2 deficiency, typically in young myoblasts, and this might be responsible in part for the fusion defect of Sod2^{+/-}myoblasts.

Our final aim was **to hypothesis that Sod1 haplo-deficiency in myoblasts altered oxygen sensing which contributes to defective muscle differentiation** (Chapter 5). Interestingly, Sod1^{-/-} myoblasts cannot survive *in vitro*. However, Sod1^{-/-} mice are viable. The mutation of SOD1 in mice is implicated in ALS (Bowling et al., 1993; Rossen et al., 1993) as described in Chapter 1. SOD1 has a function equivalent to SOD2 except that SOD1 is most abundant in the cytosol. Towards this goal, we have exposed myoblasts cells to various oxygen concentrations. Our results demonstrate that the deficiency of SOD1 impairs muscle differentiation. In addition, HIF-1 α signaling was altered by SOD1 deficiency. Thus, our data indicate that ROS also affect the oxygen sensing of myoblasts.

The research presented in this dissertation characterizes broadly the role of ROS during muscle differentiation. The effect of ROS on myoblasts differs depending on the enzyme deficiency. In addition, the alteration of signaling pathway and direct detrimental effect of ROS affect muscle differentiation.

Our data not only provide broad information about ROS involved in myogenesis but may also suggest an approach for the treatment of muscular diseases during aging.
Chapter 2: Materials and Methods

Animals

All animal studies conformed to National Institutes of Health guidelines and were conducted after approval of the Emory University and South Texas Veterans Health Care Institutional Animal Care and Use Committees. Mice with deletion of Gpx1 were originally generated on the C57BL/6 background (Ho, et al., 1997) and backcrossed for 10 generations onto a C57BL/6J background. Sod2 heterozygote and transgenic mice were generated on the CD1 background (Li, et al., 1995; Chen, et al., 1998) and were backcrossed for 10 generations onto a C57BL/6J background. Sod1 heterozygote knock-out mice were originally generated on the C57BL/6 background (Reaume et al., 1996) and backcrossed for 10 generations onto a C57BL/6J background. Mice between 3-4 weeks of age were used as sources of Gpx1 null myoblasts and Sod1 heterozygote myoblasts, respectively. Mice between 3-4 weeks of age and 27-29 months of age were used as sources of Sod2 heterozygote and transgenic myoblasts.

Isolation and culture of myoblasts

Myoblasts were isolated from age-matched mice at 3-4 weeks or 27-29 months of age using a modification of published protocols (Rando et al., 1994). After euthanasia, hind leg muscles were dissected from the bones and non-muscle tissue removed; muscle was minced, washed, then digested in 0.1% pronase (Calbiochem) for 1 hr at 37°C. The muscle was repeatedly triturated, passed through a 100 µm nylon mesh, and myoblasts were separated on a Percoll (Amersham Biosciences) gradient. The cells were plated onto collagen I (Cohesion Technologies)-coated polystyrene cell culture dishes (Corning Life Sciences) (Yablonka-Reuveni and Nameroff, 1990). During the first several passages of the primary cultures, myoblasts were enriched by pre-plating (Richler and Yaffe, 1970) to remove fibroblast contaminants. To confirm morphologic assessment of myoblast purity, the cultures were stained with anti-desmin (expressed by myoblasts but not fibroblasts) using antibody D3 (Developmental Studies Hybridoma Bank) (Yablonka-Reuveni and Nameroff, 1990).

Myoblast expansion and prevention of differentiation were accomplished by culture in growth medium (GM): 20% fetal bovine serum (HyClone) supplemented with 10 ng/ml fibroblast growth factor-2 (Promega) in Ham's F-10 (Invitrogen) with 200 U/ml penicillin G and 200 g/ml streptomycin (Invitrogen). Differentiation was induced by switching myoblast cultures to ECL-coated dishes and differentiation medium (DM): Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (Invitrogen) with 2% horse serum (HyClone) and penicillin/streptomycin. For the inhibition of the PI3K-Akt pathway, LY294002 (20 µM, Promega) was added to DM when differentiation was initiated and myoblasts were cultured for 5 days without the change of medium.

Terminal Differentiation of skeletal muscle in vitro

Each day after incubation in differentiation medium, cultures were fixed with 1:1 methanol/acetone and immunostained for myosin heavy chain (MHC), a marker of terminal muscle differentiation. Primary MF 20 antibody (Developmental Studies Hybridoma Bank) was used at 1:50 dilution and Alexa Fluor 568 goat anti-mouse secondary (Molecular Probes) at 1:400. At least 1,000 nuclei were counted for each sample from approximately 20 random fields. The fusion index was calculated as follows: [(Number of nuclei in MF 20-stained myotubes with \geq 2 nuclei/ Total number of nuclei) × 100]. The differentiation potential (DP) was calculated as follows: [(Number of nuclei in MF 20-stained cells/Total number of nuclei) × 100].

Proliferation of myoblasts

Bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) incorporation was used to assay proliferation. Myoblasts were plated in GM at a density of 2×10^5 cells/60 mm on 10% gelatin, ECL or collagen-coated dishes. The cells were incubated with 10 µM BrdU for 4 hours (44–48 h after plating), washed, and fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (Mallinckrodt). 1/1000 dilution of rat monoclonal anti-BrdU antibody (Harlan Sera Labs) was used as previously reported (Csete et al, 2001) to label myoblasts that incorporated BrdU during the pulse. Total numbers of labeled and unlabeled cells (>3000 cells counted per condition) were used to construct 2×2 χ 2 comparisons. Data were expressed as mean ± standard deviation from the duplicate experiments.

Apoptosis of myoblasts

Terminal deoxynucleotidyl nick end labeling (TUNEL) was used to compare myoblast apoptotic cell death rate in DM. Cells were seeded at a density of 10⁵ cells/6 cm plate in DM on ECL-coated plates. After 3 and 5 day

incubations, apoptotic cells were counted using DeadEndTM Fluorometric TUNEL system (Promega). Nuclei were stained with DAPI (Vectashield). Data were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation from the duplicate experiments.

Analysis of lipid formation in myoblasts

To evaluate the potential of myoblasts to accumulate lipid, a characteristic of myoblasts isolated from aged animals and cultured satellite cells in high O_2 conditions (Csete et al., 2001), myoblasts were incubated in medium that promotes adipogenesis: DMEM (and 10% fetal bovine serum and penicillin/streptomycin) with 10 g/ml insulin, 1M dexamethasone, and 0.5 mM isomethylbutylxanthine (additives all from Sigma-Aldrich). After 2 or 3 days the cultures were fixed with 10% formalin and stained for triacylglycerides with oil red O as previously reported (Csete et al., 2001).

Real-time quantitative fluorescence PCR for myogenic bHLH gene expression

RNA was isolated using RNeasy kits (Qiagen). cDNA was synthesized using the Superscript III first-strand synthesis system (Invitrogen) with 250 ng RNA input per reaction. Real-time PCR was performed on a LightCycler (Roche Applied Science) using primers specific for MyoD, myf5, mrf4, myogenin and 18S rRNA for internal control (Table 2.1). All cDNA was amplified using master SYBR green I (Roche) by incubation until the block reached 95°C followed immediately by 40 cycles of: ramp to 95°C then annealing temperature for 10 sec, then 72°C for 20 sec. The annealing temperatures of primers were shown in Table 2.1. Analysis of message abundance was based on Roche Applied Science, Technical Note No. LC 13/2001 as follows: Primer efficiency was measured using serial dilutions of cDNA. For quantitation, Crossing point (C₁), defined as the PCR cycle number that crosses an arbitrarily placed signal threshold was calculated. Gene expression was calculated using: $E_T^{CpT(C)-CpT(S)}X E_R^{CpR(C)-CpR(S)}$ [E_T is Efficiency of target gene reaction; E_R is Efficiency of reference gene reaction (here 18S ribosomal RNA)]; CpT(C) is crossing point of target gene reaction with control sample (wild-type proliferating myoblasts), CpT(S) is the crossing point of target gene reaction in the experimental samples; CpR(C) is the crossing point of 18S ribosomal RNA in control myoblasts; CpR(S) is crossing point of 18S ribosomal RNA in the experimental samples. Quantitative PCR results of wild-type proliferating myoblast cDNA at time zero were used for normalization of the other samples (normalized to a value of 1 for each gene).

Differentiation was performed in both 20% and 6% O_2 , since myogenic gene expression is turned on earlier in differentiating satellite cells in lower O_2 conditions (Csete et al., 2001). For each assay two independent time courses were performed in duplicate, and the results were pooled for analysis.

Cross sectional area of muscle fibers in vivo

Female Gpx1^{-/-} and wild-type mice (23 weeks old, n=4 per group), agematched mice wild-type and Sod2Tg mice at 3-4 weeks or 27-29 months of age (n=4 per group) were used to measure cross sectional muscle fiber area in hindlimb muscles. After euthanasia, leg muscles were removed, weighed, fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin (NBF), embedded in paraffin, and sectioned (9-10 mm thick). The sections were stained with Mayer's hematoxylin and counterstained with eosin. Fibers were outlined on these stained sections and the areas of muscle fibers captured and calculated using Image J Software (<u>http://rsb.info.nih.gov</u>). Mean fiber areas were compared between groups using Student's t-test.

In vivo muscle regeneration pilot studies

Female Gpx1^{-/-} mice and their wild-type littermates, 15 weeks of age were used in these studies. Sterile cardiotoxin 2.5M (Calbiochem) in normal saline was injected into the anterior compartment (100 μl) and posterior compartment (200 μl) of the right hind limb. The anterior compartment consists predominantly of the tibialis anterior (TA) muscle while the triceps surae complex (gastrocnemius, soleus and plantaris muscles) resides in the posterior compartment. Equivalent volumes of normal saline were injected into the anterior and posterior compartments of the left hind limb, thus, each animal served as its own control. Mice were euthanized 14 days after cardiotoxin injection (2 mice/group). The skin was removed from the hind limbs, the muscle compartments removed, transected longitudinally, placed in 10% neutral buffered formalin and processed for paraffin embedding. The sections were stained with hematoxylin and eosin, and cross-sectional area of muscle fibers in transverse sections were measured using Image J Software. Regenerated fibers contain a centrally located nucleus, and so are distinct from primary fibers in which nuclei are confined to the periphery of the fiber in cross-section. Cross-sectional fiber sizes of cardiotoxininjected muscle of each genotype were compared to each other as the percentage.

Lipofuscin accumulation in skeletal muscle

Lipofuscin accumulates in all organs with aging, and is considered a hallmark of the aged phenotype in lower organisms as well as vertebrates (Burnk and Terman, 2002). (Unperturbed) hindlimb muscle sections were assayed for lipofuscin accumulation using Sudan Black staining. Sections were deparaffinzed then placed in 70% EtOH/PBS. Saturated Sudan Black solution was prepared by dissolving 0.5 g Sudan Black B (Sigma-Aldrich) in 50 mL of 70% EtOH and filtering two times through Whatman paper. Slides were incubated with Sudan Black solution for 20 hours at room temperature, rinsed once with 70% EtOH and developed in 70% EtOH for 10 minutes, until background was reduced. Slides were then washed in tap water for 10 minutes, dried and mounted in Permount (Fisher Scientific). Photomicrographs of the section were taken using light microscope and SimplePCI image system.

Real-time PCR to determine relative mitochondrial abundance

Mitochondrial abundance was estimated using quantitative PCR to compare the ratio of mitochondrial DNA to genomic DNA (Vaillant and Nagley, 1995). Total DNA was isolated from myoblasts using DNeasy kits (Qiagen). 100

ng of total DNA was used for real-time PCR. Four regions of murine mtDNA were selected for amplification, homologous to human mtDNA regions used in studies to quantitate human mitochondrial abundance (Vaillant and Nagley, 1995; Miller et al., 2003). Four sets of primers were used for the amplification of the specific regions of mtDNAs (Table 2.2). DNA sequences of 18S rRNA were amplified for guantitation of nuclear DNA abundance. Probes for each PCR template were generated using Vector NTI (Invitrogen). The 5' end of the probe was conjugated to 6-carboxyflourescein (FAM) and the 3' end was conjugated to 6carboxytetramethylrhodamine (TAMRA). Real-time PCR was performed on a LightCycler (Roche Applied Science) using primers specific for four different regions of mtDNA and 18S rRNA (Table 2.2). Total DNA extracted from myoblasts was amplified using LightCycler Tagman Master (Roche Applied Science) by pre-incubation at 95° C for 10 min followed immediately by 45 cycles of: denaturing at 95° C for 10 sec, then the specific annealing temperature (Table 2.2) for 40 sec, then 72° C for 1 sec. The efficiency of primer sets and probes was measured using serial dilution of total DNA extracted from wild-type myoblasts. For quantitation, the same calculations of efficiency were used as noted above for quantitation of myogenic bHLH genes. Quantitative PCR results from wild-type proliferating myoblasts (normalized to 1) were used as the control comparison for the other samples. Data were expressed as mean ± standard deviation from the duplicate experiments.

ROS measurements

Relative amounts of intracellular ROS were measured using two methods. Carboxy-dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate (CM-H₂DCFDA, Molecular Probes) fluorescence, where fluorescence is proportional to the amount of oxidative modification of the dye by hydroxyl radical (·OH) and peroxynitrite anion (ONOO⁻). CM-H₂DCFDA fluorescence is probably the most widely used ROS assay. Relative amounts of mitochondrial superoxide production were also measured using MitoSOX (Molecular Probes) which fluoresces after selectively reacting with superoxide in mitochondria.

For intracellular ROS assays, myoblasts were seeded at a density of 10° cells/6 cm plate in GM. After 3 day, cells were washed with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) three times and CM-H₂DCFDA (30 µM) was added for 90 min at 37°C. Cells were washed with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) three times, resuspended in 200 µL of DMEM-F12 medium (without phenol-red and HEPES, Hyclone, Logan, UT) and loaded into black, flat-bottom 96 well plate. Fluorescence was measured (485/530 nm) using a microplate reader (Spectrofluor plus, Tecan, Boston, MA), and the results normalized to cell numbers quantitated by Cyquant assays (Invitrogen). Wild-type (young) cells treated with increasing concentrations of buthionine sulfoxide (which inhibits the rate-limiting glutathione synthesizing enzyme; γ -glutamylcysteine synthetase, Schafer and Buettner, 2001) were used for standard curve generation. Background fluorescence measured in wells without cells was subtrated from raw fluorescence measured for each data point. The measured fluorescence was

normalized to cell numbers and data are expressed as relative fluorescence units (RFU).

Mitochondrial superoxide was measured using the MitoSOX (Molecular Probes) with some the modification of the manufacturer's protocol. Myoblasts were seeded at a density of 10^{6} cells/6 cm plate in GM. After 3 days, cells were washed with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) three times and 10^{5} cells were resuspended in 200 µL of DMEM-F12 medium containing 10% FBS and MitoSOX (5 µM) and loaded onto black, flat-bottom 96 well plates. Wild-type (young) cells treated with various concentrations of rotenone were used for standard curve generation. Fluorescence was measured (535/590 nm) using a microplate reader every 1 min for 30 min and background fluorescence and normalization were handled as citied above for the CM-H₂DCFDA assays. Data were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation from the duplicate experiments. Differences between mean relative fluorescence in each group were compared using Student's t-tests.

Mitochondrial enzyme activity

The mitochondrial fraction was extracted from myoblasts grown to confluency on collagen-coated 150 mm dishes using a commercial mitochondria extraction kit (Imgenex).

SOD2 enzyme activity was assayed using a commercial superoxide dismutase activity kit (Dojindo). Briefly, whole cell lysates were collected using the manufacturer's cell extraction buffer and protein concentration was

72

quantitated using micro-Bradford assays (Bio-Rad). Serial dilutions of lystates were mixed with the commercial master mix including WST-1 reagent, [WST-1 is reduced by oxygen radicals which are produced by the reaction between xanthine oxidase and hypoxanthine to produce a yellow dye, detected by absorbance at 450 nm (Peskin and Winterbourn, 2000)], xanthine oxidase and 2mM sodium cyanide (SOD1 inhibitor). The reaction was initiated by addition of xanthine solution into the wells and absorbance change was recorded at 450 nm every min for 30 min at room temperature. The SOD2 activities were calculated from the inhibition rate of xanthine oxidase reaction and expressed as the percentage. Data were expressed as mean ± standard deviation from the duplicate experiments. Differences between mean relative fluorescence in each group were compared using Student's t-tests.

Succinate dehydrogenase (SDH) activity assays were modified from published protocols (Rosen et al.,1987; Powell and Jackson, 2003). Briefly, cell lysates extracted from mitochondrial fractions were diluted to a concentration of 0.1 µg/ µL in 30 mM Tris-HCI (pH 8.0). 50 µL of the lysate was mixed with 190 µL of 30 mM Tris-HCI (pH 8.0), 5 µL of 1M sodium succinate (pH 7.4), and 4 µL of 4.65 mM 2, 6-dichloroindophenol (DCIP). DCIP reduction was initiated by addition of 6 µL of 6.5 mM phenazidine methosulfate and the decrease in absorbance at 600 nm was measured for 30 min at room temperature. For the calculation of SDH activity, molar extinction coefficient, $\varepsilon = 21,000$ was used and activity was expressed as mmol DCIP reduced min⁻¹ mg protein⁻¹. Data were expressed as mean ± standard deviation from the duplicate experiments. Differences between mean relative fluorescence in each group were compared using Student's t-tests.

Aconitase enzyme activity was measured using commercially available kits (Oxisresearch), modified for a microplate reader. Briefly, 50 µL of cytosolic or mitochondrial cell lysates (1µg/µL) was diluted with 20 µL of Tris-HCl (pH 7.4) buffer, mixed with 60 µL of trisodium citrate (pH 7.4; substrate) and 60 µL of NADP, and then loaded into 96-well plates. The reaction was initiated by the addition of 60 µL of isocitrate dehydrogenase at 37° C for 15 min protected from light. The absorbance change at 340 nm was recorded for 30 min at 37° C. For the calculation of aconitase activity, molar extinction coefficient, ε =6.220 X 10⁻³ mL/nmol was used. Data were expressed as mean ± standard deviation from the duplicate experiments. Differences between mean relative fluorescence in each group were compared using Student's t-tests.

Western blots

Cultured myoblasts were collected in M-PER extraction reagent (Pierce) with protease and phosphatase inhibitors. Micro Bradford reagent (Bio-Rad) was used to determine the protein concentration. Proteins (35 µg/lane) were separated by SDS-PAGE and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes. The membranes were blocked with TBST (Tris-buffered saline-Tween-20; 25 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5, 1mM NaCl and 0.1% Tween-20) containing either 5% milk or 5% BSA (for phospho-antibodies) for 1 hr, then incubated with the primary antibody at 4° C overnight. The following primary antibodies were used for

western blotting: SOD2 (1:2000 dilution, Assay Designs); 1/1000 dilution of antibodies from Cell Signaling: PGC-1 α , β -tubulin, total Akt, phospho-Akt (Ser473), phospho-Akt (Thr308), total S6 kinase, phospho-S6 kinase (Thr389), total mTOR, phospho-mTOR (Ser2448), p44/42, phospho-p44/42, p38, phosphop38 and GAPDH; total FoxO1 (Santa Cruz), phospho-FoxO1 (Invitrogen), HIF-1 α (Sigma-Aldrich) and myogenin (Sigma-Aldrich). After three washes with TBST, blots were incubated with the appropriate secondary antibody conjugated with horseradish peroxidase for 1 hr at room temperature. After three washes with TBST, membranes were developed using the enhanced chemiluminescent method (ECL, Pierce). Band intensity of each protein was analyzed using Image J Software and normalized to the band intensity of β -tubulin (loading control). Data were expressed as mean ± standard deviation from the duplicate experiments.

Data analysis

Results are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (S.D.) throughout. Statistical analyses were performed using Image J Software or Excel (Microsoft Office 2000). Unpaired Student's t-testing was used for continuous data and Chi² testing was used for categorical data, as noted in figure legends. For the correlation statistics, the coefficient of correlation (r) was calculated using Minitab software.

Table 2.1

The sequences of primers for quantitation of myogenic regulatory factors

(MRFs)

				1
Primer		Product	Annealing	
	SEQUENCE (5' to 3')			Efficiency
Name		size (bp)	Tm (°C)	
	CCCCGGCGGCAGAATG	234	65	2.252
MyoD	GCTACG	-		_
INIYOD				
	GGTCTGGGTTCCCTGT			
	TCTGTGT			
	TGCCATCCGCTACATT	353	56	2.184
	GAGAG	000	00	2.104
myf5	0/10/10			
	CCGGGGTAGCAGGCTG			
	TGAGTTG			
	ACCCTTACAGCTACAA	215	50.4	2.043
mrf4			••••	
	AATACTGTCCACGAT			
	CCGTGGGCATGT	198	63	1.982
	AAGGTGTG	130	00	1.302
myogenin				
	TAGGCGCTCAATGTAC			
	TGGATGG			
DNA of	ACAGGTCTGTGATGCC	234	55.2	2.023
2.0.0				
18s RNA	ATCGGTAGTAGCGACG			

Table 2.2

The sequences of primers and probes for quantitation of mitochondrial

DNA abundance

Dual DNA Probe	5' to 3' (5'-FAM & 3'-TAMRA conjugated)
A3 probe	TAGAGAAGGTTATTAGGGTGGCAGAGCC
B1 probe	CCACTTCACTAACAATATTTCCAACCAACA
C3 probe	TATTAATCGCAGCTACAGGAAAATCAGCA
D2 probe	ATATATACACGCAAACGGAGCCTCAATATT
Probe for DNA of 18s RNA	CCCCATGAACGAGGAATTCCCAGTAAGT

Primer	SEQUENCE (5' to 3')	Product	Annealing	Efficiency
Name		size (bp)	Tm (°C)	
A3	GTACGAAAGGACAAGAG	288	54	1.956
	CGTAGTTGTATGTACCC			
B1	CTAACAGGATTCTTACCAAA	250	54	1.881
	CTAGGGGTAGGGTTAT			
C3	TATTCTCCAACAACAACG	238	54	1.836
	CCGAGGCAAAGTATAG			
D2	TTACGGGTGACTAATCC	260	45	2.060
	CTAGGGTTGTTCCAAT			
DNA of	ACAGGTCTGTGATGCC	234	47	2.306
18s RNA	ATCGGTAGTAGCGACG			

Chapter 3: Glutathione-peroxidase-1 null muscle progenitor cells are globally defective

Data presented in this chapter are published as:

Lee et al., 2006. Glutathione-peroxidase-1 null muscle progenitor cells are globally defective. *Free Radical Biol. Med.* 41: 1174-1184

Introduction

Glutathione peroxidase-1 (Gpx1) is a highly conserved selenoprotein antioxidant which reduces hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) and hydroperoxides in cytosol and mitochondria using two molecules of glutathione (GSH). Mice in which Gpx1 is depleted by targeted genetic deletion develop normally (Ho et al., 1997), but are less tolerant of a variety of oxidant stresses compared to wild-type mice. They have decreased survival after paraquat or diquat challenges (Lei, 2002), or after systemic infections (Bech et al., 1998), and increased organ damage after ischemia-reperfusion injuries (De Haan et al., 2003). Recently, human deficiency of Gpx1 activity has been associated with endothelial dysfunction and increased risk of myocardial disease (Leopold and Loscalzo, 2005; Loscalzo et al., 2005).

Gpx1 expression varies in different organs and is substantially lower in skeletal muscle than in other organs such as the liver (Esposito et al., 2000). In a murine myoblast line, Gpx1 and other major antioxidant activities are progressively downregulated during muscle differentiation, increasing the susceptibility to oxidant stress (Franco et al., 1999). Muscle progenitor populations are certainly exposed to oxidant stress with aging and as a function of pathologies including muscular dystrophies (Disatnik et al., 1988), muscle atrophy with disuse (Lawler et al., 2002) or contraction-induced muscle injury (McArdle et al., 1999). For these reasons, we characterized the phenotype of primary myoblasts isolated from mice with deletion of Gpx1.

79

Myoblasts are the proliferating progenitor cell population resident in skeletal muscle, derived from muscle satellite stem cells. Under appropriate cues myoblasts differentiate into multinuclear (fused) myotubes *in vitro*, and muscle fibers *in vivo*. These studies are the first to address the effects of Gpx1 deletion on any stem or progenitor population, and suggest that virtually all aspects of progenitor cell function are negatively impacted by loss of Gpx1 function. The most striking phenotype of Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts is a rapid loss of ability to fuse into myotubes with passage in culture, despite high levels of expression of transcription factors that promote muscle differentiation. These studies suggest that peroxide homeostasis may play an important role in long-term maintenance of muscle, and that Gpx1 is important for normal function of muscle progenitors during oxidant stresses.

Results

Early fusion of Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts

As small colonies of myoblasts were first developing after isolation, some of the Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts fused, despite the presence of high serum and FGF2 in the culture medium (Figure 3.1A). These prematurely fused myoblasts were not observed after passage 3. Fusion in GM was never observed in wild-type myoblasts (Figure 3.1B). As a consequence of fusion, multinuclear myotubes exit the cell cycle. Therefore, as cultures were passaged for expansion and analysis, the Gpx1^{-/-} fused cells were lost. When Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts at passage 3 were induced to differentiate (in DM), they fused and became hypercontractile, again a feature never observed in the wild- type myoblasts. Without any stimulus, the myotubes spontaneously contracted constantly for more than a week in culture, a distinctly abnormal behavior. Videos of these contractile muscle cells can be viewed on the Free Radical and Biology website, doi:10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2006.07.005.

The purity of the population of undifferentiated myoblasts was confirmed using anti-desmin immunostaining. Before differentiation, 98% of the Gpx1^{-/-} cells were desmin-positive, and 93% of the wild-type myoblasts (stains not shown).

Figure 3.1 Abnormal morphology of freshly isolated Gpx1^{-/-} myoblast colonies A. Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts B. Wild-type myoblasts. Image: State of the state of t

type cells in GM.

(B) Wild-type myoblasts do not fuse in GM.

Intracellular oxidant stress in Gpx1^{-/-} vs. wild-type myoblasts as a function of O₂ culture conditions

Within genotypes, both wild-type and Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts accumulated significantly less intracellular ROS in 6% O₂ than in 20% O₂ as assessed by both CM-H₂DCFDA fluorescence and Amplex Red assays (p<0.05, Figures 3.2A and 3.2B). For Amplex Red, wild-type cells in 20% O₂ accumulated more intracellular hydrogen peroxide (1547 ± 92 RFU) than the same cells cultured in 6% O₂ (1228 ± 27 RFU), p=0.027 (Figure 3.2B).

Gpx1^{-/-} intracellular ROS were slightly elevated compared to wild-type myoblasts in 20% O₂ (9027 ± 103 vs. 8091 ± 462 RFU, p=0.009, n=4 per group) using CM-H₂DCFDA fluorescence. Intracellular ROS levels using this assay were similar between the two genotypes in 6% O₂ (Figure 3.2A). Using the assay more specific for hydrogen peroxide, Amplex Red, Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts accumulated significantly more intracellular H₂O₂ than wild-type myoblasts in both O₂ conditions (Figure 3.2B).

Relative oxidant levels in culture medium of Gpx1^{-/-} and wild-type myoblasts

Extracellular peroxide concentrations were similar between the two myoblast genotypes and in both oxygen conditions (Figure 3.2C). Relative fluorescence U for wild-type cells in 20% and 6% O_2 were 964 ± 0 and 875 ± 109 U, and for Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts in 20% and 6% O_2 , 955 ± 47 and 866 ± 62 U.

Figure 3.2

Relative intracellular oxidant stress as a function of O₂ culture

conditions and Gpx1 deletion





Wild-type Gpx1-'-

(A) Myoblast intracellular oxidant stress after 3 days of culture was assessed by CM-H₂DCFDA fluorescence, and normalized to protein content. Both wild-type and Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts accumulate significantly less oxidant stress when cultured in 6% O₂ than when grown in 20% O₂ (p<0.05). Oxidant stress in Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts in 20% O₂ was significantly more than that in wild-type myoblasts in the same conditions (*p=0.009). (B) Amplex Red assay reveals significantly more intracellular hydrogen peroxide in Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts compared to wild-type in both 6% O₂ and 20% O₂ conditions (p=0.027 and 0.038 respectively).
(C) Amplex Red assay reveals no significant difference of extracellular hydrogen peroxide in Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts compared to wild-type in both 6%

 O_2 and 20% O_2 conditions (p>0.05 for both conditions).

The relative abundance of mitochodria in myoblasts

Four regions of mtDNA sequences were selected for qRT-PCR amplification (Miller et al., 2003; Vaillant and Nagley, 1995 to quantify the relative abundance of mitochondria (using mtDNA:genomic DNA) in myoblasts. These studies suggested that Gpx1^{-/-} and wild-type myoblasts from young mice had similar mitochondrial abundance (Figure 3.3, p>0.2). Overall, there was not complete concordance of the ratio of mtDNA to genomic DNA using the different primer sets. However, the general pattern for each region was similar. Different efficiencies of the primer sets and probes in qRT-PCR reaction likely account for the differences in readout for each individual reaction.

Young Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts accumulate oxidatively modified proteins

Western blotting to demonstrate abundance of proteins with carbonyl modifications in Gpx1^{-/-} myoblast lysates revealed protein bands at a wide range of molecular weights. By comparison, only very faint bands were visualized in lysates of wild-type myoblasts (Figure 3.4).

Figure 3.3

The relative abundance of mitochondria in myoblasts was quantitated by qRT-PCR using amplification of mitochondrial genome and chromosomal genome regions.





Impaired proliferation of Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts

BrdU uptake was used to quantitate proliferation of myoblasts on several different matrices, at 24 and 48 hours after plating (Table 3.1). On all matrices, a smaller percent of the Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts was actively proliferating compared to

Table 3.1

Proliferation	of myoblasts or	i various	extracellular matrices

MARTIX	TIME	Gpx1⁻⁄⁻	WT	Chi ²
Collagen	24 hr	58.0 ± 17.1	66.8 ± 18.5	55
	48 hr	52.1 ± 16.1	65.5 ± 10.8	139
Gelatin	24 hr	47.2 ± 24.6	55.7 ± 28.2	117
	48 hr	48.5 ± 14.7	65.4 ± 14.5	213
ECL	24 hr	54.4 ± 19.7	76.4 ± 13.8	161
	48 hr	52.0 ± 12.6	73.7 ± 10.4	319

Data are expressed as the percentage of BrdU-immunolabeled cells after a 4-hour BrdU pulse <u>+</u> S.D. for each matrix at 24 and 48 hours after plating. Total numbers of labeled and unlabelled cells (>3000 cells counted per condition) were used to construct 2 X 2 Chi² comparisons. For all times and matrices, p value was \leq 0.001 for Gpx1^{-/-} compared to wild-type myoblasts. Wild-type myoblast proliferation was significantly greatest on ECL at both 24 hr (p=0.01) and 48 hr (p=0.002), whereas Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts proliferated best on collagen at 24 hr (p=0.02) but similarly on all matrices at 48 hr.

wild- types (p<0.001). Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts proliferated most on collagen I, and least on gelatin (p=0.02); proliferation of Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts on collagen vs. ECL and ECL vs. gelatin was similar at 24 hr. For wild-type myoblasts, proliferation on ECL was significantly better than on both gelatin and collagen I (p<0.01), and proliferation on gelatin was significantly greater than on collagen (p=0.04). At 48 hours, there were no significant proliferation differences on the three extracellular matrix coatings for Gpx1^{-/-} cells, whereas proliferation of wild-type cells on ECL remained significantly greater than on the other matrices (p=0.002).

Apoptosis of Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts in high and low oxidant stress conditions

After three days in DM on ECL, a greater proportion of Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts in 20% O₂ underwent apoptosis vs. wild-type controls (p<0.05, Figure 3.5A). Apoptosis of Gpx1^{-/-} vs. wild-type myoblasts in 6% O₂ was not significantly different. After 5 days, Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts underwent significantly more apoptosis than wild-type cells in both O₂ conditions (p<0.05).

The TUNEL assay was repeated in Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts maintained in the presence of the glutathione donor, N-acetylcysteine (NAC, 10 μ M) or catalase (500 U/ml), in 20% O₂. At 3 days of culture in differentiation medium, only catalase mediated a significant decrease in the percentage of cells undergoing apoptosis (p=0.002). After 120 hours in the presence of either NAC (p=0.04) or catalase (p=0.03) apoptosis of Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts was significantly reduced (Figure 3.5B).

Impaired terminal muscle differentiation of Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts

The most striking difference between Gpx1^{-/-} and wild-type myoblasts was in the formation of myotubes in culture (Figure 3.6). After 5 days in DM on ECL, less than 20% of Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts were incorporated into myotubes in both 20%



2

(A) After three days, Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts exhibited significantly more apoptosis than wild-type myoblasts in 20% O₂, but not in 6% O₂. At 5 days, the rate of apoptosis was greater in $Gpx1^{-1}$ myoblasts than in wild-type cells in both O_2 conditions. (*p<0.05 vs. wild-type).

Days after differentiation

5

3

(B) Treatment of Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts with either NAC (10 μ M) or catalase (500 U/ml) for 3 days reduced the percentage of cells undergoing apoptosis, but the reduction mediated by NAC was not statistically significant. Five days of treatment with either catalase (p= 0.03) or NAC (p=0.04) mediated a significant reduction in apoptosis of Gpx1^{-/-} cells in differentiation medium.

and 6% O_2 , whereas about 90% of wild-type nuclei were in myotubes in 6% O_2 , and 80% were in myotubes in 20% O_2 (p<0.05 compared to Gpx1^{-/-} for both). Futhermore, only rare myotubes with more than 3 nuclei were formed by Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts after 5 days of differentiation while the majority of wild-type myotubes contained 4 or more nuclei. Thus, mature myotube formation from Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts was completely absent.

Differentiation of wild-type cells exposed to 2.5 μ M H₂O₂ was also quantified in detail. Of note, when this low concentration of H₂O₂ was added to the myoblasts at the start of differentiation, the cells lifted off the plate. When H₂O₂ was added at 48 hours of culture in differentiation medium, the cells remained on the plate and differentiation could be assayed. The fusion indices from days 3 to 5 in Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts are virtually identical to those of wild-type cells treated with H₂O₂. The addition of H₂O₂ also significantly reduced the differentiation potential of wild-type cells (Figure 3.6B).

Differentiation, like proliferation, can be significantly altered by the extracellular matrix, (Adams and Watt, 1993) so differentiation studies were repeated on three different matrix coatings. Collagen I coating facilitated the formation of a few mature Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts with greater than 10 nuclei, whereas no myotubes of this size were formed on ECL or gelatin. The percentage of nuclei incorporated into mature myotubes (>4 nuclei) for Gpx1^{-/-} was significantly lower than for wild-type nuclei on all matrices (p values all >0.2). In summary, no matrix facilitated the formation of mature myotubes to wild-type levels by Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts.



(A) Morphological differentiation of Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts. Myoblasts incubated in DM were fixed and stained with MF20 antibody recognizing myosin heavy chain (red) at 1-day intervals. From day 1 on, Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts morphologic differentiation, characterized by formation of multinucleate myotubes, was significantly reduced compared to wild-type.

(B) Quantitation of Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts vs. wild-type myoblasts vs. wild-type myoblasts with 2.5 μ M H₂O₂. Differentiation potential (DP) was calculated as follows: [(Number of nuclei in MF 20-stained cells/Total number of nuclei) X 100]. Fusion index (FI) was calculated as follows: [(Number of nuclei in MF20-stained myotubes with \geq 2 nuclei/Total number of nuclei) X 100]. Within genotype, O₂ conditions did not cause statistically significant differences in either DP or FI. Starting on day 2, wild-type myoblasts (center) formed considerably more myotubes than did Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts (left), and significant differences in both FI and DP persisted through day 5 (p<0.05 for days 2-5).

Various strategies directed at lowering oxidant stress were also used in an effort to improve differentiation of Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts. Lower (6%) O₂ conditions did not significantly enhance differentiation in either Gpx1^{-/-} or wild-type cells compared to culture in 20% O₂ (Figure 3.6B). Treatment with the ROS scavenger phenyl-N-tert-butylnitrone (PBN, 1 mM) did not increase the number of mature myotubes (>4 nuclei) formed by Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts in DM (not shown). More nascent myotubes (2-3 nuclei) formed during differentiation of Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts

in the presence of catalase (500 U/ml) or NAC (10 μ M), though not to wild-type levels (Table 3.2). At day 5, both NAC and catalase treatments resulted in formation of some mature myotubes (4-10 nuclei) whereas untreated Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts generated virtually none, but neither treatment influenced the inability of these cells to form very large myotubes (>10 nuclei, Table 3.2).

Antioxidant treatment improves differentiation capacity of Gpx1^{-/-}

Table 3.2

. .

myoblasts						
Gpx1 ^{-/-}	Time	1 nucleus	2-3 nuclei	4-10 nuclei	> 10 nuclei	DP
No treatment	Day 3	86.7±2.8	13.8±2.8	0	0	13.3±2.8
	Day 5	81.4±0.4	17.0±0.7	1.6±0.3	0	18.6±0.4
NAC	Day 3	79.1±0.2	20.9±0.2	0	0	20.9±0.2
	Day 5	69.1±2.2	25.9±1.2	4.9±1.0	0	30.9±2.2
Catalase	Day 3	79.6±1.0	19.5±2.2	0.8±1.2	0	20.4±0.4
	Day 5	72.5±0.4	22.4±1.0	5.0±1.5	0	27.5±0.4

Differentiation of Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts in the presence of either NAC (10 mM) or catalase (500 U/ml) improved formation of nascent myotubes with 2-3 nuclei but not significantly. Treatment with NAC or catalase did improve differentiation of Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts into mature myotubes (4-10 nuclei) but not nearly to wild-type levels. Neither treatment rescued the inability of Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts to generate very large myotubes (>10 nuclei).

High seeding density did significantly improve the formation of mature myotubes by $\text{Gpx1}^{-/-}$ myoblasts, to the same extent in 6% and 20% O₂. When initial plating density for differentiation was increased four-fold, 15.3 ± 0.2% of $\text{Gpx1}^{-/-}$ nuclei at day five were incorporated into myotubes with > 10 nuclei (highly significant since no large myotubes formed at lower seeding density). However, significantly more mature myotubes (>4 nuclei) were formed by wild-type cells seeded at low density than by $\text{Gpx1}^{-/-}$ myoblasts seeded at high density (Chi^2 =14.7, p<0.001).

Co-cultured wild-type myoblasts (expressing GFP) significantly improved the differentiation of Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts in a dose-dependent way, that is, the higher the ratio of wild-type to Gpx1^{-/-} cells in culture, the greater the number of Gpx1^{-/-} nuclei incorporated into myotubes (Table 3.3). At even the lowest ratio of wild-type to Gpx1^{-/-} cells (1:4), the incorporation of Gpx1^{-/-} nuclei into mature myotubes was significantly greater for Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts alone under the same conditions (Table 3.3). These results suggest that secreted product(s) of myoblasts necessary for optimal differentiation may be missing or impaired in the Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts, since density (cell contact) was independently tested (above). Co-culture of wild-type cells with Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts reduced the number of large, mature myotubes generated compared to that of wild-type cells alone (Table 3.3). The majority of myotubes formed in all these experiments were mixed, suggesting that Gpx1^{-/-} cells have not completely lost the capacity to fuse (with a normal target myoblast). Table 3.3

Deficient myotube formation of Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts is partially rescued by co-culture with wild-type myoblasts in a dose-dependent manner

T I	Gp×1 ⁺⁻ : Wt = 1 : 4										
M	Spar Fire Fire										
E											
		cleus		uclei		nuclei		nuclei			
3		3±0		±0.3		±0.3		±0.5			
d	Gpx1+	Wt	Gpx1⁺		Gpx1⁺		Gpx1≁				
	10.2±0.7			30.0±1.9	9.2±1.3		0.7±0.3				
	1 nu		2, 3 n			nuclei		nuclei			
5	13.4			±2.3		±0.8		±0.2			
d	Gpx1-/-	Wt	Gpx1-/-		Gpx1-/-		Gpx1⁺				
	8.0±0.2	5.4±1.3	33.6±2.5	28.0±0.2	12.8±0.5	12.3±1.3	2.9±0.1	2.5±0.2			
				~							
				Gpx1⁺:\	Nt = 1 : 1						
	1 nu	1 nucleus 2, 3 nuclei 4 to 10 nuclei				nuclei	> 10 nuclei				
3		32.3±0.1		53.9±3.1		13.6±2.6		1.0±0.5			
d	Gpx1+	Wt	Gpx1⁺	Wt	Gpx1⁺	Wt	Gpx1⁺	Wt			
	21.2±1.1	11.1±1.0		21.9±0.8	6.7±0.7	7.0±1.9	0.4±0.2	0.6±0.7			
		ıclei	2, 3 nuclei		4 to 10		> 10 i	nuclei			
5		±1.2	61.7±0.6		18.4±0.6		0.8±0				
d	Gpx1-/-	Wt	Gpx1-/-	Wt	Gpx1-/-	Wt	Gpx1+	Wt			
	11.8±0.3	7.3±0.9	30.8±5.3	31.0±6.9	8.6±3.6	9.9±2.9	0.4±0.2	0.3±0.1			
				Gpx1+∶\	Nt = 4 : 1						
	1 nu	cleus	2, 3 n	uclei	4 to 10	nuclei	> 10 nuclei				
3	45.8	±4.8		±4.4	6.7±0.3		0				
d	Gpx1⁺	Wt	Gpx1⁺		Gpx1⁺	Wt	Gpx1⁺	Wt			
	31.1±3.0	14.7±1.8		11.2±0.3		2.4±0.6	0	0			
		cleus	2, 3 n		4 to 10 nuclei		> 10 i	nuclei			
5	46.6			±0.8	9.1±		,)			
d	Gpx1-/-		Gpx1-/-	Wt	Gpx1-/-	Wt	Gpx1⁺	Wt			
	28.4±2.5	18.2±0.4	27.2±1.6	17.1±0.8	4.6±1.2	4.5±0.1	0	0			

Differentiation of mixed myoblast cultures, with co-cultured wild-type and Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts, showed that presence of wild-type myoblasts significantly improved the ability of Gpx1^{-/-} cells to contribute to mature myoblast formation. The numbers of mature myotubes incorporating Gpx1^{-/-} nuclei is significantly greater in all these mixed cultures than for Gpx1^{-/-} cells alone (which can form no mature myotubes after passage 3 at plating density used for these studies).

Expression of core regulators of myogenesis in Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts

The myogenic basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) transcription factors are core mediators of skeletal muscle development, commitment and differentiation (Berkes and Tapscott, 2005). A time course of message expression during differentiation was performed to determine whether the observed differentiation defect was due to downregulation of this family of genes in the Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts. Detailed quantitation of message abundance for MyoD, myf5, mrf4 and myogenin was performed using real-time quantitative fluorescence PCR (Table 3.4). These data revealed that the morphologic differentiation defect seen in Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts was not a "classical" muscle differentiation defect mediated by downregulation of Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts compared to wild-type (Table 3.4). The most aberrant difference in expression was the high (inappropriate) increase in bHLH expression in undifferentiated Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts compared to wild-type controls.

Table 3.4

Expression of myogenic bHLH genes during myoblast differentiation

A. Myogenic bHLH relative message abundance during myoblast

differentiation in 20% O_{2.}

Transcript	Genotype	Pre-diff	Day 1	Day 2	Day 3	Day 4	Day 5
MyoD	Gpx1 ^{-/-}	$\textbf{4.4} \pm \textbf{0.2}$	$\textbf{6.6} \pm \textbf{0.8}$	18.8 ± 5.3	$\textbf{11.4} \pm \textbf{5.0}$	$\textbf{0.0} \pm \textbf{0.0}$	$\textbf{0.0} \pm \textbf{0.0}$
WIYOD	wt	(1)	4.0 ± 3.8	0.6 ± 0.3	0.5 ± 0.5	$\textbf{0.1} \pm \textbf{0.0}$	$\textbf{0.2} \pm \textbf{0.0}$
myf5	Gpx1 ^{-/-}	4.6 ± 0.7	6.6 ± 0.4	4.6 ± 1.5	2.2 ± 0.9	$\textbf{0.0} \pm \textbf{0.0}$	0.0 ± 0.0
птутэ	wt	(1)	1.2 ± 0.8	1.5 ± 0.4	2.8 ± 0.5	$\textbf{1.4} \pm \textbf{0.0}$	0.7 ± 0.1
mrf4	Gpx1 ^{-/-}	9.6 ± 2.3	8.2 ± 0.7	8.5 ± 3.9	5.7 ± 2.9	$\textbf{0.7} \pm \textbf{0.4}$	0.2 ± 0.2
111114	wt	(1)	1.5 ± 0.1	1.5 ± 0.0	1.1 ± 0.2	$\textbf{0.9} \pm \textbf{0.0}$	0.7 ± 0.1
myogenin	Gpx1 ^{-/-}	1.5 ± 0.3	1.3 ± 0.3	14.1 ± 1.7	$\textbf{9.4} \pm \textbf{4.0}$	$\textbf{0.1} \pm \textbf{0.1}$	$\textbf{0.0} \pm \textbf{0.0}$
	wt	(1)	1.1 ± 0.0	1.7 ± 0.3	2.7 ± 0.5	$\textbf{2.6} \pm \textbf{0.6}$	$\textbf{1.6} \pm \textbf{0.2}$

B. Myogenic bHLH relative message abundance during myoblast

differentiation in 6% O_{2.}

Transcript	Genotype	Pre-diff	Day1	Day 2	Day 3	Day 4	Day 5
MyoD	Gpx1 ^{./-}	$\textbf{4.4} \pm \textbf{0.2}$	14.1 ± 7.6	7.3 ± 1.5	19.7 ± 10.3	0.1 ± 0.0	0.0 ± 0.0
Wyod	wt	(1)	1.3 ± 0.6	1.2 ± 0.5	$\textbf{2.1} \pm \textbf{0.4}$	2.1 ± 0.1	1.2 ± 0.1
myf5	Gpx1 ^{./-}	$\textbf{4.6} \pm \textbf{0.7}$	$\textbf{8.3} \pm \textbf{4.5}$	1.6 ± 0.4	7.9 ± 2.4	0.0 ± 0.0	0.0 ± 0.0
	wt	(1)	0.9 ± 0.6	0.6 ± 0.3	0.7 ± 0.9	0.7 ± 0.6	0.1 ± 0.0
mrf4	Gpx1 ^{-/-}	9.6 ± 2.3	12.2 ± 7.0	2.8 ± 0.4	11.4 ± 7.2	1.1 ± 0.1	1.2 ± 0.9
111114	wt	(1)	1.6 ± 0.2	1.3 ± 0.0	1.0 ± 0.0	0.9 ± 0.1	0.9 ± 0.1
myogenin	Gpx1 ^{-/-}	1.5 ± 0.3	2.8 ± 1.4	3.6 ± 0.9	14.2 ± 5.3	0.3 ± 0.1	0.1 ± 0.1
	wt	(1)	1.3 ± 0.3	14.1 ± 4.4	9.4 ± 4.0	0.1 ± 0.2	0.0 ± 0.0
Real-time quantitative PCR time course of myogenic bHLH gene expression during differentiation of wild-type and $Gpx1^{-/-}$ myoblasts shows that myogenic gene expression is not repressed in the knockout cells. Two independent cultures were assayed, and each reaction was run in duplicate. Data are expressed as fold-increase <u>+</u> S.D. of mRNA expression compared to undifferentiated wild-type levels for all genes.

Evaluation of adipogenic potential

As both high oxygen culture conditions and aging are associated with satellite cell (Csete et al., 2001) and myoblast adipogenesis (Taylor-Jones et al., 2001), myoblasts were cultured for 3 days in conditions known to promote adipogenesis, then stained with oil red O, to visualize lipid accumulation. No lipid droplets were seen with oil red O staining in either wild-type or Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts. However, a distinct morphologic change was noted in the Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts in adipogenic medium: Cells formed large, multinucleate three-dimensional clusters (Figure 3.7A).

Gpx1^{-/-} muscle fibers are small and their regeneration may be impaired

Cross-sectional areas of fibers of three different hindlimb muscles from young knockout animals and their wild-type littermates were measured. Despite similar body and muscle weights (not shown), Gpx1^{-/-} fiber size was reduced significantly in all muscles examined compared to that of littermate wild-type controls, suggesting a muscle developmental defect. Cross-sectional area of

Figure 3.7

Evaluation of adipogenic potential

A Gpx1^{-/-}



B Wild-type



(A) Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts exposed to adipogenic medium (containing insulin, isobutylmethylxanthine and dexamethasone) rounded up into large balls, with obvious nuclear clusters (arrow).

(B) Wild-type myoblasts exposed to adipogenic medium did not accumulate lipid and remained in monolayers.

of tibialis anterior muscle fibers of 23 week old Gpx1^{-/-} mice (n=4) were 83.9% of wild-type areas (1353 \pm 221 vs. 1586 \pm 34 µm2, p=1.4e⁻⁰⁵). Similarly, the cross-sectional areas of fibers from Gpx1^{-/-} gastrocnemius muscles were 85.4% of wild-type fibers (p=2.5e⁻⁰⁸) and Gpx1^{-/-} quadriceps fibers were 79.6% of wild-type area (p=4.9e⁻⁰⁸).

In a pilot study, fiber sizes of cardiotoxin-injected muscle (a standard model to induce muscle regeneration) were examined 14 days after injury, when regeneration is usually complete in wild-type mice. Only 2 mice per group were examined in this preliminary study. No residual foci of necrosis were identified in either group. The regenerated tibialis anterior fibers of Gpx1^{-/-} mice were 68.9% the size of the regenerated wild-type fibers. Since this relative size of Gpx1^{-/-} TA fibers after regeneration (69.8% of wild-type) was smaller than the relative size prior to injury (85.4% of wild-type), these preliminary data suggest that muscle regeneration may be impaired in Gpx1^{-/-} mice. To fully evaluate this defect, serial regeneration assays will be required.

Lipofuscin accumulates in skeletal muscle of young Gpx1^{-/-} mice

Young wild-type muscle contained very rare lipofuscin deposits, whereas age-matched (23 week old) Gpx1^{-/-} muscle contained scattered small amounts of the pigment, in both the interior of the fiber and in the extracellular matrix surrounding fibers (Figure 3.8). The amount of lipofuscin in the Gpx1^{-/-} muscle was significantly less than that observed in aged mouse muscle (data not shown) but is nonetheless an indication of pathology in young Gpx1^{-/-} muscle.



No compensatory feedback for SOD family in Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts

Protein expression as well as enzyme activity of SOD family including SOD1 and SOD2 was not significantly in Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts compared to wild-type myoblasts (Figure 3.9). These data might suggest that no compensatory feedback for SOD1 and SOD2 by the deletion of Gpx1^{-/-} in myoblasts.



Akt and MAPK signaling pathways are not altered in Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts

Phosphorylation of several signaling pathways including Akt, p38 and p44/42 MAPK were not significantly altered in Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts compared to wild-type myoblasts (Figure 3.10).



Phosphorylations of Akt, p38 MAPK and p44/42 were assayed using whole cell lysate for 3 days in DM. Overall there was no significant alteration of these pathways.

Discussion

Fundamental aspects of muscle progenitor cell biology were significantly perturbed by deletion of the antioxidant Gpx1: Significant changes were observed in proliferation, apoptosis, differentiation and myogeneic transcription factor expression *in vitro*. *In vivo*, muscle fiber size was significantly smaller in Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts than in wild-type mice, suggesting a developmental defect.

Proliferation was impaired both in qualitative and quantitative ways: Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts not only proliferated less than wild-type cells but also had a different optimal matrix for proliferation compared to wild-type. Given the central role of MAPK signaling in proliferation, we examined core MAPK pathway proteins. These data suggested that MAPK signaling was not different in cultured Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts from wild type myoblasts. The threshold for Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts apoptosis was also reduced in culture, especially in high oxidant stress conditions. These data are consistent with the previous reports of increased apoptosis in brains of Gpx1^{-/-} mice after freeze-induced or focal ischemic infarcts (Crack et al., 2001; Flentjar et al., 2002). Two different antioxidant treatments reduced apoptosis, suggesting that increased apoptosis was in part due to oxidant stress. Although treatment with either NAC or catalase did not completely reverse the apoptosis pattern of the Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts, it is possible that multiple antioxidant strategies could compensate for loss of Gpx1. In addition, the deletion of Gpx1 had no effect on the relative abundance of mitochondria in myoblasts in muscle from young animals. Though mitochondria are the major sites of ROS production in cells, the increased oxidative stress due to the

104

deletion of Gpx1 does not seem to impact mitochondrial mass. These results contrast with those we found in myoblasts with genetic manipulation of superoxide dismutase (SOD2). In this case overexpression and underexpression of SOD2 in myoblasts from young mice were both associated with lower mt:genomic DNA ratios than found in young wild-type myoblasts. These results suggest that the local ROS levels inside mitochondria, rather than the ROS levels affected more globally by Gpx1 manipulation, are involved in maintenance of mitochondrial mass.

Formation of myotubes by progenitor Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts was distinctly impaired in culture. In general, Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts could form nascent (small) myotubes, but not large mature myotubes. There are distinct differences in the signals that mediate formation of nascent versus mature myotubes (Horsley et al., 2003). Given the defects in mature myotube formation, use of the Gpx1^{-/-} model should provide valuable data to further characterize these signals that mediate the various stages of muscle differentiation.

The sensitivity of stem cell populations to stress as a function of their differentiation status is of considerable interest to developmental biologists. In conducting the differentiation assays we found that undifferentiated myoblasts were more sensitive to added H_2O_2 (lifted off the plate and died) than were differentiated myoblasts. These results differ from a report showing that differentiated myotubes are more sensitive to oxidant stress than undifferentiated myoblasts (Franco et al., 1999), however this latter report was conducted in transformed C2C12 myoblasts. The difference in oxidant stress (amount and

type) may also explain the discrepancy, and we are addressing the developmentally-regulated sensitivity to oxidant stress using other antioxidant deleted mice.

This inability of passaged Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts to form myotubes is not a classical differentiation defect: Expression of core regulators of muscle differentiation, the myogenic bHLH transcription factors myf5, MyoD, mrf4, and myogenin, was not reduced in Gpx1^{-/-} vs. wild-type myoblasts. The abnormal, high levels of myogenic bHLH gene expression in Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts in GM suggest that regulation of these genes is impaired by deletion of Gpx1. Many other molecular pathways contribute to terminal muscle differentiation, including genes that control myoblast attraction, adhesion, alignment, and fusion and important molecular co-factors for myogenic bHLH genes. Although these and other factors could contribute to the aberrant differentiation phenotype of Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts, they were not examined in this study.

The experiments with co-cultured wild-type and Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts suggest that at least some of these necessary co-factors for differentiation (impaired in the knockout cells) are intrinsic to myoblasts. By the nature of the experiments only myoblast factors contributing to differentiation could be examined. In addition, the lack of lipid accumulation in Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts exposed to adipogenic media suggests that poor myotube formation was not due to a skewing of differentiation toward adipogenesis, a feature of myoblast aging (Taylor-Jones et al., 2002).

Some aspects of senescent muscle are recapitulated by deletion of Gpx1. The cultured Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts did not have a flattened, splayed appearance in culture as reported for Gpx1^{-/-} fibroblasts (De Haan et al., 2004) or in general for senescent myoblasts. The progressive differentiation defect in culture, sensitivity of apoptosis and proliferation to oxidant stress, and the premature appearance of lipofuscin in Gpx1^{-/-} muscle and protein carbonyls in cultured myoblasts suggest that this complex Gpx1^{-/-} phenotype mimics some aspects of muscle senescence. Future studies will examine the effects of aging on the Gpx1^{-/-} muscle stem cell population.

Overall, our studies suggest that Gpx1^{-/-} muscle differentiation is very sensitive to oxidant stress. When first isolated, the myoblasts avidly formed contractile myotubes. But with only a few passages in culture, this ability was largely lost. Similarly, Gpx1^{-/-} mice developed muscle that was normal in histologic appearance, but significantly smaller than wild-type fibers), and exhibited impaired ability to recover from a toxic injury.

Previous analysis of the colony of Gpx1^{-/-} mice used in this study, and confirmed in our data, revealed similar activity levels of manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD), CuZnSOD and catalase as well as similarities in body weight as compared to wild-type mice (Van Remmen et al., 2004). The accumulation of intracellular hydrogen peroxide as well as evidence of accumulation of oxidative damage to proteins strongly suggest that there is no functional compensation for loss of Gpx1 in the muscle progenitor cells. This lack of compensation for Gpx1 deletion by other major antioxidant systems likely

contributes to the muscle phenotype described here. Other investigators have reported that Gpx1^{-/-} mice were smaller than wild-type littermates, but this discrepancy may be due to strain background differences (129/Svs3 vs. C57Bl/6J in the current study) (Esposito et al., 2000).

High throughput studies will be necessary to determine the effects of Gpx1 deletion on expression of other genes, as well as the functional effects of oxidative changes to specific proteins. Our data indicate that wide-ranging changes in the cells at the message (myogenic bHLH genes are upregulated), protein (oxidative modifications) and lipid levels (accumulation of lipofuscin) contribute to an abnormal muscle progenitor phenotype. However, classically redox-sensitive signaling pathways such as Akt, p38 MAPK, and p44/p42 pathways are changed during differentiation in myoblasts with deletion of Gpx1.

Though Gpx1 is expressed in low levels in muscle, and though many other factors control muscle H_2O_2 homeostasis, deletion of Gpx1 results in globally defective muscle progenitor cells. To our knowledge, these are the first detailed analyses of stem or progenitor cells from mice with an antioxidant deletion. It is not yet known whether other stem cell populations are similarly affected by Gpx1 deletion, but our results suggest that antioxidant balance plays a critical role in maintaining adult muscle progenitor cell integrity.

Chapter 4: Sod2 overexpression preserves myoblast mitochondrial mass and function, but not muscle mass with aging

Data presented in this chapter are submitted to Aging Cell as:

Sod2 overexpression preserves myoblast mitochondrial mass and function, but

not muscle mass with aging

Introduction

Superoxide dismutase-2 (SOD2 or MnSOD) is a mitochondrial matrix antioxidant enzyme that catalyzes dismutation of superoxide anion (O_2) to form hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) and oxygen. MnSOD is essential, as homozygous Sod2-knockout mice do not survive embryonic development (Li et al., 1995) or die shortly after birth (Huang et al., 2001) depending on genetic background. This lethality is associated with multisystem pathological abnormalities including dilated cardiomyopathy (Li et al., 1995; Huang et al., 2001), severe anemia, and degeneration of the central nervous system neurons (Lebovitz, 1996). Heterozygous Sod2 knockout mice have increased susceptibility to seizures (Liang et al., 2004) and decreased survival to superimposed severe oxidant stress (Asikainen et al., 2002). These animals show diffuse increases in oxidant damage at the level of lipid peroxidation (Strassburger et al., 2005), proteins (Friedman et al., 2004), and compromised mitochondrial function (Van Remmen et al., 1999; Melov et al., 1999; Kokoszka et al., 2001; Van Remmen et al., 2001; Strassburger et al., 2005). However, the decreased mitochondrial function of Sod2^{+/-} animals is managed by compensatory antioxidant responses with aging, so that there is not a compounded oxidant damage with aging and loss of the enzyme (Mansouri et al., 2006), and the animals have a normal lifespan. Overexpression of Sod2 in mice leads to enhanced mitochondrial function (Silva, et al., 2005), and protection from various oxidant stressors including reperfusion injury (Suzuki et al., 2002), but no increase in lifespan.

Generally, studies of muscle in mice genetically manipulated for Sod2 expression have been done at the level of whole muscle, and the effects of Sod2 expression on muscle progenitor cell populations have not been studied. Skeletal muscle contains a resident stem cell population, the satellite cell, located between the basal lamina and plasma membrane of the muscle fiber (Mauro, 1961). Satellite cells are generally quiescent, but enter the cell cycle and become myoblasts when muscle is damaged. Myoblasts are the cellular source of muscle regeneration throughout life. This transient amplifying population of skeletal muscle proliferates as single cells, then fuses and forms myotubes *in vitro* and integrates into myofibers *in vivo* in response to appropriate differentiation cues. The numbers and capability of myoblasts to fuse and differentiate to myofibers generally decrease with chronic oxidative stress or aging (Lee et al., 2006; Shefer et al., 2006; Collins et al., 2007; Verdijk et al., 2007) which contributes to loss of regenerative capacity with aging and to age-related sarcopenia.

Here we explored the effects of MnSOD on myoblast function in cells derived from both young and old mice that under- or over-express the enzyme. These studies suggest that mitochondrial MnSOD levels significantly alter the phenotype of cultured myoblasts. Myoblasts that are deficient in MnSOD have significantly impaired proliferation and differentiation capacities, but these differences are blunted rather than amplified with aging. On the other hand, lifelong overexpression of MnSOD in myoblasts has some benefit, and preserves myoblast differentiation potential and mitochondrial mass, despite high levels of intracellular hydrogen peroxide.

Results

Phenotype of myoblasts with different doses of Sod2: Proliferation and terminal differentiation

BrdU uptake was used to quantify proliferation of cultured myoblasts (with a 4-hour pulse at 44-48 hours after plating). The highest percentage of proliferating cells was in myoblasts from young, wild-type mice. Surprisingly, both overexpression and reduced expression of MnSOD resulted in similar and significantly decreased proliferation of myoblasts from young animals (Figure 4.1A). In wild-type myoblast cultures, $65.5 \pm 0.4\%$ of cells were BrdUimmunoreactive compared to $44.3 \pm 4.0\%$ of Sod2Tg (p=0.03) and $56.8 \pm 1.2\%$ of Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts from young mice (p=0.01).

Myoblasts from aged mice all showed significantly reduced proliferation compared to their young genotype-matched counterparts. For myoblasts from aged mice, the highest percentage of proliferating cells was again found in wildtype cells; both overexpression and reduced expression of MnSOD in myoblasts from aged mice resulted in similar and significantly decreased proliferation compared to the wild-type myoblasts (both p=0.02). These data suggest that evolved optimal levels of MnSOD are important in myoblast proliferation, and that proliferation is quite sensitive to changes of the enzyme function in either direction.

Gross morphologic defects in differentiation of young Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts were apparent on examination of myosin heavy chain (MHC)-stained cells after 5 days of differentiation (Figure 4.1B). MHC is a marker of terminal differentiation

112

of skeletal muscle. Using fusion indices to quantitate this morphologic observation (Figure 4.1C), $93.8 \pm 1.1\%$ of wild-type cells were incorporated into myotubes after 5 days of differentiation vs. $82.1 \pm 0.4\%$ of Sod2Tg myoblasts (p=0.005) and only $35.9 \pm 10.8\%$ of Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts (p=0.02 compared to wild-type, and p= 0.03 compared to Sod2Tg). The similar levels of expression of MHC at 5 days in wild-type and Sod2-Tg myoblasts (Figure 4.1D, p=0.19), compared with the difference in fusion index between these two cell types, suggests that the Sod2Tg cells were turning on MHC expression prematurely (before terminal fusion events) in myoblasts or in early myotubes with only two nuclei. In other words, the normal kinetics of muscle differentiation was disrupted as well as the efficiency of differentiation. Aged cells similarly appeared to turn on MHC inappropriately in immature cells, since the percentage of MHC-expressing cells (Figure 4.1D) is always higher the then percentage of MHC-expressing cells in myotubes (Figure 4.1C).

Aging was associated with significant reductions in myogenic differentiation of all three genotypes compared to the patterns seen in young myoblasts. Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts from aged mice differentiated minimally, with only 7.2 \pm 2.0% of cells incorporated into multinucleate myotubes after 5 days of differentiation (Figure 4.1C, p=0.03 compared to wild-type, and p=0.02 compared to old Sod2Tg cells). Only 32.1 \pm 5.8% of wild-type cells from aged mice were incorporated in multinucleate myotubes after 5 days of differentiation (about 60% less than young wild-type). Sod2Tg myoblast fusion indices also decreased with aging to 62.1 \pm 10.9%, but this was not a statistically significant drop from the

Figure 4.1

Myoblast proliferation and differentiation as a function of Sod2 and

114



Α



В





(A) Percentage of BrdU-labeled myoblasts after a 4 hr BrdU pulse (*p<0.05 compared to wild-type young; **p<0.05 compared to aged wild-type).
(B) Differentiation assessed morphologically (fused cells) and by MHC staining (red). Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts from young mice show obvious morphologic differentiation defects, with few and small fibers formed after 5 days of differentiation. Old Sod2Tg myoblasts differentiated better than other myoblasts. Treatment of young myoblasts with the PI3 kinase/Akt inhibitor, LY294002, confirms the importance of this signaling pathway in muscle differentiation.

(C) Fusion index [(# MHC-positive myotubes /Total # nuclei) × 100]. After 5 days, differentiation was most advanced in young, wild-type myoblasts (left) but best preserved with aging in Sod2Tg myoblasts (right). (*p<0.05 compared to wild-type young; **p<0.05 compared to aged wild-type).
(D) Differentiation potential [(# of nuclei in MHC-stained myoblasts/Total # nuclei) × 100] confirms that overexpression of SOD2 over the lifetime of aged myoblasts preserved differentiation. (*p<0.05 compared to wild-type young; **p<0.05 compared to aged wild-type).

(E) Akt is activated early in normal myoblast differentiation (left). For reference, pharmacologic blockade of LY294002 blocks Akt phosphorylation and morphologic differentiation.

young Sod2Tg myoblast differentiation pattern (p=0.12). Overexpression of MnSOD, then, was associated with relatively preserved differentiation capacity with aging, with more complete differentiation in the Sod2Tg myoblasts compared to aged wild-type myoblasts (p=0.01).

Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and serine kinase Akt/protein kinase B (PI3K/Akt) signaling pathways are well known as essential, positive regulators of muscle differentiation (Jiang et al., 1999; Tamir and Bengal, 2000), and pharmacologic inhibition of this pathway with the PI3K inhibitor, LY294002 turns off myoblast differentiation. LY294002 inhibits the phosphorylation of PI3K (Serra et al., 2007), and thereby inactivates Akt, one of the downstream targets of this pathway. Figure 4.1B illustrates that the profound differentiation defect of myoblasts from aged Sod2^{+/-} mice is similar to that induced by 20 µM LY204002 during differentiation (where only about 3.3% of cells were incorporated into multinucleated myotubes). Confirmation that the early stages of differentiation (12 hours after mitogen withdrawal) are associated with phosphorylation of Akt is shown in Figure 4.1E western blots, contrasted with inhibited phosphorylation of Akt in myoblasts in the presence of LY294002.

Akt is constitutively phosphorylated in aged wild-type, Sod2Tg, and Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts

Figure 4.2 shows western analysis of Akt phosphorylation patterns in differentiating myoblasts over a 4 day time course. Proliferating myoblasts from young mice of all three genotypes have very low levels of phosphorylated Akt (p-

Akt) at serine 473 (0 time in Figure 4.2A), whereas aged, proliferating myoblasts of all three genotypes maintained in growth medium (0 time in Figure 4.2B) have considerable phosphorylation at that site. Activated Akt1 is required for myoblast proliferation (Heron-Milhavet et al., 2006), so these results suggest that the proliferative defects seen in myoblasts from aged mice and the young Sod2Tg and Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts are not simply due to reduced capacity to phosphorylate Akt.

Withdrawal of mitogen (differentiation medium) from wild-type young myoblasts leads to early phosphorylation of Akt at serine 473, with a similar pattern in the young Sod2-Tg myoblasts, but S473 is not activated in Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts at all during differentiation. These findings suggest that activation of Akt at this site may be an underlying defect leading to poor differentiation of the Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts. Phosphorylation of Akt at threonine 308 occurs late in the differentiation time course in wild-type young myoblasts and is blunted in the Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts. In the young Sod2-Tg myoblasts, Akt is phosphorylated at T308 before differentiation and the levels of phosphorylation fall during the differentiation time course. In general, the role of this phosphorylation site is less well studied in muscle differentiation.

The most striking finding in Figure 4.2B is the abundant and unchanging levels of p-Akt at both S473 and T308 in the aged myoblasts. In all three genotypes, Akt phosphorylation is insensitive to differentiation vs. growth conditions, suggesting a generalized dysregulation of Akt signaling.

118



(A) Phosphorylation of Akt at Ser473 and Thr308 during differentiation of young myoblasts. Boxed lanes are loading controls for each gel. P-Akt in Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts is significantly lower than wild-type and Sod2Tg during muscle differentiation.

(B) Phosphorylation of Akt at Ser473 and Thr308 of aged myoblasts during differentiation. Globally, Akt in aged myoblasts is constitutively active regardless of genotype.

(C) The quantitation of western results shown in (B) (*p<0.05 compared to wild-type young; **p<0.05 compared to aged wild-type).

Downstream targets of the PI3K/Akt pathway are known to be important regulators of both protein synthesis and degradation. The activation of mTOR and S6K through PI3K/Akt are considered sufficient for protein synthesis (Bodine et al., 2001; Rommel et al., 2001; Mieulet et al., 2007; Ohanna et al., 2005). FOXOs are phosphorylated and inactivated through PI3K/Akt, keeping FOXOs sequestered outside the nucleus (Takaishi et al., 1999; Burgering and Kops, 2002). With this background in mind, we studied activation of these downstream targets starting at the time at which Akt S473 is phosphorylated during muscle differentiation *in vitro* in all the young myoblast genotypes. In myoblasts from young mice, phosphorylation of mTOR (at S2448) increased at the 72 hour time point, and both the transgenic and Sod2^{+/-} young myoblasts showed a similar pattern (Figure 4.3A). Total mTOR also increased at the 72 hour time point, to similar amounts in all three genotypes. Though total mTOR levels increased in

myoblasts from aged mice during differentiation, phosphorylated mTOR remained at very low levels through differentiation in aged myoblasts of all three genotypes. The abundance of phosphorylated S6K at serine 389 increased slightly in differentiating young wild-type myoblasts. [The phosphorylated protein appeared as doublets in the western blots, as in other reports (Kuzman et al., 2007).] Phosphorylation of S6K S389 was decreased at 72 hours in the young Sod2Tg myoblasts (with the upper band barely detectable) and was barely detectable throughout differentiation in the Sod2^{+/-} young myoblasts. Though factors other than Akt can impact activation of mTOR and S6K, these studies suggest that that the impaired activation of Akt in the Sod2^{+/-} young myoblasts has more effect on S6K activation than on mTOR activation. Aging was associated with significant reductions in total S6K and in phosphorylated S6K in all genotypes. In particular, at the 72 hour time point, aged wild-type and Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts had undetectable levels of the phosphorylated S6K, but the Sod2Tg aged myoblasts had a detectable band (Figure 4.3B).

Total and phosphorylated FOXO1 levels were unchanged during differentiation in myoblasts from young mice, independent of genotype. Total levels of FOXO1 were less in aged wild-type and Sod2Tg myoblasts compared to young myoblasts, whereas total levels of FOXO1 were similar in aged and young Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts. However, phosphorylated FOXO1 abundance was significantly reduced with aging (compared to young cells) across genotypes.



(A) Phosphorylation of selected downstream targets of Akt: mTOR, S6K and FOXO1 in young myoblasts during differentiation reveals decreased activation of mTOR and S6K in young Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts.
(B) Activation of mTOR and S6K in all aged myoblasts is significantly lower than in young wild-type myoblasts. There was no significant difference in these parameters between aged myoblasts as a function of Sod2 status.
(C) Quantitation of western blotting results (as in B) at then 72 hr differentiation time point (*p<0.05 compared to wild-type young; **p<0.05 compared to aged wild-type).

Fiber cross-sectional area and muscle mass with aging

Both protein synthesis defects and increased protein breakdown contribute to muscle atrophy with aging (Husom et al., 2004), which can be measured using the cross sectional area of muscle fibers. (Sod2^{+/-} mice were not available for these studies.) As others have shown, the cross-sectional area of tibialis anterior muscle fibers fell dramatically with aging in both wild-type and Sod2Tg mice, but in both age groups the fiber size of Sod2Tg mice was greater. Mean area of fibers (\pm S.D.) in young wild-type sections was 1315 \pm 656 vs. 1498 \pm 662 µm² in young Sod2Tg fibers (p=2.4e⁻¹⁸). In old wild-type muscle, mean area of fibers was 512 \pm 141 vs. 621 \pm 149 µm² in old Sod2Tg fibers (p=2.8e⁻⁴²). Though the transgenic fibers were larger, the percentage loss of fiber area with aging in Sod2Tg and wild-type mice was identical. Mean weight of gastrocnemius muscles in 5 month old wild-type male animals was 0.29 ± 0.01 vs. 0.28 ± 0.01 grams in the Sod2Tg, with no difference in the body weights of the mice. No difference in muscle weights emerged with aging: In 27 month old mice the weight of wild-type gastrocnemius muscles fell to 0.27 ± 0.01 g and transgenic muscle weighed 0.25 ± 0.01 grams.

MnSOD protein abundance and enzyme activity

MnSOD in whole myoblast lysates was assessed using western blotting (Figures 4.4A & 4.4B) and enzyme activity was assayed in the various myoblasts as a function of aging (Figure 4.4C). In myoblasts from young mice, as anticipated, MnSOD was 1.3-fold more abundant in Sod2Tg myoblasts than in wild-type myoblasts (p=0.04), and in myoblasts from young Sod2^{+/-} mice, MnSOD was 0.6 that of wild-type levels (p=0.007). This pattern of MnSOD expression in myoblasts is similar to that previously reported in total muscle lysates from the same mouse colony (Van Remmen, et al., 1999). In myoblasts from aged mice, MnSOD decreased in wild-type and Sod2Tg cells, but not significantly in the Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts. Myoblasts from aged Sod2Tg mice had virtually the same amount of MnSOD as wild-type young myoblasts, though the decrease in protein was significant in the Sod2Tg myoblasts as a function of age (p=0.04). Absolute amounts of MnSOD in the aged myoblasts were greatest in the Sod2Tg (p<0.05 compared to the aged wild-type and to aged Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts), but aged wild-type and Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts had similar levels of MnSOD (p=0.50).



(A) Western blotting confirms that SOD2 protein levels are increased in the transgenic myoblasts and decreased in the Sod2^{+/-} cells.

Myoblasts

(B) Quantitation of western results from (A). Data are expressed as foldchange compared to wild-type (young) myoblasts (*p<0.05 compared to wild-type young; **p<0.05 compared to aged wild-type).

(C) SOD2 enzyme activity in myoblasts (*p<0.05 compared to wild-type

young; **p<0.05 compared to aged wild-type).

Myoblasts

MnSOD activity was significantly higher, as expected based on protein levels, in the young Sod2Tg myoblasts compared to wild-type and Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts (Figure 4.4C), about 2-fold more than wild-type (p=0.008). MnSOD activity in Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts was about 0.8 that of wild-type myoblasts (p=0.012). In aged myoblasts, the sustained protein-level expression of MnSOD in the Sod2Tg myoblasts looks at first not to be accompanied by an equivalent maintenance of enzyme activity (comparing Figures 4.4B and 4.4C). Given that the correlation between protein expression and activity of MnSOD was strong generally (r^2 =0.858), these data suggest that the catalytic efficiency of the transgenic enzyme diminished with aging. However, in absolute terms, MnSOD activity in the old Sod2Tg myoblasts was equivalent to that of the young wild-type myoblasts, while aged wild-type or aged Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts had significantly less activity than that of young wild-type myoblasts (p=0.03).

Intracellular ROS levels in myoblasts as a function of Sod2 expression

Superoxide anion in myoblasts was quantified using indirect fluorescence with MitoSox (Invitrogen). MitoSox is considered to be mitochondrion-specific: Reaction of superoxide in mitochondria with the dye causes fluorescence emission (Mukhopadhyay et al., 2007). As a reference for these reactions, a dose response curve of MitoSox fluorescence with increasing concentrations of rotenone was generated using young wild-type myoblasts (Figure 4.5A, left). Rotenone is a specific inhibitor of complex I and causes increased superoxide generation from mitochondria (Kushnareva et al., 2002). Myoblasts from young wild-type mice and from young Sod2Tg mice generated equivalent amounts of superoxide, with Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts from young mice generating about 20% more (p=0.046), (Fig 4.5A, right). Aged wild-type and aged Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts did not have a significantly different pattern of superoxide levels than young genotype-matched myoblasts, but superoxide production of aged Sod2Tg myoblasts was about 40% less than that from young Sod2Tg myoblasts (p=0.008). Though myoblasts from young Sod2^{+/-} mice exhibited the highest levels of superoxide of the young myoblasts, aged wild-type myoblasts exhibited similar superoxide levels to aged Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts.

The most commonly used measure of intracellular ROS in cultured cells is indirect fluorescence proportional to oxidative reaction of the dye CM-H₂DCFH, which is very sensitive to peroxide levels. For CM-H₂DCFH assays of ROS, increasing concentrations of the glutathione scavenger, BSO (buthionine sulfoxide), were used as a reference (Figure 4.5B, left). Young wild-type and young Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts had similar levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS) using this assay (p=0.11), but the myoblasts from young Sod2Tg mice contained significantly more ROS, likely reflecting excess H₂O₂ levels (p=0.008 compared to young wild-type), similar to wild-type cells treated with 0.5 mM BSO. With aging, intracellular ROS were not changed from young values in wild-type myoblasts (p=0.42). However, Sod2Tg and Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts from aged animals had significantly less ROS than genotype-matched young myoblasts (p<0.05 for both). The pattern of increased ROS in young Sod2Tg myoblasts compared to the wild-type and Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts was reversed with aging, and myoblasts



(HO•) measured using CM-H₂DCFH fluorescence. Left: For reference,

intracellular ROS of wild-type (young) myoblasts treated with increasing concentrations of BSO.

from aged Sod2Tg animals had similar ROS compared with aged wild-type myoblasts (p=0.135) and aged Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts (p=0.152).

The relative abundance of mitochondria in myoblasts

Because MnSOD is exclusively a mitochondrial protein, we were interested in normalizing our results to some measure of mitochondrial abundance. Mitochondrial DNA and chromosomal DNA abundance were compared using quantitative PCR methods adapted from the literature. Four regions of mtDNA that have low susceptibility to mutation with aging were selected for qRT-PCR amplification (Vaillant and Nagley, 1995; Miller et al., 2003). The four different primer sets and probes used to amplify these regions are shown in Table 2.2. In general, the four probes generated very similar quantitative information, giving confidence in the approach (Figure 4.6). In myoblasts from young animals, wild-type cells had greatest density of mitochondria with Sod2^{+/-} mitochondrial density intermediate and Sod2Tg lowest. (The three young groups are all significantly different from each other.) Among aged myoblasts, wild-type and Sod2^{+/-} showed significantly decreased mitochondrial abundance compared to the young genotype counterparts. In myoblasts from aged wild-type mice the ratio of mitochondrial:genomic DNA was only 15% that of young wild-type myoblasts (0.14 \pm 0.04 vs. 1.02 \pm 0.14, p=0.014). With aging, Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts also showed significantly decreased ratios of mitochondrial:genomic DNA (p=0.014 & p=0.05), similar to wild-type. Surprisingly, Sod2Tg myoblasts had an increased mitochondrial genomic DNA

ratio with aging. Of the myoblasts from aged animals, Sod2Tg myoblasts had the most mitochondria, with a 2.5-fold increase in the mitochondrial:genomic DNA ratio from that of young Sod2Tg myoblasts (p=0.03).

PGC1α, a controller of mitochondrial biogenesis, is not regulated in parallel to myoblast mitochondrial density in aged myoblasts

Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- γ -coactivator-1 α (PGC1 α) levels in myoblasts were measured by western blotting, using whole cell lysates. PGC1 α is upregulated by a variety of stressors including oxidant stress and promotes mitochondrial biogenesis (Puigserver et al., 1998; Wu et al., 1999; Lehman et al., 2000; Lin et al., 2002). In myoblasts from young mice, relative PGC1 α levels followed the same pattern as the mitochondrial:genomic DNA ratios, with the least expression of PGC1 α in young Sod2Tg myoblasts (Figure 4.6B). PGC1 α expression increased with age in the Sod2Tg myoblasts, increased to a lesser degree in the Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts, but was unchanged from young levels in wild-type myoblasts. The higher levels of PGC1 α in Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts were insufficient to maintain mitochondrial mass with aging, whereas the high levels of PGC1 α in the Sod2Tg myoblasts were associated with maintained mitochondrial mass (Figure 4.6).

Mitochondrial enzyme activity

Myoblast mitochondrial function was assessed by measuring aconitase and SDH enzyme activity (Figure 4.6D & 4.6E). Aconitase is a specific target of



(A) Mt:genomic DNA ratio assayed by qRT-PCR. For each condition, the four bars indicate results using four distinct primer sets. Normal myoblast aging is associated with significant loss of mitochondrial mass, which was blunted by SOD2 overexpression.

(*p<0.05 compared to wild-type young; **p<0.05 compared to aged wild-type).

(B) PGC-1 α abundance (by western blotting) increases most dramatically with aging in the Sod2Tg cells.

(C) Quantification of PGC-1 α western blots from (B) (*p<0.05 compared to wild-type young; **p<0.05 compared to aged wild-type).

(D) Aconitase activity (*p<0.05 compared to wild-type young; **p<0.05 compared to aged wild-type) is highest in Sod2Tg myoblasts.

(E) Succinate dehydrogenase activity (*p<0.05 compared to wild-type

young; **p<0.05 compared to aged wild-type) does not correlate with

aconitase activity, but is best preserved with aging in the Sod2Tg myoblasts.

oxidative damage (Fridovich, 2004). Aconitase activity appears to be preserved by overexpression of MnSOD in myoblasts from both young and aged mice, as the transgenic mice had highest levels in young and old groups. Aconitase activity fell significantly in all myoblasts, including in the Sod2Tg myoblasts, suggesting that the MnSOD levels in these aged myoblasts could not overcome accumulation of oxidant damage mediated by other age-related factors. Nonetheless, the aconitase activity in myoblasts from aged Sod2Tg was close to that of young wild-type myoblasts (p=0.97). The tricarboxylic acid enzyme, succinate dehydrogenase (SDH) is also a target of oxidative stress. SDH activity assays showed that overexpression of MnSOD contributed to preserved SDH enzyme function with aging. The pattern of SDH activity in myoblasts from young animals did not, however, track with MnSOD levels.

Discussion

Myoblast function is critical for normal repair and replacement of skeletal muscle throughout life. These studies confirm that the normal aging phenotype of myoblast progenitors is characterized by loss of proliferation in response to mitogens in culture, and reduced ability to form myotubes when mitogens are withdrawn, both features thought to reflect the impaired repair capacity of skeletal muscle with aging. Similar loss of differentiation potential with aging in mice has been well-documented by many groups (Brack and Rando, 2007) and in human myoblasts (Bigot et al., 2008). In our studies in wild-type myoblasts, normal aging was also associated with loss of MnSOD activity and a corresponding increase in intracellular superoxide levels, consistent with the pattern of whole muscle in these animals (Mansouri et al., 2006). Recent work suggests that aged muscle does not necessarily produce more superoxide than young muscle (Close et al., 2007) but whole muscle and the myoblast compartment may not necessarily follow the same pattern. Our studies also suggest that the massive differentiation defects in young Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts are not exaggerated with age despite the documented sensitivity of the Sod2^{+/-} animals to oxidant stress — The
differences between wild-type and Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts are generally not exacerbated as the animals age.

Interestingly, proliferation was impaired in both young Sod2Tg and Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts compared to wild-type, and deteriorated with aging in both, suggesting that both excess superoxide and excess hydrogen peroxide negatively affect proliferative responses. Overexpression of MnSOD resulted in increased intracellular hydrogen peroxide similar to that seen in glutathione peroxidase-1 (Gpx1) knockout myoblasts that proliferate less in culture than wild-type myoblasts (Lee et al., 2006). Overexpression of MnSOD throughout the lifetime of the myoblast did not protect against aging-induced proliferative defects, as it did against aging-associated defects in differentiation. The relative preservation of morphologic differentiation in the Sod2Tg myoblasts despite elevated intracellular peroxide levels is distinct from the pattern seen in GPx1-null myoblasts (Lee et al., 2006) suggesting that H₂O₂ alone is not the major cause of the differentiation dysfunction seen in the Gpx1-null myoblasts.

Given the central importance of insulin signaling in muscle differentiation and maintenance, we examined downstream targets of insulin signaling that are particularly important for protein synthesis, muscle regeneration, and therefore maintenance of muscle mass. Akt is at the center of this pathway, activating mTOR and protein synthesis, and regulating the forkhead factors, which repress gluconeogenesis. Inactivation of PI3K/Akt pathway (decreased p-Akt) results in dephosphorylation of FOXO transcription factors, which activates muscle atrophy-inducing ubiquitin-ligases such as Atrogin-1 and MuRF1 (Sandri et al., 2004; Stitt et al., 2004; Leger et al., 2006). FOXO transcription factors are also post-translationally regulated by oxidative stress (Brunet et al., 2004; Bakker et al., 2007). However, changes of these important signaling pathways have often been studied using immortalized cell lines (Sandri et al., 2004; Wilson and Rotwein, 2007; Diel et al., 2008) rather than primary myoblasts as used here, or in whole muscle (Gomes et al., 2001; Stitt et al., 2004; Leger et al., 2006).

The PI3K/Akt pathway was significantly altered by haplo-insufficiency of Sod2 in young myoblasts, but again these defects were not amplified with aging in the Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts. The effects of aging on this pathway, with constitutive activation of Akt, apparently override the differences caused by reduced MnSOD levels. mTOR and S6K, downstream targets of Akt which are essential for protein synthesis, were also less phosphorylated during differentiation in Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts compared to wild-type controls, suggesting that the signaling pathway is a target of superoxide that affects differentiation. However, an unexpected finding was that FOXO1 activation was not impacted by Sod2 expression, though it has been reported to be regulated in other contexts by oxidant signaling.

We used quantitative PCR to estimate mitochondrial mass, and were surprised to see significantly less mitochondrial:genomic DNA ratios in myoblasts from young Sod2Tg animals compared to wild-type. The aconitase and SDH activity levels were not reduced to the same degree as mitochondrial mass suggesting that mitochondrial function is enhanced by transgenic overexpression of MnSOD, at least in young animals. The most surprising finding in our studies was the suggestion that MnSOD overexpression may mediate preservation and of mitochondrial mass with aging in the muscle progenitor population, an observation that deserves further study. This finding may simply be a reflection of the increased scavenging of superoxide locally in the mitochondria by the overexpressed MnSOD. The relatively high mitochondrial:genomic DNA ratios in the old Sod2Tg myoblasts was associated with relatively preserved mitochondrial function compared to the other genotypes with aging. Though the mitochondrial mass was preserved, whole muscle mass was not preserved in the transgenic animals. Nonetheless, the preserverd mitochondrial mass may have important effects on muscle and systemic metabolic function, and deserves further study.

Previous studies suggest that the activity of PGC-1 α decreases in whole muscle during aging (Chabi et al., 2007). In contrast, we found that wild-type myoblasts have unchanged levels of PGC-1 α with aging while both Sod2Tg and Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts had elevated PGC-1 α compared to their young counterparts, suggesting that PGC-1 α is sensitive to both increased superoxide and increased hydrogen peroxide even in the context of the oxidized aged muscle environment. The differences in patterns of PGC-1 α expression with aging in published reports and our data may be due to the differences between whole muscle vs. the progenitor population. Further study will be necessary to examine mitochondrial biogenesis vs. degradation as a function of aging and overexpression of MnSOD.

Use of primary myoblasts from the genetically manipulated animals allowed us to distinguish the effects of MnSOD levels on the progenitor cell population from those on the whole organ (muscle). However, a major limitation of these studies is that only cell-intrinsic effects can be measured, and we have

136

not yet examined the impact of altered MnSOD levels on the microenvironment of myoblasts. Nonetheless, overall our study suggests muscle differentiation is very sensitive to oxidant stress, both the oxidant stress of normal aging, and the specific stresses mediated by manipulating MnSOD levels. Further the results suggest that methods to enhance MnSOD function could benefit muscle regeneration in aged subjects, regeneration that is necessary to regain function and strength after trauma, surgery, or prolonged bedrest. The data suggest that MnSOD mediates its beneficial effects on muscle differentiation acutely at least in part through the Akt pathway, and chronically may also promote mitochondrial biogenesis.

Chapter 5: Aberrant HIF-1α expression in response to oxygen in Sod1 heterozygote myoblasts

Introduction

Superoxide dismutase-1 (Sod1 or CuZnSOD) is a ubiquitous, primarily cytosolic enzyme also localized to the intermembrane spaces of mitochondria, which catalyzes the dismutation of superoxide anion (O_2^{-}) into hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) and oxygen. Sod1 homozygous knockout (Sod1^{-/-}) mice develop normally and appear healthy at birth (Reaume et al., 1996). However, oxidative stress-induced damage results in multiorgan dysfunction and degenerative changes. On a B6 background, hepatocellular carcinoma is common by 20 months of age in Sod1^{-/-} mice (Elchuri, et al., 2005).

Motor neurons are particularly susceptible to loss of CuZnSOD, and loss of muscle mass is thought to be largely secondary to distal axonal loss. On a B6 background, Sod1^{-/-} mice have profound muscle loss, and more severe agerelated sarcopenia than wild-type mice (Muller et al., 2006). On ultrastructural examination, skeletal muscle defects are subtle with mean fiber cross-sectional area preserved. However, fiber grouping of fast 2a fibers suggests injury secondary to denervation, and some muscles show evidence of rounds of degeneration/regeneration (Kostrominova et al., 2007).

Many defects in CuZnSOD-manipulated mice suggest that physiologic responses to hypoxia, coordinated by hypoxia-inducible factor-1 α (HIF-1 α) are impaired. Sod1^{-/-} mice, for example, have cerebral arteriolar hypertrophy (Baumbach et al., 2006), and disordered central control of hypoxic ventilatory responses (Cummings et al., 2008). Furthermore, endogenous VEGF protects against motor neuron loss in mouse ALS models (Lambrechts et al., 2003) that

have increased oxidant stress (Marden et al., 2007). For these reasons, we examined the effects of reduced Sod1 expression on myoblasts from CuZnSOD-deficient mice, with a focus on expression of HIF-1 α .

Results

Sod1^{-/-} myoblasts do not survive in culture

Many attempts were made to culture myoblasts from Sod1^{-/-} mice *in vitro*, but could not achieve survival despite culture in low oxygen conditions and supplementing the medium with NAC or catalase, and in spite of our extensive experience isolating myoblasts from other antioxidant-deficient mice (Lee et al., 2006). For this reason we conducted all the studies using myoblasts from Sod1^{+/-} mice.

Intracellular superoxide levels in Sod1^{+/-} myoblasts

Intracellular superoxide was measured using fluorescence of the superoxide-sensitive dye, dihydroethidium (DHET). Superoxide production in Sod1^{+/-} myoblasts was about 20% higher than in wild-type myoblasts mice (p=0.03, Figure 5.1).

Morphologic differentiation of Sod1^{+/-} myoblasts in various oxygen concentrations

Normal terminal differentiation of myoblasts in culture involves fusion of single-cell myoblasts into multinucleate myotubes, and coordinated upregulation



of myosin heavy chain (MHC). When subjected to differentiation conditions, Sod1^{+/-} myoblasts exhibited obvious defects compared to wild-type myoblasts in a wide range of ambient oxygen concentrations, with significantly less morphologic differentiation into myotubes (Figure 5.2). These morphologic observations are confirmed by calculating the fusion index (FI), which also showed that the optimal oxygen concentration for differentiation of wild-type and Sod1^{+/-} myoblasts was different. FI of wild-type myoblasts was lowest in 0% oxygen (23.6 \pm 6.1%) but the survival of the cells in these conditions confirms other reports that normal myoblasts are hypoxia-tolerant. The highest FI in wildtype myoblasts was observed in 5% (approximate physiologic levels), 10% and 20% oxygen, with no significant difference over this range. Sod1^{+/-} myoblasts had a FI of virtually zero in 0% oxygen (0.84 \pm 0.19). Sod1^{+/-} myoblast FI was highest in 10% and 20% oxygen, but only ~25% of cells were in differentiated myotubes at the end of 3 days of differentation. Most importantly, at all oxygen concentrations, fusion indices were reduced in Sod1^{+/-} myoblasts compared to wild-type controls. At best FI of Sod1^{+/-} myoblasts was only 35% that of wild-type cells (Figure 5.2B).

Differentiation potential (DP) is a complementary method of quantifying efficiency of differentiation, and DP of Sod1^{+/-} myoblasts was also lower than that of wild-type cells over the entire oxygen range. The DP of wild-type myoblasts, as expected, was lowest in 0% oxygen. In these conditions 69.8 ± 5.6% of cells expressed MHC. Comparing this number to the FI in 0% oxygen, many more cells turned on MHC than were incorporated into myotubes, suggesting that MHC was prematurely turned on, not coordinated with fusion. DP of Sod1^{+/-} myoblasts was lowest in 0% oxygen. The highest DP in wild-type myoblasts was observed in 5% oxygen (88.54 ± 0.49), and decreased gradually in 10% (82.49 ± 0.97, p=0.018 compared to 5%) and 20% oxygen (77.52 ± 0.27, p=0.001 compared to 5%). At best, DP of Sod1^{+/-} was about 40% of that of wild-type (Figure 5.2C).





(A) Myoblasts were differentiated in various oxygen concentrations for 3 days *in vitro*. Immunostaining for myosin heavy chain (MHC, red) was used to mark differentiated cells. Blue is the nuclear stain, DAPI. (B) Quantitation of fusion index (FI) using data derived from micrographs as in A. Fusion index (FI) = [(Number of nuclei in MF 20-stained myotubes with \geq 2 nuclei/ Total number of nuclei) × 100]. At least 500 cells were counted in each of 2 experiments. Data are expressed as mean ± S.E. (C) Differentiation potential (DP) was calculated as follows: [(Number of nuclei in MF20-stained cells/Total number of nuclei)] X100. Data are mean ± SE, n=2 for each genotype.

Myoblast HIF-1α abundance in various oxygen conditions

HIF-1 α expression patterns were significantly different in wild-type vs. Sod1^{+/-} myoblasts as a function of oxygen concentration at day 3 in DM (Figure 5. 3). Wild-type myoblasts had similar HIF-1 α protein levels in 20% and 10% oxygen. In lower oxygen concentration, as expected, HIF-1 α expression increased. In 5% oxygen, HIF-1 α protein was about 40% more abundant in wildtype myoblasts than in 20% oxygen, and expression was highest in 2% oxygen. In the extreme hypoxic condition (~0% oxygen), HIF-1 α expression of wild-type myoblasts was similar to that in 20% oxygen (p=0.25).

HIF-1 α protein-level expression was higher in Sod1^{+/-} myoblasts than in wild-type in all oxygen conditions except 0% oxygen. However, the expression pattern over the oxygen concentration range suggested dysregulation of HIF-1 α expression in these cells. In general, higher oxygen concentrations were associated with higher HIF-1 α expression, opposite of expected expression patterns that are central to physiologic responses to hypoxia.

Myogenin expression in various oxygen environments

Myogenin is a member of the MyoD family of basic helix-loop-helix myogenic transcription factors and is up-regulated in the later phases of muscle differentiation. Previous work showed that myogenin mRNA levels in whole muscle of Sod1^{+/-} mice (but not MyoD levels) were upregulated relative to wildtype muscle (Kostrominova et al., 2007). In contrast we found that myoblasts from Sod1^{+/-} mice expressed significantly lower levels of myogenin protein overall than the wild-type myoblasts (Figure 5.3). In wild-type myoblasts, myogenin expression was dramatically less in 20% oxygen than in lower oxygen concentrations after 3 days in differentiation conditions. Myogenin protein was only clearly detectable in Sod1^{+/-} myoblasts in 10% oxygen. The generally lower levels of myogenin expression in Sod1^{+/-} myoblasts may simply be a reflection of the poor differentation of these cells.





type myoblasts after three days of differentiation. β -tubulin was used as a

loading control. Data are mean (fold-change) ± S.E.

Discussion

Differentiation of Sod1-deficient myoblasts was significantly impaired in vitro, suggesting an intrinsic effect of the induced oxidant stress on the progenitor compartment of muscle, in addition to the reported muscle loss secondary to oxidant-induced peripheral neuropathy (Chen et al., 2007). The reduced myogenin expression in Sod1^{+/-} myoblasts is unlikely to contribute to the defect in differentiation, as recent studies suggest that postnatal muscle regeneration (and myoblast differentiation *in vitro*) is not dependent on myogenin expression, and other MyoD family members compensate for myogenin loss (Meadows et al., 2008). However, the reduced myogenin expression is consistent with our prior work in transformed myoblasts that showed reduced message-level expression of myogenin in 20% oxygen (vs. 6%) and dramatically reduced expression when the cells were exposed to 25 μ M H₂O₂ (Hansen et al., 2007). The observed myogenin expression pattern in the Sod1^{+/-} myoblasts was different from that reported in whole muscle of these mice (Kostrominova et al., 2007) but regulation of myogenin in myoblasts may be distinct from that in whole muscle.

Reduced differentiation potentials of the Sod1-deficient myoblasts is not surprising, as we have seen similar differentiation defects in Sod2-deficient (in preparation) and glutathione peroxidase-1 null myoblasts (Lee et al., 2006). Taken together these data suggest that the molecular controls over skeletal muscle differentiation and myoblast fusion are highly sensitive to increased superoxide and increased peroxide levels.

Dysregulation of HIF-1 α expression in Sod1^{+/-} myoblasts was unexpected. Regulation of HIF-1a expression as a function of oxygen conditions is wellstudied, but regulation by reactive oxygen species is less well-characterized, though in conditions of generalized oxidant stress, HIF-1a expression is often increased (Chandel et al., 2000; Duyndam et al., 2001; Mansfield et al., 2005). It is more difficult to find literature in which superoxide regulation of HIF-1 α has been assayed, and this literature does not yield a clear picture. In vascular cells exposed to superoxide, HIF-1a expression is reduced (Wellman et al., 2004). In the MCF cancer cell line, acute increases in superoxide result in amplified HIF-1a upregulation in hypoxic conditions (Kaewpila et al., 2008). These studies used relatively acute superoxide exposures. In our studies, chronic exposure of myoblasts to increased superoxide levels due to genetic manipulation of Sod1 led to a pathologic HIF-1 α response to oxygen levels, and apparent inability of the cells to respond to hypoxic conditions. Although speculative, our results suggest that HIF-1 α dysregulation should be studied in other organs affected by Sod1 deficiency, especially because HIF-1 α is a master regulator of physiologic responses to oxygen and is central to regenerative processes (Liu et al., 2008). In particular, work in C2C12 myoblasts suggests that HIF-1 α is expressed at very low levels while myoblasts are proliferating in culture, but is obligatorily upregulated as the cells differentiate (Ono et al., 2006). These findings suggest that the abnormal regulation of HIF-1 α in response to normal cues in the Sod1^{+/-}

myoblasts may be a factor in their defective differentiation especially since the efficiency of muscle differentiation is oxygen dependent (Yun et al., 2005).

Chapter 6: Discussion

Oxidative stress and muscle progenitor cell function

ROS have been implicated in the pathophysiology of many diseases. However, the effect of ROS on muscle progenitor cells has not been extensively studied. The broad goal of this dissertation work was to provide greater insight into the role of ROS in every aspect of muscle progenitor cell biology using primary myoblasts isolated from genetically manipulated mice. The specific goals of this dissertation were to characterize the effect of anti-oxidant enzyme deficiency or overexpression on primary myoblast phenotype and gene expression patterns. The first aim of this dissertation was to characterize the effect of Gpx1 deficiency on myoblasts. The data presented in Chapter 3 support a role for global effects of ROS on progenitor cell function, as the deficiency of Gpx1 impairs all examined aspects of myoblast function and imposes an early senescence phenotype in whole muscle. We have shown that proliferation and differentiation are critically defective, and the threshold for apoptosis is low in cultured Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts from young animals. Additionally, the cross sectional area of muscle fibers of Gpx1^{-/-} is smaller than wild-type and muscle accumulates lipofuscin in young Gpx1^{-/-} mice. The data presented in Chapter 4 showed that Sod2 overexpression preserves myoblast mitochondrial mass and function, but not muscle mass with aging. We also demonstrated that there were downsides to Sod2 overexpression, likely because the overexpression of the enzyme results in increased intracellular H_2O_2 or decreased superoxide anions. Thus, although ROS in the form of superoxide is decreased, the overall balance of ROS in the cells is disrupted. As a result of this imbalance, we uncovered some impairment

of cellular function such as proliferation. The data presented in Chapter 5 indicate that Sod1 deficiency also impairs muscle differentiation, a common feature of antioxidant deletion. In preliminary studies, our results suggest that Sod1^{+/-} myoblasts have a distinctly abnormal response to oxygen concentration, with disruption of HIF-1 α expression responses that immediate many critical physiologic responses to oxygen. Overall, the data presented in this dissertation identify many and broad effects of ROS in muscle differentiation and highlight distinct effects of particular ROS specific to myoblasts. The implications of these studies for other progenitor populations can only be guessed, but these studies can serve as a basis for further studies of the effects of ROS generally on stem cell function.

Redox regulation of proliferation

Young Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts showed profoundly decreased the proliferation in culture. Because proliferation can be matrix dependent, we attempted to rescue the proliferation defect by exposing the cells to different matrices. None of the matrices afforded significant rescue, and proliferation was consistently impaired compared to wild-type myoblasts, suggesting that the increased intracellular H_2O_2 or product negatively regulates myoblast proliferation. Consistent with results in the Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts, Sod2 overexpression also increased the intracellular H_2O_2 level, and decreased the proliferation of myoblasts, confirming the sensitivity of proliferation of myoblasts to intracellular H_2O_2 levels. Although we did not compare the Sod2 overexpressing and Gpx-null myoblasts directly,

the assays conducted at different times comparing the cells to wild-type cells suggested that the two genetically manipulated cell types had a quantitatively similar decrease in proliferation, although the levels of intracellular H_2O_2 seemed to be higher in Gpx1^{-/-} than Sod2Tg myoblasts. Proliferation of myoblasts was also sensitive to increased levels of superoxide. Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts had similar levels of H_2O_2 but produced about 20% more mitochondrial superoxide compared with wild-type myoblasts. However, proliferation of Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts was higher than that of Gpx1^{-/-} and Sod2Tg cells, and although difficult to directly compare, the data suggest that proliferation of myoblasts may be more sensitive to H_2O_2 than to mitochondrial superoxide.

We, like others, have shown that proliferation of aged wild-type myoblasts is decreased (to about 65% that of young wild-type myoblasts) with aging. Both aged Sod2Tg and Sod2^{+/-} showed decrements in proliferation compared to wild-type with aging. Notably, chronic Sod2 overexpression has no beneficial effect on the proliferation of aged myoblasts. Overall this pattern suggests that the complex accumulation of oxidative damage with aging contributes to a decreased ability to proliferate, but that a chronic decreased in superoxide does not improve the aging defect. However, chronically increased superoxide and hydrogen peroxide in the mutant myoblasts does not provide an enormous added burden compared to the complex changes that occur with aging.

Redox regulation of differentiation of muscle progenitor cells

Differentiation of cells accompanies cell cycle withdrawal both in development of many lineages and in differentiation of myoblasts in culture. Differentiating myoblasts in vitro undergo a requisite withdrawal from the cell cycle, before they fuse and turn on myogenic regulatory factors in a highly specific manner. Striking differentiation defects were seen in all the antioxidant gene-manipulated myoblasts. The most defective differentiation was in Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts, then Sod2Tq, then Sod2 $^{+/-}$ and Sod1 $^{+/-}$ compared to wild-type myoblasts. The severe differentiation defect observed in Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts was somewhat surprising, since Gpx1 is only one of a family of genes that have the same enzymatic function. The Gpx1-deletion defect might be partly attributable to dysregulation of myogenic transcription factors, since the temporal sequence of expression of these genes and their coordination is critical to normal differentiation. Our PCR data showed that the genes were not underexpressed, indicating that Gpx1-null cell failure to generate myotubes is not a classical differentiation defect. Rather it likely represents a fusion defect. This phenotype may relate back to the earliest observation of these cells after their isolation. We saw a clear premature fusion morphologic phenotype, with aberrant formation of myotubes in the presence of a rich mitogen medium. It is likely that the cells that fused could not be passaged (exited the cell cycle), while the population that could be passaged was defective in fusion (and were the ones we analyzed over time). Thus the deletion of Gpx1 may result in two phenotypes in myoblasts – one with premature, inappropriate fusion and one that cannot fuse. We did not observe this kind of heterogeneity of cell populations in the other myoblasts.

Interestingly, aged Sod2Tg myoblasts showed much more myotube formation than other myoblasts from aged mice. (As noted above, in contrast, Sod2 overexpression throughout the lifetime of the myoblast did not protect against aging-induced proliferative defects, as it did against aging-associated defects in differentiation.) The relative preservation of morphologic differentiation in the Sod2Tg myoblasts despite elevated intracellular hydrogen peroxide levels is distinct from the pattern seen in Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts (Lee et al., 2006) suggesting that H₂O₂ alone is not the major cause of the differentiation dysfunction seen in the Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts. It is possible that ROS generated in different subcellular localizations might have a distinct role in myoblasts during differentiation, and the overexpression of enzyme in the mitochondrial compartment over time may have a particularly beneficial effect on differentiation.

Altered signaling pathways induced by oxidative stress in myoblasts

ROS are well characterized for playing a dual role as both detrimental and beneficial, depending on the repertoire and amounts of the different species in the cell. We have shown that the disrupted optimal balance of anti-oxidants resulted in altered intracellular signaling as well as phenotypic changes. We postulated that ROS might change redox-sensitive signaling pathways which are known to function in muscle differentiation, and focused our analysis on specific candidate gene pathways.

First, the oxidative stress induced by Gpx1 deletion resulted in the upregulation of transcription of MRFs. Decreased expression of MRFs was

156

previously described as underlying the classical model of myogenic differentiation defects (Berkes and Tapscott, 2005). In contrast to the classical differentiation defect, message-level expression of MRFs in Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts is up-regulated during differentiation *in vitro*. This may in itself be pathologic. Clearly, the high levels of MRFs in undifferentiated, proliferating myoblasts is abnormal, and the inability to augment this high level expression may play a role in the morphologic differentiation defect we saw. Additional work is needed to fully identify the expression, post-translational modification and interactions of MRFs affected by the deficiency of Gpx1.

Second, the PI3K/Akt pathway was significantly altered specifically in young Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts. This inactivation of Akt was accompanied by less activation of mTOR and S6K compared to Sod2Tg and wild-type myoblasts. The differentiation defect observed in young Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts likely arises in part through this altered Akt pathway. However, the phosphorylation of FOXO1 was not affected by the decreased Akt activation in Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts. It is known that downstream targets of Akt including mTOR, S6K and FOXO1 can be phosphorylated by other kinases (Guertin et al., 2006; Deguil et al., 2008) and may explain these differences in activation of various downstream Akt signals. With aging, the relative Akt inactivation was not further amplified in the Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts. The surprising effects of aging on this pathway, constitutive activation of Akt, apparently override the differences caused by decreased SOD2 levels. However, the downstream targets of Akt including mTOR, S6K and FOXO1 showed much less phosphorylation in all aged genotype myoblasts in spite of the

constitutive activation of Akt. Thus, aging superimposed a dysregulation of the normal relationship between Akt and its downstream targets, but our work did not address a cause for this dysregulation. Nonetheless, our results are consistent with previous reports support that aging is associated with decreased phosphorylation of S6K even with high activation of Akt in whole muscle (Li et al., 2003c).

We also showed that Sod1 haplo-deficiency in myoblasts may impose altered sensing of oxygen via the master regulator, HIF-1 α . HIF-1 α is the central molecule involved in physiologic responses to oxygen, and functions as a redox sensor (Chandel et al., 2000; Duyndam et al., 2001; Mansfiled et al., 2005). The Sod1^{+/-} myoblasts have aberrantly increased HIF-1 α expression in high oxygen concentrations compared to the normal pattern of high-level expression in low oxygen concentrations. In terms of phenotype, Sod1+/- myoblasts demonstrated severely defective differentiation in all oxygen concentrations compared to wildtype. With these preliminary data we cannot directly prove how the alteration of HIF-1 α signaling contributes to the fusion/differentiation defect of Sod1^{+/-} myoblasts. Nonetheless, the reversal of normal HIF-1 α responsiveness to oxygen in Sod1^{+/-} myoblasts is striking, and deserves further investigation as it may contribute to many physiologic problems in these mice.

Additionally, although mice with complete deletion of SOD1 (Sod1^{-/-}) are viable and develop normally (Matzuk et al., 1998), we were unable to isolate primary myoblasts despite multiple attempts, and despite our experience with other mutant myoblast populations. Sod2^{-/-} deletions are lethal at embryonic or

158

neonatal stages (Li et al., 1995; Huang et al., 2001). But the viability of myoblasts in the Sod2 knockouts could not be evaluated, since we did not have access to these animals.

Mitochondrial biology under oxidative stress

Oxidative damage accumulation in mitochondria in skeletal muscle during aging is well documented including damage to mtDNA, increased carbonylation of proteins and membrane functional damage (Floyd et al., 2001; Stadtman, 2002; Sohal, 2002). However, the role of mitochondria in muscle progenitor cell function with aging is not well-studied. Because stem cells are usually guiescent in adults, energy requirements are low, and mitochondria are less abundant than in fully differentiated and metabolically more active cells. We have shown that the mitochondria mass is unaffected by Gpx1^{-/-} deletion in young mice, in contrast to the significant change observed in both Sod2Tg and Sod2^{+/-} in young myoblasts. These data suggest that the distinct catalytic function of SOD2 and Gpx1 or the subcellular localization of enzymes might be a crucial factor to regulate the mitochondrial mass in myoblasts. With aging, only Sod2Tg myoblasts preserved mitochondrial mass compared, in constrast to the significant decrease observed in wild-type and Sod2^{+/-} myoblasts. (We did not have access to Gpx1-deleted, aged animals.) The expression of PGC1 α , which is known to be sufficient for mitochondrial biogenesis, was also regulated by the overexpression or haplodeficiency of SOD2. In contrast to the down-regulation of PGC1 α in whole muscle with aging (Chabi et al., 2008), there was no significant change of PGC1 α expression in wild-type myoblasts during aging. In both Sod2Tg and Sod2^{+/-}, PGC1 α expression was up-regulated with aging suggesting that PGC1 α expression with aging at the whole muscle level is distinct from the regulation in the myoblast compartment.

Maintenance of muscle mass in vivo

Muscle mass or single muscle fiber size is used for determining the effect of the oxidative stress (or other stresses) on muscle maintenance. Despite the fusion defect observed in Gpx1^{-/-} myoblasts, there was no significant difference of total muscle weight in Gpx1^{-/-} mice compared to wild-type, but these were young animals, and the defect may impose an effect on muscle over time. Originally, we anticipated that Sod2 overexpression would preserve muscle mass with aging. However, despite the preservation of mitochondrial mass and activity in Sod2Tg myoblasts with aging, this effect did not translate into improvement of muscle mass maintenance with aging. The major insights of this work as a whole: The overexpression of Sod2 did not yield a readout that was opposite to that of underexpression of Sod2. These results are understandable since the ROS generated by these manipulations are not just quantitatively different, but are qualitatively different as well.

Another major conclusion from our work is that overexpression of a single powerful antioxidant did not reverse many of the complex decrements in function associated with cellular aging. These results, though perhaps disappointing, are not surprising given the large numbers of clinical studies in which single antioxidant supplementation did not reverse various features of senescence.

These data broadly suggest that many aspects of the mitochondria are altered due to oxidative stress, and may directly impact differentiation. Future directions including high throughput approach to profile the expression of protein and mRNA with mtDNA will be very informative about the role of mitochondria during muscle differentiation and regeneration. In addition, translational approaches to understand the role of mitochondria in muscle differentiation are required. For example, transplantation of myoblasts with enhanced functional mitochondria into mice models of muscle may be an interesting approach.

Therapeutic implications

The data presented in dissertation contribute to understanding the mechanisms of cell responses to altered redox status as well as detrimental effects of ROS in muscle differentiation during aging. This work has some potential therapeutic implications for maintaining regenerative potential of muscle progenitor cells with aging. Muscle loss with aging is traditionally thought to results in part from the decreased numbers and regenerative potential of satellite cells (Yablonka-Reuveni et al., 2006). The connection to oxidant stress is not direct and these losses are loosely attributed to oxidant damage, hormonal changes, and reduced motility associated with aging.

Importantly, our data suggest that Sod2 overexpression preserves the relative abundance of mitochondria, mitochondrial enzyme activity and the core

161

regulator of mitochondrial biogenesis in myoblasts with aging. And though these protective effects of Sod2 overexpression did not prevent muscle loss with aging, regenerative potential of muscle progenitor cells with aging was relatively preserved. Thus, overall the benefit of Sod2 overexpression may be considerable, if regeneration is improved after environmental stresses with aging. Chemical mimics of anti-oxidant enzymes have been developed and tested *in vitro* (Limoli et al., 2006; Day, 2008) and in pre-clinical models of aging associated diseases such as arthritis (Salvemini et al., 2001). Our work suggests that clinical application of Sod2 mimetics will require a careful assessment of the balance between reduction of stem cell proliferative potential vs. differentiation potential.

References

- Accili D, Arden KC (2004). FoxOs at the crossroads of cellular metabolism, differentiation, and transformation. *Cell*. 117, 421-426.
- Aikawa R, Komuro I, Yamazaki T, Zou Y, Kudoh S, Tanaka M, Shiojima I, Hiroi Y, Yazaki Y (1997). Oxidative stress activates extracellular signal-regulated kinases through Src and Ras in cultured cardiac myocytes of neonatal rats. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 100, 1813-1821.
- Alcendor RR, Gao S, Zhai P, Zablocki D, Holle E, Yu X, Tian B, Wagner T, Vatner SF, Sadoshima J (2007). Sirt1 regulates aging and resistance to oxidative stress in the heart. *Circulation research*. 100, 1512-1521.
- Alessi DR, Andjelkovic M, Caudwell B, Cron P, Morrice N, Cohen P, Hemmings BA (1996). Mechanism of activation of protein kinase B by insulin and IGF-1. *The EMBO journal*. 15, 6541-6551.
- Alessi DR, Cohen P (1998). Mechanism of activation and function of protein kinase B. *Current opinion in genetics & development*. 8, 55-62.
- Ali FE, Leung A, Cherny RA, Mavros C, Barnham KJ, Separovic F, Barrow CJ (2006). Dimerisation of N-acetyl-L-tyrosine ethyl ester and Abeta peptides via formation of dityrosine. *Free radical research*. 40, 1-9.
- Allen DL, Roy RR, Edgerton VR (1999). Myonuclear domains in muscle adaptation and disease. *Muscle & nerve*. 22, 1350-1360.
- Allen RE, Sheehan SM, Taylor RG, Kendall TL, Rice GM (1995). Hepatocyte growth factor activates quiescent skeletal muscle satellite cells in vitro. *Journal of cellular physiology*. 165, 307-312.

- Alway SE, Martyn JK, Ouyang J, Chaudhrai A, Murlasits ZS (2003). Id2 expression during apoptosis and satellite cell activation in unloaded and loaded quail skeletal muscles. *American journal of physiology*. 284, R540-549.
- Anderson JE (2000). A role for nitric oxide in muscle repair: nitric oxide-mediated activation of muscle satellite cells. *Molecular biology of the cell*. 11, 1859-1874.
- Angel P, Allegretto EA, Okino ST, Hattori K, Boyle WJ, Hunter T, Karin M
 (1988). Oncogene jun encodes a sequence-specific trans-activator similar
 to AP-1. *Nature*. 332, 166-171.
- Aoki M, Blazek E, Vogt PK (2001). A role of the kinase mTOR in cellular transformation induced by the oncoproteins P3k and Akt. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 98, 136-141.
- Appell HJ, Duarte JA, Soares JM (1997). Supplementation of vitamin E may attenuate skeletal muscle immobilization atrophy. *International journal of sports medicine*. 18, 157-160.
- Arany Z, Foo SY, Ma Y, Ruas JL, Bommi-Reddy A, Girnun G, Cooper M, Laznik
 D, Chinsomboon J, Rangwala SM, Baek KH, Rosenzweig A, Spiegelman
 BM (2008). HIF-independent regulation of VEGF and angiogenesis by the transcriptional coactivator PGC-1alpha. *Nature*. 451, 1008-1012.
- Ardite E, Barbera JA, Roca J, Fernandez-Checa JC (2004). Glutathione depletion impairs myogenic differentiation of murine skeletal muscle

C2C12 cells through sustained NF-kappaB activation. *The American journal of pathology*. 165, 719-728.

- Arnold RS, Shi J, Murad E, Whalen AM, Sun CQ, Polavarapu R, Parthasarathy S, Petros JA, Lambeth JD (2001). Hydrogen peroxide mediates the cell growth and transformation caused by the mitogenic oxidase Nox1. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 98, 5550-5555.
- Asami DK, McDonald RB, Hagopian K, Horwitz BA, Warman D, Hsiao A, Warden C, Ramsey JJ (2008). Effect of aging, caloric restriction, and uncoupling protein 3 (UCP3) on mitochondrial proton leak in mice. *Experimental gerontology*.
- Asikainen TM, Huang TT, Taskinen E, Levonen AL, Carlson E, Lapatto R, Epstein CJ, Raivio KO (2002). Increased sensitivity of homozygous Sod2 mutant mice to oxygen toxicity. *Free radical biology & medicine*. 32, 175-186.
- Aslund F, Zheng M, Beckwith J, Storz G (1999). Regulation of the OxyR transcription factor by hydrogen peroxide and the cellular thiol-disulfide status. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 96, 6161-6165.
- Baker DJ, Hepple RT (2006). Elevated caspase and AIF gene expression correlate with progression of sarcopenia during aging in male F344BN rats. *Experimental gerontology*. 41, 1149-1156.

- Baker SJ, Reddy EP (1998). Modulation of life and death by the TNF receptor superfamily. *Oncogene*. 17, 3261-3270.
- Bakkar N, Wang J, Ladner KJ, Wang H, Dahlman JM, Carathers M, Acharyya S,
 Rudnicki MA, Hollenbach AD, Guttridge DC (2008). IKK/NF-kappaB
 regulates skeletal myogenesis via a signaling switch to inhibit
 differentiation and promote mitochondrial biogenesis. *The Journal of cell biology*. 180, 787-802.
- Bakker WJ, Harris IS, Mak TW (2007). FOXO3a is activated in response to hypoxic stress and inhibits HIF1-induced apoptosis via regulation of CITED2. *Molecular cell*. 28, 941-953.
- Barreiro E, de la Puente B, Busquets S, Lopez-Soriano FJ, Gea J, Argiles JM (2005). Both oxidative and nitrosative stress are associated with muscle wasting in tumour-bearing rats. *FEBS letters*. 579, 1646-1652.
- Barreiro E, de la Puente B, Busquets S, Lopez-Soriano FJ, Gea J, Argiles JM (2005). Both oxidative and nitrosative stress are associated with muscle wasting in tumour-bearing rats. *FEBS letters*. 579, 1646-1652.
- Bar-Shai M, Carmeli E, Coleman R, Rozen N, Perek S, Fuchs D, Reznick AZ (2005). The effect of hindlimb immobilization on acid phosphatase, metalloproteinases and nuclear factor-kappaB in muscles of young and old rats. *Mechanisms of ageing and development*. 126, 289-297.
- Barthel A, Schmoll D, Unterman TG (2005). FoxO proteins in insulin action and metabolism. *Trends in endocrinology and metabolism: TEM.* 16, 183-189.

- Baumbach GL, Didion SP, Faraci FM (2006). Hypertrophy of cerebral arterioles in mice deficient in expression of the gene for CuZn superoxide dismutase. *Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation*. 37, 1850-1855.
- Beckman JS, Esetvez AG, Barbeito L, Crow JP (2002). CCS knockout mice establish an alternative source of copper for SOD in ALS. *Free radical biology & medicine*. 33, 1433-1435.
- Beddington RS, Robertson EJ (1999). Axis development and early asymmetry in mammals. *Cell*. 96, 195-209.
- Bellacosa A, Chan TO, Ahmed NN, Datta K, Malstrom S, Stokoe D, McCormick F, Feng J, Tsichlis P (1998). Akt activation by growth factors is a multiplestep process: the role of the PH domain. *Oncogene*. 17, 313-325.
- Ben-Yair R, Kalcheim C (2005). Lineage analysis of the avian dermomyotome sheet reveals the existence of single cells with both dermal and muscle progenitor fates. *Development (Cambridge, England)*. 132, 689-701.
- Berkes CA, Tapscott SJ (2005). MyoD and the transcriptional control of myogenesis. Seminars in cell & developmental biology. 16, 585-595.
- Bharucha N, Ma J, Dobry CJ, Lawson SK, Yang Z, Kumar A (2008). Analysis of the Yeast Kinome Reveals a Network of Regulated Protein Localization During Filamentous Growth. *Molecular biology of the cell*.
- Bhunia AK, Han H, Snowden A, Chatterjee S (1997). Redox-regulated signaling by lactosylceramide in the proliferation of human aortic smooth muscle cells. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 272, 15642-15649.

- Bianca RV, Wayman NS, McDonald MC, Pinto A, Shape MA, Chatterjee PK, Thiemermann C (2002). Superoxide dismutase mimetic with catalase activity, EUK-134, attenuates the multiple organ injury and dysfunction caused by endotoxin in the rat. *Med Sci Monit*. 8, BR1-7.
- Bibikov SI, Biran R, Rudd KE, Parkinson JS (1997). A signal transducer for aerotaxis in Escherichia coli. *Journal of bacteriology*. 179, 4075-4079.
- Blalock WL, Weinstein-Oppenheimer C, Chang F, Hoyle PE, Wang XY, Algate PA, Franklin RA, Oberhaus SM, Steelman LS, McCubrey JA (1999).
 Signal transduction, cell cycle regulatory, and anti-apoptotic pathways regulated by IL-3 in hematopoietic cells: possible sites for intervention with anti-neoplastic drugs. *Leukemia*. 13, 1109-1166.
- Bober E, Franz T, Arnold HH, Gruss P, Tremblay P (1994). Pax-3 is required for the development of limb muscles: a possible role for the migration of dermomyotomal muscle progenitor cells. *Development (Cambridge, England)*. 120, 603-612.
- Bodine SC, Latres E, Baumhueter S, Lai VK, Nunez L, Clarke BA, Poueymirou
 WT, Panaro FJ, Na E, Dharmarajan K, Pan ZQ, Valenzuela DM, DeChiara
 TM, Stitt TN, Yancopoulos GD, Glass DJ (2001a). Identification of
 ubiquitin ligases required for skeletal muscle atrophy. *Science (New York, N.Y.* 294, 1704-1708.
- Bodine SC, Stitt TN, Gonzalez M, Kline WO, Stover GL, Bauerlein R, Zlotchenko E, Scrimgeour A, Lawrence JC, Glass DJ, Yancopoulos GD (2001b).

Akt/mTOR pathway is a crucial regulator of skeletal muscle hypertrophy and can prevent muscle atrophy in vivo. *Nature cell biology*. 3, 1014-1019.

- Bodnar AG, Ouellette M, Frolkis M, Holt SE, Chiu CP, Morin GB, Harley CB, Shay JW, Lichtsteiner S, Wright WE (1998). Extension of life-span by introduction of telomerase into normal human cells. *Science (New York, N.Y.* 279, 349-352.
- Boffoli D, Scacco SC, Vergari R, Solarino G, Santacroce G, Papa S (1994). Decline with age of the respiratory chain activity in human skeletal muscle. *Biochimica et biophysica acta*. 1226, 73-82.
- Borisov AB, Carlson BM (2000). Cell death in denervated skeletal muscle is distinct from classical apoptosis. *The Anatomical record*. 258, 305-318.
- Bossis G, Melchior F (2006). Regulation of SUMOylation by reversible oxidation of SUMO conjugating enzymes. *Molecular cell*. 21, 349-357.
- Bowling AC, Schulz JB, Brown RH, Jr., Beal MF (1993). Superoxide dismutase activity, oxidative damage, and mitochondrial energy metabolism in familial and sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Journal of neurochemistry*. 61, 2322-2325.
- Brand-Saberi B, Wilting J, Ebensperger C, Christ B (1996). The formation of somite compartments in the avian embryo. *The International journal of developmental biology*. 40, 411-420.
- Braun T, Rudnicki MA, Arnold HH, Jaenisch R (1992). Targeted inactivation of the muscle regulatory gene Myf-5 results in abnormal rib development and perinatal death. *Cell*. 71, 369-382.
Brigelius-Flohe R (1999). Tissue-specific functions of individual glutathione peroxidases. *Free radical biology & medicine*. 27, 951-965.

- Brunet A, Sweeney LB, Sturgill JF, Chua KF, Greer PL, Lin Y, Tran H, Ross SE,
 Mostoslavsky R, Cohen HY, Hu LS, Cheng HL, Jedrychowski MP, Gygi
 SP, Sinclair DA, Alt FW, Greenberg ME (2004). Stress-dependent
 regulation of FOXO transcription factors by the SIRT1 deacetylase. *Science (New York, N.Y.* 303, 2011-2015.
- Brunk UT, Terman A (2002). Lipofuscin: mechanisms of age-related accumulation and influence on cell function. *Free radical biology* & *medicine*. 33, 611-619.
- Buck M, Chojkier M (1996). Muscle wasting and dedifferentiation induced by oxidative stress in a murine model of cachexia is prevented by inhibitors of nitric oxide synthesis and antioxidants. *The EMBO journal*. 15, 1753-1765.

Buder-Hoffmann S, Palmer C, Vacek P, Taatjes D, Mossman B (2001).
Different accumulation of activated extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK 1/2) and role in cell-cycle alterations by epidermal growth factor, hydrogen peroxide, or asbestos in pulmonary epithelial cells. *American journal of respiratory cell and molecular biology*. 24, 405-413.

- Burgering BM, Kops GJ (2002). Cell cycle and death control: long live Forkheads. *Trends in biochemical sciences*. 27, 352-360.
- Busuttil RA, Garcia AM, Cabrera C, Rodriguez A, Suh Y, Kim WH, Huang TT, Vijg J (2005). Organ-specific increase in mutation accumulation and

apoptosis rate in CuZn-superoxide dismutase-deficient mice. *Cancer research*. 65, 11271-11275.

- Cai D, Frantz JD, Tawa NE, Jr., Melendez PA, Oh BC, Lidov HG, Hasselgren PO, Frontera WR, Lee J, Glass DJ, Shoelson SE (2004). IKKbeta/NF-kappaB activation causes severe muscle wasting in mice. *Cell*. 119, 285-298.
- Campbell JS, Wenderoth MP, Hauschka SD, Krebs EG (1995). Differential activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase in response to basic fibroblast growth factor in skeletal muscle cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 92, 870-874.
- Cao Z, Wanagat J, McKiernan SH, Aiken JM (2001). Mitochondrial DNA deletion mutations are concomitant with ragged red regions of individual, aged muscle fibers: analysis by laser-capture microdissection. *Nucleic acids research*. 29, 4502-4508.
- Castellani RJ, Harris PL, Lecroisey A, Izadi-Pruneyre N, Wandersman C, Perry G, Smith MA (2000). Evidence for a novel heme-binding protein, HasAh, in Alzheimer disease. *Antioxidants & redox signaling*. 2, 137-142.
- Castellani RJ, Harris PL, Lecroisey A, Izadi-Pruneyre N, Wandersman C, Perry G, Smith MA (2000). Evidence for a novel heme-binding protein, HasAh, in Alzheimer disease. *Antioxidants & redox signaling*. 2, 137-142.
- Celeste A, Petersen S, Romanienko PJ, Fernandez-Capetillo O, Chen HT, Sedelnikova OA, Reina-San-Martin B, Coppola V, Meffre E, Difilippantonio MJ, Redon C, Pilch DR, Olaru A, Eckhaus M, Camerini-Otero RD,

Tessarollo L, Livak F, Manova K, Bonner WM, Nussenzweig MC,

Nussenzweig A (2002). Genomic instability in mice lacking histone H2AX. *Science (New York, N.Y.* 296, 922-927.

- Chabi B, Ljubicic V, Menzies KJ, Huang JH, Saleem A, Hood DA (2008). Mitochondrial function and apoptotic susceptibility in aging skeletal muscle. *Aging cell*. 7, 2-12.
- Chamulitrat W, Schmidt R, Tomakidi P, Stremmel W, Chunglok W, Kawahara T, Rokutan K (2003). Association of gp91phox homolog Nox1 with anchorage-independent growth and MAP kinase-activation of transformed human keratinocytes. *Oncogene*. 22, 6045-6053.
- Chandel NS, McClintock DS, Feliciano CE, Wood TM, Melendez JA, Rodriguez AM, Schumacker PT (2000). Reactive oxygen species generated at mitochondrial complex III stabilize hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha during hypoxia: a mechanism of O2 sensing. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 275, 25130-25138.
- Chang LC, Wang JP (2001). Signal transduction pathways for activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase by arachidonic acid in rat neutrophils. *Journal of leukocyte biology*. 69, 659-665.
- Chen WS, Xu PZ, Gottlob K, Chen ML, Sokol K, Shiyanova T, Roninson I, Weng W, Suzuki R, Tobe K, Kadowaki T, Hay N (2001). Growth retardation and increased apoptosis in mice with homozygous disruption of the Akt1 gene. *Genes & development*. 15, 2203-2208.

- Chen XJ, Levedakou EN, Millen KJ, Wollmann RL, Soliven B, Popko B (2007). Proprioceptive sensory neuropathy in mice with a mutation in the cytoplasmic Dynein heavy chain 1 gene. *J Neurosci*. 27, 14515-14524.
- Chen Z, Siu B, Ho YS, Vincent R, Chua CC, Hamdy RC, Chua BH (1998).
 Overexpression of MnSOD protects against myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury in transgenic mice. *Journal of molecular and cellular cardiology*. 30, 2281-2289.
- Cheng G, Cao Z, Xu X, van Meir EG, Lambeth JD (2001). Homologs of gp91phox: cloning and tissue expression of Nox3, Nox4, and Nox5. *Gene*. 269, 131-140.
- Chiarugi P, Pani G, Giannoni E, Taddei L, Colavitti R, Raugei G, Symons M, Borrello S, Galeotti T, Ramponi G (2003). Reactive oxygen species as essential mediators of cell adhesion: the oxidative inhibition of a FAK tyrosine phosphatase is required for cell adhesion. *The Journal of cell biology*. 161, 933-944.
- Chimenti C, Kajstura J, Torella D, Urbanek K, Heleniak H, Colussi C, Di Meglio F, Nadal-Ginard B, Frustaci A, Leri A, Maseri A, Anversa P (2003).
 Senescence and death of primitive cells and myocytes lead to premature cardiac aging and heart failure. *Circulation research*. 93, 604-613.

Chkhotua AB, Gabusi E, Altimari A, D'Errico A, Yakubovich M, Vienken J, Stefoni S, Chieco P, Yussim A, Grigioni WF (2003). Increased expression of p16(INK4a) and p27(Kip1) cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor genes in

aging human kidney and chronic allograft nephropathy. *Am J Kidney Dis*. 41, 1303-1313.

- Cho DH, Choi YJ, Jo SA, Ryou J, Kim JY, Chung J, Jo I (2006). Troglitazone acutely inhibits protein synthesis in endothelial cells via a novel mechanism involving protein phosphatase 2A-dependent p70 S6 kinase inhibition. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*. 291, C317-326.
- Cho H, Mu J, Kim JK, Thorvaldsen JL, Chu Q, Crenshaw EB, 3rd, Kaestner KH, Bartolomei MS, Shulman GI, Birnbaum MJ (2001). Insulin resistance and a diabetes mellitus-like syndrome in mice lacking the protein kinase Akt2 (PKB beta). *Science (New York, N.Y.* 292, 1728-1731.
- Cho SH, Lee CH, Ahn Y, Kim H, Kim H, Ahn CY, Yang KS, Lee SR (2004). Redox regulation of PTEN and protein tyrosine phosphatases in H(2)O(2) mediated cell signaling. *FEBS letters*. 560, 7-13.

Choi SS, Sicklick JK, Ma Q, Yang L, Huang J, Qi Y, Chen W, Li YX,
Goldschmidt-Clermont PJ, Diehl AM (2006). Sustained activation of Rac1
in hepatic stellate cells promotes liver injury and fibrosis in mice. *Hepatology (Baltimore, Md.* 44, 1267-1277.

- Choi YJ, Jeong YJ, Lee YJ, Kwon HM, Kang YH (2005). (-)Epigallocatechin gallate and quercetin enhance survival signaling in response to oxidantinduced human endothelial apoptosis. *The Journal of nutrition*. 135, 707-713.
- Chrysis D, Underwood LE (1999). Regulation of components of the ubiquitin system by insulin-like growth factor I and growth hormone in skeletal

muscle of rats made catabolic with dexamethasone. *Endocrinology*. 140, 5635-5641.

- Clavel S, Coldefy AS, Kurkdjian E, Salles J, Margaritis I, Derijard B (2006). Atrophy-related ubiquitin ligases, atrogin-1 and MuRF1 are up-regulated in aged rat Tibialis Anterior muscle. *Mechanisms of ageing and development*. 127, 794-801.
- Clerk A, Michael A, Sugden PH (1998). Stimulation of multiple mitogenactivated protein kinase sub-families by oxidative stress and phosphorylation of the small heat shock protein, HSP25/27, in neonatal ventricular myocytes. *The Biochemical journal*. 333 (Pt 3), 581-589.
- Coffer PJ, Jin J, Woodgett JR (1998). Protein kinase B (c-Akt): a multifunctional mediator of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase activation. *The Biochemical journal*. 335 (Pt 1), 1-13.
- Collart FR, Horio M, Huberman E (1995). Heterogeneity in c-jun gene expression in normal and malignant cells exposed to either ionizing radiation or hydrogen peroxide. *Radiation research*. 142, 188-196.
- Collins CA, Zammit PS, Ruiz AP, Morgan JE, Partridge TA (2007). A population of myogenic stem cells that survives skeletal muscle aging. *Stem cells* (*Dayton, Ohio*). 25, 885-894.
- Combaret L, Tilignac T, Claustre A, Voisin L, Taillandier D, Obled C, Tanaka K, Attaix D (2002). Torbafylline (HWA 448) inhibits enhanced skeletal muscle ubiquitin-proteasome-dependent proteolysis in cancer and septic rats. *The Biochemical journal*. 361, 185-192.

Conejo R, de Alvaro C, Benito M, Cuadrado A, Lorenzo M (2002). Insulin restores differentiation of Ras-transformed C2C12 myoblasts by inducing NF-kappaB through an AKT/P70S6K/p38-MAPK pathway. Oncogene. 21, 3739-3753.

Conejo R, Valverde AM, Benito M, Lorenzo M (2001). Insulin produces myogenesis in C2C12 myoblasts by induction of NF-kappaB and downregulation of AP-1 activities. *Journal of cellular physiology*. 186, 82-94.

Connor KM, Hempel N, Nelson KK, Dabiri G, Gamarra A, Belarmino J, Van De Water L, Mian BM, Melendez JA (2007). Manganese superoxide dismutase enhances the invasive and migratory activity of tumor cells. *Cancer research*. 67, 10260-10267.

Connor KM, Subbaram S, Regan KJ, Nelson KK, Mazurkiewicz JE, Bartholomew PJ, Aplin AE, Tai YT, Aguirre-Ghiso J, Flores SC, Melendez JA (2005).
Mitochondrial H2O2 regulates the angiogenic phenotype via PTEN oxidation. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 280, 16916-16924.

Cross DA, Alessi DR, Cohen P, Andjelkovich M, Hemmings BA (1995). Inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase-3 by insulin mediated by protein kinase B. *Nature*. 378, 785-789.

Csete M, Walikonis J, Slawny N, Wei Y, Korsnes S, Doyle JC, Wold B (2001). Oxygen-mediated regulation of skeletal muscle satellite cell proliferation and adipogenesis in culture. *Journal of cellular physiology*. 189, 189-196.

- Cudre-Mauroux C, Occhiodoro T, Konig S, Salmon P, Bernheim L, Trono D (2003). Lentivector-mediated transfer of Bmi-1 and telomerase in muscle satellite cells yields a duchenne myoblast cell line with long-term genotypic and phenotypic stability. *Human gene therapy*. 14, 1525-1533.
- Cummings KJ, Kalf D, Moore S, Miller BJ, Jirik FR, Wilson RJ (2008). Superoxide dismutase-1 influences the timing and post-hypoxic stability of neonatal breathing. *Advances in experimental medicine and biology*. 605, 133-138.
- Cuthbertson D, Smith K, Babraj J, Leese G, Waddell T, Atherton P, Wackerhage H, Taylor PM, Rennie MJ (2005). Anabolic signaling deficits underlie amino acid resistance of wasting, aging muscle. *Faseb J*. 19, 422-424.
- Das N, Levine RL, Orr WC, Sohal RS (2001). Selectivity of protein oxidative damage during aging in Drosophila melanogaster. *The Biochemical journal*. 360, 209-216.
- Davies H, Bignell GR, Cox C, Stephens P, Edkins S, Clegg S, Teague J,
 Woffendin H, Garnett MJ, Bottomley W, Davis N, Dicks E, Ewing R, Floyd
 Y, Gray K, Hall S, Hawes R, Hughes J, Kosmidou V, Menzies A, Mould C,
 Parker A, Stevens C, Watt S, Hooper S, Wilson R, Jayatilake H,
 Gusterson BA, Cooper C, Shipley J, Hargrave D, Pritchard-Jones K,
 Maitland N, Chenevix-Trench G, Riggins GJ, Bigner DD, Palmieri G,
 Cossu A, Flanagan A, Nicholson A, Ho JW, Leung SY, Yuen ST, Weber
 BL, Seigler HF, Darrow TL, Paterson H, Marais R, Marshall CJ, Wooster R,

Stratton MR, Futreal PA (2002). Mutations of the BRAF gene in human cancer. *Nature*. 417, 949-954.

- Day BJ (2008). Catalase and glutathione peroxidase mimics. *Biochemical pharmacology*.
- Deguil J, Perault-Pochat MC, Chavant F, Lafay-Chebassier C, Fauconneau B, Pain S (2008). Activation of the protein p7OS6K via ERK phosphorylation by cholinergic muscarinic receptors stimulation in human neuroblastoma cells and in mice brain. *Toxicology letters*.
- Deora AA, Win T, Vanhaesebroeck B, Lander HM (1998). A redox-triggered ras-effector interaction. Recruitment of phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase to Ras by redox stress. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 273, 29923-29928.
- Devary Y, Gottlieb RA, Lau LF, Karin M (1991). Rapid and preferential activation of the c-jun gene during the mammalian UV response. *Molecular and cellular biology*. 11, 2804-2811.
- DeVol DL, Rotwein P, Sadow JL, Novakofski J, Bechtel PJ (1990). Activation of insulin-like growth factor gene expression during work-induced skeletal muscle growth. *The American journal of physiology*. 259, E89-95.
- DeYulia GJ, Jr., Carcamo JM, Borquez-Ojeda O, Shelton CC, Golde DW (2005). Hydrogen peroxide generated extracellularly by receptor-ligand interaction facilitates cell signaling. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 102, 5044-5049.

- Di Carlo A, De Mori R, Martelli F, Pompilio G, Capogrossi MC, Germani A (2004). Hypoxia inhibits myogenic differentiation through accelerated MyoD degradation. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 279, 16332-16338.
- Diel P, Baadners D, Schlupmann K, Velders M, Schwarz JP (2008). C2C12 myoblastoma cell differentiation and proliferation is stimulated by androgens and associated with a modulation of myostatin and Pax7 expression. *Journal of molecular endocrinology*. 40, 231-241.
- Dietrich S, Schubert FR, Gruss P, Lumsden A (1999). The role of the notochord for epaxial myotome formation in the mouse. *Cellular and molecular biology (Noisy-le-Grand, France)*. 45, 601-616.
- Dikalova A, Clempus R, Lassegue B, Cheng G, McCoy J, Dikalov S, San Martin A, Lyle A, Weber DS, Weiss D, Taylor WR, Schmidt HH, Owens GK, Lambeth JD, Griendling KK (2005). Nox1 overexpression potentiates angiotensin II-induced hypertension and vascular smooth muscle hypertrophy in transgenic mice. *Circulation*. 112, 2668-2676.
- Dirks AJ, Leeuwenburgh C (2004). Aging and lifelong calorie restriction result in adaptations of skeletal muscle apoptosis repressor, apoptosis-inducing factor, X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis, caspase-3, and caspase-12. *Free radical biology & medicine*. 36, 27-39.
- Dittrich M, Birschmann I, Mietner S, Sickmann A, Walter U, Dandekar T (2008).
 Platelet protein interactions: map, signaling components, and phosphorylation groundstate. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology*. 28, 1326-1331.

Dreyer HC, Glynn EL, Lujan HL, Fry CS, DiCarlo SE, Rasmussen BB (2008). Chronic paraplegia-induced muscle atrophy downregulates the mTOR/S6K1 signaling pathway. *J Appl Physiol.* 104, 27-33.

- Drummond MJ, Dreyer HC, Pennings B, Fry CS, Dhanani S, Dillon EL, Sheffield-Moore M, Volpi E, Rasmussen BB (2008). Skeletal muscle protein anabolic response to resistance exercise and essential amino acids is delayed with aging. *J Appl Physiol*. 104, 1452-1461.
- Du J, Mitch WE, Wang X, Price SR (2000). Glucocorticoids induce proteasome C3 subunit expression in L6 muscle cells by opposing the suppression of its transcription by NF-kappa B. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 275, 19661-19666.
- Du J, Wang X, Miereles C, Bailey JL, Debigare R, Zheng B, Price SR, Mitch WE (2004). Activation of caspase-3 is an initial step triggering accelerated muscle proteolysis in catabolic conditions. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 113, 115-123.
- Duguez S, Feasson L, Denis C , Freyssenet D (2002). Mitochondrial biogenesis during skeletal muscle regeneration. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* 282, E802-809.

Dupont-Versteegden EE, Murphy RJ, Houle JD, Gurley CM, Peterson CA (1999). Activated satellite cells fail to restore myonuclear number in spinal cord transected and exercised rats. *The American journal of physiology*. 277, C589-597.

- Dupont-Versteegden EE, Strotman BA, Gurley CM, Gaddy D, Knox M, Fluckey JD, Peterson CA (2006). Nuclear translocation of EndoG at the initiation of disuse muscle atrophy and apoptosis is specific to myonuclei. *American journal of physiology*. 291, R1730-1740.
- Duyndam MC, Hulscher TM, Fontijn D, Pinedo HM, Boven E (2001). Induction of vascular endothelial growth factor expression and hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha protein by the oxidative stressor arsenite. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 276, 48066-48076.
- Edens WA, Sharling L, Cheng G, Shapira R, Kinkade JM, Lee T, Edens HA, Tang X, Sullards C, Flaherty DB, Benian GM, Lambeth JD (2001).
 Tyrosine cross-linking of extracellular matrix is catalyzed by Duox, a multidomain oxidase/peroxidase with homology to the phagocyte oxidase subunit gp91phox. *The Journal of cell biology*. 154, 879-891.
- Edstrom E, Altun M, Hagglund M, Ulfhake B (2006). Atrogin-1/MAFbx and MuRF1 are downregulated in aging-related loss of skeletal muscle. *The journals of gerontology*. 61, 663-674.
- Elchuri S, Oberley TD, Qi W, Eisenstein RS, Jackson Roberts L, Van Remmen H, Epstein CJ, Huang TT (2005). CuZnSOD deficiency leads to persistent and widespread oxidative damage and hepatocarcinogenesis later in life. *Oncogene*. 24, 367-380.
- Erden-Inal M, Sunal E, Kanbak G (2002). Age-related changes in the glutathione redox system. *Cell biochemistry and function*. 20, 61-66.

- Esner M, Meilhac SM, Relaix F, Nicolas JF, Cossu G, Buckingham ME (2006). Smooth muscle of the dorsal aorta shares a common clonal origin with skeletal muscle of the myotome. *Development (Cambridge, England)*. 133, 737-749.
- Espinola-Klein C, Rupprecht HJ, Bickel C, Schnabel R, Genth-Zotz S, Torzewski M, Lackner K, Munzel T, Blankenberg S (2007). Glutathione peroxidase-1 activity, atherosclerotic burden, and cardiovascular prognosis. *The American journal of cardiology*. 99, 808-812.
- Esposito L, Raber J, Kekonius L, Yan F, Yu GQ, Bien-Ly N, Puolivali J, Scearce-Levie K, Masliah E, Mucke L (2006). Reduction in mitochondrial superoxide dismutase modulates Alzheimer's disease-like pathology and accelerates the onset of behavioral changes in human amyloid precursor protein transgenic mice. *J Neurosci.* 26, 5167-5179.
- Fagan JM, Ganguly M, Tiao G, Fischer JE, Hasselgren PO (1996). Sepsis increases oxidatively damaged proteins in skeletal muscle. *Arch Surg.* 131, 1326-1331; discussion 1331-1322.
- Ferrington DA, Sun H, Murray KK, Costa J, Williams TD, Bigelow DJ, Squier TC (2001). Selective degradation of oxidized calmodulin by the 20 S proteasome. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 276, 937-943.
- Finkel T, Holbrook NJ (2000). Oxidants, oxidative stress and the biology of ageing. *Nature*. 408, 239-247.

- Floyd RA, West M, Hensley K (2001). Oxidative biochemical markers; clues to understanding aging in long-lived species. *Experimental gerontology*. 36, 619-640.
- Folz RJ, Crapo JD (1994). Extracellular superoxide dismutase (SOD3): tissuespecific expression, genomic characterization, and computer-assisted sequence analysis of the human EC SOD gene. *Genomics*. 22, 162-171.
- Fong Y, Moldawer LL, Marano M, Wei H, Barber A, Manogue K, Tracey KJ, Kuo G, Fischman DA, Cerami A, et al. (1989). Cachectin/TNF or IL-1 alpha induces cachexia with redistribution of body proteins. *The American journal of physiology*. 256, R659-665.
- Foreman J, Demidchik V, Bothwell JH, Mylona P, Miedema H, Torres MA,
 Linstead P, Costa S, Brownlee C, Jones JD, Davies JM, Dolan L (2003).
 Reactive oxygen species produced by NADPH oxidase regulate plant cell growth. *Nature*. 422, 442-446.
- Foth BJ (2007). Phylogenetic analysis to uncover organellar origins of nuclearencoded genes. *Methods in molecular biology (Clifton, N.J.* 390, 467-488.
- Franco AA, Odom RS, Rando TA (1999). Regulation of antioxidant enzyme gene expression in response to oxidative stress and during differentiation of mouse skeletal muscle. *Free radical biology & medicine*. 27, 1122-1132.
- Fransen K, Klintenas M, Osterstrom A, Dimberg J, Monstein HJ, Soderkvist P (2004). Mutation analysis of the BRAF, ARAF and RAF-1 genes in human colorectal adenocarcinomas. *Carcinogenesis*. 25, 527-533.

- Friedman JS, Lopez MF, Fleming MD, Rivera A, Martin FM, Welsh ML, Boyd A, Doctrow SR, Burakoff SJ (2004). SOD2-deficiency anemia: protein oxidation and altered protein expression reveal targets of damage, stress response, and antioxidant responsiveness. *Blood.* 104, 2565-2573.
- Frost RA, Nystrom GJ, Lang CH (2003a). Lipopolysaccharide and proinflammatory cytokines stimulate interleukin-6 expression in C2C12 myoblasts: role of the Jun NH2-terminal kinase. *American journal of physiology*. 285, R1153-1164.
- Frost RA, Nystrom GJ, Lang CH (2003b). Tumor necrosis factor-alpha decreases insulin-like growth factor-I messenger ribonucleic acid expression in C2C12 myoblasts via a Jun N-terminal kinase pathway. *Endocrinology*. 144, 1770-1779.
- Frost RA, Nystrom GJ, Lang CH (2004). Lipopolysaccharide stimulates nitric oxide synthase-2 expression in murine skeletal muscle and C(2)C(12) myoblasts via Toll-like receptor-4 and c-Jun NH(2)-terminal kinase pathways. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*. 287, C1605-1615.
- Frost RA, Nystrom GJ, Lang CH (2006). Multiple Toll-like receptor ligands induce an IL-6 transcriptional response in skeletal myocytes. *American journal of physiology*. 290, R773-784.
- Fulle S, Di Donna S, Puglielli C, Pietrangelo T, Beccafico S, Bellomo R, Protasi F, Fano G (2005). Age-dependent imbalance of the antioxidative system in human satellite cells. *Experimental gerontology*. 40, 189-197.

- Fulle S, Protasi F, Di Tano G, Pietrangelo T, Beltramin A, Boncompagni S,
 Vecchiet L, Fano G (2004). The contribution of reactive oxygen species to sarcopenia and muscle ageing. *Experimental gerontology*. 39, 17-24.
 Furukawa-Hibi Y, Yoshida-Araki K, Ohta T, Ikeda K, Motoyama N (2002).
 - FOXO forkhead transcription factors induce G(2)-M checkpoint in response to oxidative stress. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 277, 26729-26732.
- Gabaldon T , Huynen MA (2007). From endosymbiont to host-controlled organelle: the hijacking of mitochondrial protein synthesis and metabolism. *PLoS computational biology*. 3, e219.
- Galasso G, Schiekofer S, Sato K, Shibata R, Handy DE, Ouchi N, Leopold JA, Loscalzo J, Walsh K (2006). Impaired angiogenesis in glutathione peroxidase-1-deficient mice is associated with endothelial progenitor cell dysfunction. *Circulation research*. 98, 254-261.
- Gasdaska JR, Berggren M, Powis G (1995). Cell growth stimulation by the redox protein thioredoxin occurs by a novel helper mechanism. *Cell Growth Differ*. 6, 1643-1650.
- Geiszt M, Lekstrom K, Brenner S, Hewitt SM, Dana R, Malech HL, Leto TL (2003). NAD(P)H oxidase 1, a product of differentiated colon epithelial cells, can partially replace glycoprotein 91phox in the regulated production of superoxide by phagocytes. *J Immunol*. 171, 299-306.
- Geiszt M, Leto TL (2004). The Nox family of NAD(P)H oxidases: host defense and beyond. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 279, 51715-51718.

- Gianni P, Jan KJ, Douglas MJ, Stuart PM, Tarnopolsky MA (2004). Oxidative stress and the mitochondrial theory of aging in human skeletal muscle. *Experimental gerontology*. 39, 1391-1400.
- Giannoni E, Buricchi F, Raugei G, Ramponi G, Chiarugi P (2005). Intracellular reactive oxygen species activate Src tyrosine kinase during cell adhesion and anchorage-dependent cell growth. *Molecular and cellular biology*. 25, 6391-6403.
- Gil L, Siems W, Mazurek B, Gross J, Schroeder P, Voss P, Grune T (2006).
 Age-associated analysis of oxidative stress parameters in human plasma and erythrocytes. *Free radical research*. 40, 495-505.
- Gilbert, S.F. (2000). Developmental biology. (Sunderland, MA: Sinauer Associates).
- Glickman MH, Raveh D (2005). Proteasome plasticity. *FEBS letters*. 579, 3214-3223.
- Gomes MD, Lecker SH, Jagoe RT, Navon A, Goldberg AL (2001). Atrogin-1, a muscle-specific F-box protein highly expressed during muscle atrophy.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 98, 14440-14445.
- Gomes-Marcondes MC, Tisdale MJ (2002). Induction of protein catabolism and the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway by mild oxidative stress. *Cancer letters*. 180, 69-74.

- Goulding M, Lumsden A, Paquette AJ (1994). Regulation of Pax-3 expression in the dermomyotome and its role in muscle development. *Development (Cambridge, England)*. 120, 957-971.
- Griguer CE, Oliva CR, Kelley EE, Giles GI, Lancaster JR, Jr., Gillespie GY (2006). Xanthine oxidase-dependent regulation of hypoxia-inducible factor in cancer cells. *Cancer research*. 66, 2257-2263.
- Gros J, Manceau M, Thome V, Marcelle C (2005). A common somitic origin for embryonic muscle progenitors and satellite cells. *Nature*. 435, 954-958.
- Guertin DA, Stevens DM, Thoreen CC, Burds AA, Kalaany NY, Moffat J, Brown M, Fitzgerald KJ, Sabatini DM (2006). Ablation in mice of the mTORC components raptor, rictor, or mLST8 reveals that mTORC2 is required for signaling to Akt-FOXO and PKCalpha, but not S6K1. *Developmental cell*. 11, 859-871.
- Guillet C, Prod'homme M, Balage M, Gachon P, Giraudet C, Morin L, Grizard J, Boirie Y (2004). Impaired anabolic response of muscle protein synthesis is associated with S6K1 dysregulation in elderly humans. *Faseb J*. 18, 1586-1587.
- Gulick T, Cresci S, Caira T, Moore DD, Kelly DP (1994). The peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor regulates mitochondrial fatty acid oxidative enzyme gene expression. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 91, 11012-11016.

- Guyton KZ, Liu Y, Gorospe M, Xu Q, Holbrook NJ (1996). Activation of mitogenactivated protein kinase by H2O2. Role in cell survival following oxidant injury. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 271, 4138-4142.
- Haendeler J, Hoffmann J, Tischler V, Berk BC, Zeiher AM, Dimmeler S (2002).
 Redox regulatory and anti-apoptotic functions of thioredoxin depend on Snitrosylation at cysteine 69. *Nature cell biology*. 4, 743-749.
- Hammarqvist F, Luo JL, Cotgreave IA, Andersson K, Wernerman J (1997). Skeletal muscle glutathione is depleted in critically ill patients. *Critical care medicine*. 25, 78-84.
- Hanna J, Meides A, Zhang DP, Finley D (2007). A ubiquitin stress response induces altered proteasome composition. *Cell*. 129, 747-759.
- Hansen JM, Klass M, Harris C, Csete M (2007). A reducing redox environment promotes C2C12 myogenesis: implications for regeneration in aged muscle. *Cell biology international*. 31, 546-553.
- Harada H, Quearry B, Ruiz-Vela A, Korsmeyer SJ (2004). Survival factorinduced extracellular signal-regulated kinase phosphorylates BIM, inhibiting its association with BAX and proapoptotic activity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 101, 15313-15317.
- Harman D (1956). Aging: a theory based on free radical and radiation chemistry. *Journal of gerontology*. 11, 298-300.

- Hasselgren PO, Fischer JE (2001). Muscle cachexia: current concepts of intracellular mechanisms and molecular regulation. *Annals of surgery*. 233, 9-17.
- Hattori Y, Suzuki M, Hattori S, Kasai K (2002). Vascular smooth muscle cell activation by glycated albumin (Amadori adducts). *Hypertension*. 39, 22-28.
- Hawke TJ, Garry DJ (2001). Myogenic satellite cells: physiology to molecular biology. *J Appl Physiol*. 91, 534-551.
- Hitomi Y, Watanabe S, Kizaki T, Sakurai T, Takemasa T, Haga S, Ookawara T, Suzuki K, Ohno H (2008). Acute exercise increases expression of extracellular superoxide dismutase in skeletal muscle and the aorta. *Redox Rep.* 13, 213-216.
- Ho RC, Hirshman MF, Li Y, Cai D, Farmer JR, Aschenbach WG, Witczak CA,
 Shoelson SE, Goodyear LJ (2005). Regulation of IkappaB kinase and
 NF-kappaB in contracting adult rat skeletal muscle. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol.* 289, C794-801.
- Ho YS, Gargano M, Cao J, Bronson RT, Heimler I, Hutz RJ (1998). Reduced fertility in female mice lacking copper-zinc superoxide dismutase. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 273, 7765-7769.
- Hochhauser D (2000). Relevance of mitochondrial DNA in cancer. *Lancet*. 356, 181-182.
- Housley MP, Rodgers JT, Udeshi ND, Kelly TJ, Shabanowitz J, Hunt DF, Puigserver P, Hart GW (2008). O-GlcNAc Regulates FoxO Activation in

Response to Glucose. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 283, 16283-16292.

- Huang TT, Carlson EJ, Kozy HM, Mantha S, Goodman SI, Ursell PC, Epstein CJ (2001). Genetic modification of prenatal lethality and dilated cardiomyopathy in Mn superoxide dismutase mutant mice. *Free radical biology & medicine*. 31, 1101-1110.
- Huang TT, Yasunami M, Carlson EJ, Gillespie AM, Reaume AG, Hoffman EK,
 Chan PH, Scott RW, Epstein CJ (1997). Superoxide-mediated
 cytotoxicity in superoxide dismutase-deficient fetal fibroblasts. *Archives of biochemistry and biophysics*. 344, 424-432.
- Hunter RB, Kandarian SC (2004). Disruption of either the Nfkb1 or the Bcl3 gene inhibits skeletal muscle atrophy. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 114, 1504-1511.
- Hunter RB, Stevenson E, Koncarevic A, Mitchell-Felton H, Essig DA, Kandarian SC (2002). Activation of an alternative NF-kappaB pathway in skeletal muscle during disuse atrophy. *Faseb J*. 16, 529-538.
- Huwiler A, Xin C, Brust AK, Briner VA, Pfeilschifter J (2004). Differential binding of ceramide to MEKK1 in glomerular endothelial and mesangial cells. *Biochimica et biophysica acta*. 1636, 159-168.

Imamura Y, Noda S, Hashizume K, Shinoda K, Yamaguchi M, Uchiyama S, Shimizu T, Mizushima Y, Shirasawa T, Tsubota K (2006). Drusen, choroidal neovascularization, and retinal pigment epithelium dysfunction in SOD1-deficient mice: a model of age-related macular degeneration. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 103, 11282-11287.

- Jaarsma D, Teuling E, Haasdijk ED, De Zeeuw CI, Hoogenraad CC (2008). Neuron-specific expression of mutant superoxide dismutase is sufficient to induce amyotrophic lateral sclerosis in transgenic mice. *J Neurosci*. 28, 2075-2088.
- Jacinto E, Facchinetti V, Liu D, Soto N, Wei S, Jung SY, Huang Q, Qin J, Su B (2006). SIN1/MIP1 maintains rictor-mTOR complex integrity and regulates Akt phosphorylation and substrate specificity. *Cell*. 127, 125-137.
- Jagoe RT, Lecker SH, Gomes M, Goldberg AL (2002). Patterns of gene expression in atrophying skeletal muscles: response to food deprivation. *Faseb J.* 16, 1697-1712.
- Jaspers I, Zhang W, Fraser A, Samet JM, Reed W (2001). Hydrogen peroxide has opposing effects on IKK activity and IkappaBalpha breakdown in airway epithelial cells. *American journal of respiratory cell and molecular biology*. 24, 769-777.
- Ji LL, Dillon D, Wu E (1990). Alteration of antioxidant enzymes with aging in rat skeletal muscle and liver. *The American journal of physiology*. 258, R918-923.
- Ji LL, Gomez-Cabrera MC, Steinhafel N, Vina J (2004). Acute exercise activates nuclear factor (NF)-kappaB signaling pathway in rat skeletal muscle. *Faseb J*. 18, 1499-1506.

- Jin H, Wu Z, Tian T, Gu Y (2001). Apoptosis in atrophic skeletal muscle induced by brachial plexus injury in rats. *The Journal of trauma*. 50, 31-35.
- Jolly RD, Douglas BV, Davey PM, Roiri JE (1995). Lipofuscin in bovine muscle and brain: a model for studying age pigment. *Gerontology*. 41 Suppl 2, 283-295.
- Jones NC, Tyner KJ, Nibarger L, Stanley HM, Cornelison DD, Fedorov YV, Olwin BB (2005). The p38alpha/beta MAPK functions as a molecular switch to activate the quiescent satellite cell. *The Journal of cell biology*. 169, 105-116.
- Kaewpila S, Venkataraman S, Buettner GR, Oberley LW (2008). Manganese superoxide dismutase modulates hypoxia-inducible factor-1 alpha induction via superoxide. *Cancer research*. 68, 2781-2788.

Kaltschmidt B, Uherek M, Volk B, Baeuerle PA, Kaltschmidt C (1997). Transcription factor NF-kappaB is activated in primary neurons by amyloid beta peptides and in neurons surrounding early plaques from patients with Alzheimer disease. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 94, 2642-2647.

- Kamata H, Honda S, Maeda S, Chang L, Hirata H, Karin M (2005). Reactive oxygen species promote TNFalpha-induced death and sustained JNK activation by inhibiting MAP kinase phosphatases. *Cell*. 120, 649-661.
- Kamata H, Manabe T, Oka S, Kamata K, Hirata H (2002). Hydrogen peroxide activates IkappaB kinases through phosphorylation of serine residues in the activation loops. *FEBS letters*. 519, 231-237.

- Kashyap MK, Yadav V, Sherawat BS, Jain S, Kumari S, Khullar M, Sharma PC,
 Nath R (2005). Different antioxidants status, total antioxidant power and
 free radicals in essential hypertension. *Molecular and cellular biochemistry*.
 277, 89-99.
- Kassar-Duchossoy L, Gayraud-Morel B, Gomes D, Rocancourt D, Buckingham
 M, Shinin V , Tajbakhsh S (2004). Mrf4 determines skeletal muscle
 identity in Myf5:Myod double-mutant mice. *Nature*. 431, 466-471.
- Kassar-Duchossoy L, Giacone E, Gayraud-Morel B, Jory A, Gomes D, Tajbakhsh S (2005). Pax3/Pax7 mark a novel population of primitive myogenic cells during development. *Genes & development*. 19, 1426-1431.
- Katayama K, Nakamura A, Sugimoto Y, Tsuruo T, Fujita N (2008). FOXO transcription factor-dependent p15(INK4b) and p19(INK4d) expression. *Oncogene*. 27, 1677-1686.
- Kikugawa K, Kato T, Beppu M, Hayasaka A (1989). Fluorescent and crosslinked proteins formed by free radical and aldehyde species generated during lipid oxidation. *Advances in experimental medicine and biology*. 266, 345-356; discussion 357.
- Kim HG, Hong SM, Kim SJ, Park HJ, Jung HI, Lee YY, Moon JS, Lim HW, Park EH, Lim CJ (2003a). Age-related changes in the activity of antioxidant and redox enzymes in rats. *Molecules and cells*. 16, 278-284.
- Kim JJ, Taylor HS, Akbas GE, Foucher I, Trembleau A, Jaffe RC, Fazleabas AT, Unterman TG (2003b). Regulation of insulin-like growth factor binding

protein-1 promoter activity by FKHR and HOXA10 in primate endometrial cells. *Biology of reproduction*. 68, 24-30.

- Kim KY, Rhim T, Choi I, Kim SS (2001). N-acetylcysteine induces cell cycle arrest in hepatic stellate cells through its reducing activity. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 276, 40591-40598.
- Klaunig JE, Kamendulis LM (2004). The role of oxidative stress in carcinogenesis. Annual review of pharmacology and toxicology. 44, 239-267.
- Knopp EA, Arndt TL, Eng KL, Caldwell M, LeBoeuf RC, Deeb SS, O'Brien KD (1999). Murine phospholipid hydroperoxide glutathione peroxidase: cDNA sequence, tissue expression, and mapping. *Mamm Genome*. 10, 601-605.
- Kohli R, Pan X, Malladi P, Wainwright MS, Whitington PF (2007). Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species signal hepatocyte steatosis by regulating the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase cell survival pathway. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 282, 21327-21336.
- Kokoszka JE, Coskun P, Esposito LA, Wallace DC (2001). Increased mitochondrial oxidative stress in the Sod2 (+/-) mouse results in the agerelated decline of mitochondrial function culminating in increased apoptosis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 98, 2278-2283.
- Kondo H, Miura M, Itokawa Y (1993). Antioxidant enzyme systems in skeletal muscle atrophied by immobilization. *Pflugers Arch*. 422, 404-406.

 Kook SH, Son YO, Choi KC, Lee HJ, Chung WT, Hwang IH, Lee JC (2008).
 Cyclic mechanical stress suppresses myogenic differentiation of adult bovine satellite cells through activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase. *Molecular and cellular biochemistry*. 309, 133-141.

Kraft CS, LeMoine CM, Lyons CN, Michaud D, Mueller CR, Moyes CD (2006).
Control of mitochondrial biogenesis during myogenesis. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol.* 290, C1119-1127.

Kretz-Remy C, Bates EE, Arrigo AP (1998). Amino acid analogs activate NFkappaB through redox-dependent IkappaB-alpha degradation by the proteasome without apparent IkappaB-alpha phosphorylation.
Consequence on HIV-1 long terminal repeat activation. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 273, 3180-3191.

- Kroemer G, Dallaporta B, Resche-Rigon M (1998). The mitochondrial death/life regulator in apoptosis and necrosis. *Annual review of physiology*. 60, 619-642.
- Kubis HP, Hanke N, Scheibe RJ, Gros G (2005). Accumulation and nuclear import of HIF1 alpha during high and low oxygen concentration in skeletal muscle cells in primary culture. *Biochimica et biophysica acta*. 1745, 187-195.
- Kushnareva Y, Murphy AN, Andreyev A (2002). Complex I-mediated reactive oxygen species generation: modulation by cytochrome c and NAD(P)+ oxidation-reduction state. *The Biochemical journal*. 368, 545-553.

- Kwak KS, Zhou X, Solomon V, Baracos VE, Davis J, Bannon AW, Boyle WJ, Lacey DL, Han HQ (2004). Regulation of protein catabolism by musclespecific and cytokine-inducible ubiquitin ligase E3alpha-II during cancer cachexia. *Cancer research*. 64, 8193-8198.
- Kwon YT, Reiss Y, Fried VA, Hershko A, Yoon JK, Gonda DK, Sangan P,
 Copeland NG, Jenkins NA, Varshavsky A (1998). The mouse and human genes encoding the recognition component of the N-end rule pathway. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 95, 7898-7903.
- Kyriakis JM , Avruch J (2001). Mammalian mitogen-activated protein kinase signal transduction pathways activated by stress and inflammation. *Physiological reviews*. 81, 807-869.
- Lahair MM, Howe CJ, Rodriguez-Mora O, McCubrey JA, Franklin RA (2006). Molecular pathways leading to oxidative stress-induced phosphorylation of Akt. *Antioxidants & redox signaling*. 8, 1749-1756.
- Lambrechts D, Storkebaum E, Morimoto M, Del-Favero J, Desmet F, Marklund SL, Wyns S, Thijs V, Andersson J, van Marion I, Al-Chalabi A, Bornes S, Musson R, Hansen V, Beckman L, Adolfsson R, Pall HS, Prats H, Vermeire S, Rutgeerts P, Katayama S, Awata T, Leigh N, Lang-Lazdunski L, Dewerchin M, Shaw C, Moons L, Vlietinck R, Morrison KE, Robberecht W, Van Broeckhoven C, Collen D, Andersen PM , Carmeliet P (2003).
 VEGF is a modifier of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis in mice and humans

and protects motoneurons against ischemic death. *Nature genetics*. 34, 383-394.

- Landis GN, Tower J (2005). Superoxide dismutase evolution and life span regulation. *Mechanisms of ageing and development*. 126, 365-379.
- Lassegue B, Sorescu D, Szocs K, Yin Q, Akers M, Zhang Y, Grant SL, Lambeth JD, Griendling KK (2001). Novel gp91(phox) homologues in vascular smooth muscle cells : nox1 mediates angiotensin II-induced superoxide formation and redox-sensitive signaling pathways. *Circulation research*. 88, 888-894.
- Lauer JL, Gendron CM, Fields GB (1998). Effect of ligand conformation on melanoma cell alpha3beta1 integrin-mediated signal transduction events: implications for a collagen structural modulation mechanism of tumor cell invasion. *Biochemistry*. 37, 5279-5287.
- Lawler JM, Song W, Demaree SR (2003). Hindlimb unloading increases oxidative stress and disrupts antioxidant capacity in skeletal muscle. *Free radical biology & medicine*. 35, 9-16.
- Lebovitz RM, Zhang H, Vogel H, Cartwright J, Jr., Dionne L, Lu N, Huang S, Matzuk MM (1996). Neurodegeneration, myocardial injury, and perinatal death in mitochondrial superoxide dismutase-deficient mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 93, 9782-9787.

- Lecker SH, Goldberg AL, Mitch WE (2006). Protein degradation by the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway in normal and disease states. *J Am Soc Nephrol.* 17, 1807-1819.
- Lecker SH, Jagoe RT, Gilbert A, Gomes M, Baracos V, Bailey J, Price SR, Mitch WE, Goldberg AL (2004). Multiple types of skeletal muscle atrophy involve a common program of changes in gene expression. *Faseb J.* 18, 39-51.
- Lecker SH, Solomon V, Price SR, Kwon YT, Mitch WE, Goldberg AL (1999). Ubiquitin conjugation by the N-end rule pathway and mRNAs for its components increase in muscles of diabetic rats. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 104, 1411-1420.
- Lee I, Bender E, Kadenbach B (2002). Control of mitochondrial membrane potential and ROS formation by reversible phosphorylation of cytochrome c oxidase. *Molecular and cellular biochemistry*. 234-235, 63-70.
- Lee S, Shin HS, Shireman PK, Vasilaki A, Van Remmen H, Csete ME (2006). Glutathione-peroxidase-1 null muscle progenitor cells are globally defective. *Free radical biology & medicine*. 41, 1174-1184.
- Leeuwenburgh C, Gurley CM, Strotman BA, Dupont-Versteegden EE (2005). Age-related differences in apoptosis with disuse atrophy in soleus muscle. *American journal of physiology*. 288, R1288-1296.
- Leger B, Cartoni R, Praz M, Lamon S, Deriaz O, Crettenand A, Gobelet C, Rohmer P, Konzelmann M, Luthi F, Russell AP (2006). Akt signalling

through GSK-3beta, mTOR and Foxo1 is involved in human skeletal muscle hypertrophy and atrophy. *The Journal of physiology*. 576, 923-933.

- Lehman JJ, Barger PM, Kovacs A, Saffitz JE, Medeiros DM, Kelly DP (2000). Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator-1 promotes cardiac mitochondrial biogenesis. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 106, 847-856.
- Lehtinen SK, Rahkila P, Helenius M, Korhonen P, Salminen A (1996). Downregulation of transcription factors AP-1, Sp-1, and NF-kappa B precedes myocyte differentiation. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*. 229, 36-43.
- Lei XG (2002). In vivo antioxidant role of glutathione peroxidase: evidence from knockout mice. *Methods in enzymology*. 347, 213-225.
- Lenaz G, Bovina C, Castelluccio C, Fato R, Formiggini G, Genova ML, Marchetti M, Pich MM, Pallotti F, Parenti Castelli G, Biagini G (1997). Mitochondrial complex I defects in aging. *Molecular and cellular biochemistry*. 174, 329-333.
- Leone TC, Weinheimer CJ, Kelly DP (1999). A critical role for the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha (PPARalpha) in the cellular fasting response: the PPARalpha-null mouse as a model of fatty acid oxidation disorders. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 96, 7473-7478.
- Leopold JA , Loscalzo J (2005). Oxidative enzymopathies and vascular disease. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology*. 25, 1332-1340.

- Ley R, Balmanno K, Hadfield K, Weston C, Cook SJ (2003). Activation of the ERK1/2 signaling pathway promotes phosphorylation and proteasomedependent degradation of the BH3-only protein, Bim. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 278, 18811-18816.
- Li HH, Willis MS, Lockyer P, Miller N, McDonough H, Glass DJ, Patterson C (2007). Atrogin-1 inhibits Akt-dependent cardiac hypertrophy in mice via ubiquitin-dependent coactivation of Forkhead proteins. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 117, 3211-3223.
- Li J, Johnson SE (2006). ERK2 is required for efficient terminal differentiation of skeletal myoblasts. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*. 345, 1425-1433.
- Li J, Stein TD, Johnson JA (2004). Genetic dissection of systemic autoimmune disease in Nrf2-deficient mice. *Physiological genomics*. 18, 261-272.
- Li J, Stouffs M, Serrander L, Banfi B, Bettiol E, Charnay Y, Steger K, Krause KH, Jaconi ME (2006). The NADPH oxidase NOX4 drives cardiac differentiation: Role in regulating cardiac transcription factors and MAP kinase activation. *Molecular biology of the cell*. 17, 3978-3988.
- Li X, Song L, Jope RS (1998). Glutathione depletion exacerbates impairment by oxidative stress of phosphoinositide hydrolysis, AP-1, and NF-kappaB activation by cholinergic stimulation. *Brain research*. 53, 196-205.
- Li Y, Huang TT, Carlson EJ, Melov S, Ursell PC, Olson JL, Noble LJ, Yoshimura MP, Berger C, Chan PH, Wallace DC, Epstein CJ (1995). Dilated

cardiomyopathy and neonatal lethality in mutant mice lacking manganese superoxide dismutase. *Nature genetics*. 11, 376-381.

- Li YP, Chen Y, Li AS, Reid MB (2003a). Hydrogen peroxide stimulates ubiquitin-conjugating activity and expression of genes for specific E2 and E3 proteins in skeletal muscle myotubes. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*. 285, C806-812.
- Li YP, Lecker SH, Chen Y, Waddell ID, Goldberg AL, Reid MB (2003b). TNFalpha increases ubiquitin-conjugating activity in skeletal muscle by upregulating UbcH2/E220k. *Faseb J*. 17, 1048-1057.
- Li M, Li C, Parkhouse WS (2003c). Age-related differences in the des IGF-Imediated activation of Akt-1 and p70 S6K in mouse skeletal muscle. *Mechanisms of ageing and development*. 124, 771-778.
- Liang LP , Patel M (2004). Mitochondrial oxidative stress and increased seizure susceptibility in Sod2(-/+) mice. *Free radical biology & medicine*. 36, 542-554.
- Libera LD, Zennaro R, Sandri M, Ambrosio GB, Vescovo G (1999). Apoptosis and atrophy in rat slow skeletal muscles in chronic heart failure. *The American journal of physiology*. 277, C982-986.
- Limoli CL, Giedzinski E, Baure J, Doctrow SR, Rola R, Fike JR (2006). Using superoxide dismutase/catalase mimetics to manipulate the redox environment of neural precursor cells. *Radiation protection dosimetry*. 122, 228-236.

- Lin J, Puigserver P, Donovan J, Tarr P, Spiegelman BM (2002). Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1beta (PGC-1beta), a novel PGC-1-related transcription coactivator associated with host cell factor. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 277, 1645-1648.
- Linas SL, Whittenburg D, Repine JE (1990). Role of xanthine oxidase in ischemia/reperfusion injury. *The American journal of physiology*. 258, F711-716.
- Litwin JA, Beier K, Volkl A, Hofmann WJ, Fahimi HD (1999). Immunocytochemical investigation of catalase and peroxisomal lipid betaoxidation enzymes in human hepatocellular tumors and liver cirrhosis. *Virchows Arch*. 435, 486-495.
- Liu L, Marti GP, Wei X, Zhang X, Zhang H, Liu YV, Nastai M, Semenza GL, Harmon JW (2008). Age-dependent impairment of HIF-1alpha expression in diabetic mice: Correction with electroporation-facilitated gene therapy increases wound healing, angiogenesis, and circulating angiogenic cells. *Journal of cellular physiology*. 217, 319-327.
- Liu Q, Hofmann PA (2004). Protein phosphatase 2A-mediated cross-talk between p38 MAPK and ERK in apoptosis of cardiac myocytes. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* 286, H2204-2212.
- Lluis F, Perdiguero E, Nebreda AR, Munoz-Canoves P (2006). Regulation of skeletal muscle gene expression by p38 MAP kinases. *Trends in cell biology*. 16, 36-44.

- Lopez-Torres M, Gredilla R, Sanz A, Barja G (2002). Influence of aging and long-term caloric restriction on oxygen radical generation and oxidative DNA damage in rat liver mitochondria. *Free radical biology & medicine*. 32, 882-889.
- Loscalzo J, Voetsch B, Liao R, Leopold J (2005). Genetic determinants of vascular oxidant stress and endothelial dysfunction. *Congestive heart failure (Greenwich, Conn.* 11, 73-79.
- Lu M, Bi CS, Gong XG, Chen HM, Sheng XH, Deng TL, Xu KD (2007). Antiproliferative effects of recombinant iron superoxide dismutase on HepG2 cells via a redox-dependent PI3k/Akt pathway. *Applied microbiology and biotechnology*. 76, 193-201.
- Luciano F, Jacquel A, Colosetti P, Herrant M, Cagnol S, Pages G, Auberger P (2003). Phosphorylation of Bim-EL by Erk1/2 on serine 69 promotes its degradation via the proteasome pathway and regulates its proapoptotic function. *Oncogene*. 22, 6785-6793.
- Luo X, Puig O, Hyun J, Bohmann D, Jasper H (2007). Foxo and Fos regulate the decision between cell death and survival in response to UV irradiation. *The EMBO journal.* 26, 380-390.

Mahadev K, Motoshima H, Wu X, Ruddy JM, Arnold RS, Cheng G, Lambeth JD, Goldstein BJ (2004). The NAD(P)H oxidase homolog Nox4 modulates insulin-stimulated generation of H2O2 and plays an integral role in insulin signal transduction. *Molecular and cellular biology*. 24, 1844-1854.

- Malumbres M, Perez De Castro I, Hernandez MI, Jimenez M, Corral T, Pellicer A (2000). Cellular response to oncogenic ras involves induction of the Cdk4 and Cdk6 inhibitor p15(INK4b). *Molecular and cellular biology*. 20, 2915-2925.
- Mammucari C, Milan G, Romanello V, Masiero E, Rudolf R, Del Piccolo P,
 Burden SJ, Di Lisi R, Sandri C, Zhao J, Goldberg AL, Schiaffino S,
 Sandri M (2007). FoxO3 controls autophagy in skeletal muscle in vivo. *Cell metabolism*. 6, 458-471.
- Mammucari C, Schiaffino S, Sandri M (2008). Downstream of Akt: FoxO3 and mTOR in the regulation of autophagy in skeletal muscle. *Autophagy*. 4, 524-526.
- Manning BD, Cantley LC (2007). AKT/PKB signaling: navigating downstream. *Cell*. 129, 1261-1274.
- Mansfield KD, Guzy RD, Pan Y, Young RM, Cash TP, Schumacker PT, Simon MC (2005). Mitochondrial dysfunction resulting from loss of cytochrome c impairs cellular oxygen sensing and hypoxic HIF-alpha activation. *Cell metabolism*. 1, 393-399.
- Marden JJ, Harraz MM, Williams AJ, Nelson K, Luo M, Paulson H, Engelhardt JF (2007). Redox modifier genes in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis in mice. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 117, 2913-2919.
- Masson N, Willam C, Maxwell PH, Pugh CW, Ratcliffe PJ (2001). Independent function of two destruction domains in hypoxia-inducible factor-alpha

chains activated by prolyl hydroxylation. *The EMBO journal*. 20, 5197-5206.

- Matzuk MM, Dionne L, Guo Q, Kumar TR, Lebovitz RM (1998). Ovarian function in superoxide dismutase 1 and 2 knockout mice. *Endocrinology*. 139, 4008-4011.
- Mauro A (1961). Satellite cell of skeletal muscle fibers. *The Journal of biophysical and biochemical cytology*. 9, 493-495.
- Mayer B, Oberbauer R (2003). Mitochondrial regulation of apoptosis. *News Physiol Sci.* 18, 89-94.
- McArdle A, Maglara A, Appleton P, Watson AJ, Grierson I, Jackson MJ (1999). Apoptosis in multinucleated skeletal muscle myotubes. *Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology*. 79, 1069-1076.
- McFadden SL, Ding D, Reaume AG, Flood DG, Salvi RJ (1999). Age-related cochlear hair cell loss is enhanced in mice lacking copper/zinc superoxide dismutase. *Neurobiology of aging*. 20, 1-8.
- McGirt MJ, Parra A, Sheng H, Higuchi Y, Oury TD, Laskowitz DT, Pearlstein RD, Warner DS (2002). Attenuation of cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage in mice overexpressing extracellular superoxide dismutase. *Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation*. 33, 2317-2323.
- Meadows E, Cho JH, Flynn JM, Klein WH (2008). Myogenin regulates a distinct genetic program in adult muscle stem cells. *Developmental biology*.
- Megeney LA, Rudnicki MA (1995). Determination versus differentiation and the MyoD family of transcription factors. *Biochemistry and cell biology* = *Biochimie et biologie cellulaire*. 73, 723-732.
- Meier A, Fiegler H, Munoz P, Ellis P, Rigler D, Langford C, Blasco MA, Carter N, Jackson SP (2007). Spreading of mammalian DNA-damage response factors studied by ChIP-chip at damaged telomeres. *The EMBO journal*. 26, 2707-2718.
- Melov S, Coskun P, Patel M, Tuinstra R, Cottrell B, Jun AS, Zastawny TH,
 Dizdaroglu M, Goodman SI, Huang TT, Miziorko H, Epstein CJ, Wallace
 DC (1999). Mitochondrial disease in superoxide dismutase 2 mutant mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 96, 846-851.
- Mietus-Snyder M, Glass CK, Pitas RE (1998). Transcriptional activation of scavenger receptor expression in human smooth muscle cells requires AP-1/c-Jun and C/EBPbeta: both AP-1 binding and JNK activation are induced by phorbol esters and oxidative stress. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology*. 18, 1440-1449.
- Mieulet V, Roceri M, Espeillac C, Sotiropoulos A, Ohanna M, Oorschot V, Klumperman J, Sandri M , Pende M (2007). S6 kinase inactivation impairs growth and translational target phosphorylation in muscle cells maintaining proper regulation of protein turnover. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol.* 293, C712-722.

- Miller FJ, Rosenfeldt FL, Zhang C, Linnane AW, Nagley P (2003). Precise determination of mitochondrial DNA copy number in human skeletal and cardiac muscle by a PCR-based assay: lack of change of copy number with age. *Nucleic acids research*. 31, e61.
- Mitsui A, Hamuro J, Nakamura H, Kondo N, Hirabayashi Y, Ishizaki-Koizumi S,
 Hirakawa T, Inoue T, Yodoi J (2002). Overexpression of human
 thioredoxin in transgenic mice controls oxidative stress and life span.
 Antioxidants & redox signaling. 4, 693-696.
- Mofarrahi M, Brandes RP, Gorlach A, Hanze J, Terada LS, Quinn MT, Mayaki D,
 Petrof B, Hussain SN (2008). Regulation of proliferation of skeletal
 muscle precursor cells by NADPH oxidase. *Antioxidants & redox signaling*.
 10, 559-574.
- Moresi V, Pristera A, Scicchitano BM, Molinaro M, Teodori L, Sassoon D, Adamo S, Coletti D (2008). Tumor necrosis factor-alpha inhibition of skeletal muscle regeneration is mediated by a caspase-dependent stem cell response. *Stem cells (Dayton, Ohio)*. 26, 997-1008.
- Motta MC, Divecha N, Lemieux M, Kamel C, Chen D, Gu W, Bultsma Y,
 McBurney M, Guarente L (2004). Mammalian SIRT1 represses forkhead
 transcription factors. *Cell*. 116, 551-563.
- Moyes CD, Mathieu-Costello OA, Tsuchiya N, Filburn C, Hansford RG (1997). Mitochondrial biogenesis during cellular differentiation. *The American journal of physiology*. 272, C1345-1351.

- Mukhopadhyay P, Rajesh M, Yoshihiro K, Hasko G, Pacher P (2007). Simple quantitative detection of mitochondrial superoxide production in live cells. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*. 358, 203-208.
- Muller FL, Song W, Jang YC, Liu Y, Sabia M, Richardson A, Van Remmen H (2007). Denervation-induced skeletal muscle atrophy is associated with increased mitochondrial ROS production. *American journal of physiology*. 293, R1159-1168.
- Muller FL, Song W, Liu Y, Chaudhuri A, Pieke-Dahl S, Strong R, Huang TT, Epstein CJ, Roberts LJ, 2nd, Csete M, Faulkner JA, Van Remmen H (2006). Absence of CuZn superoxide dismutase leads to elevated oxidative stress and acceleration of age-dependent skeletal muscle atrophy. *Free radical biology & medicine*. 40, 1993-2004.
- Murawaki Y, Tsuchiya H, Kanbe T, Harada K, Yashima K, Nozaka K, Tanida O, Kohno M, Mukoyama T, Nishimuki E, Kojo H, Matsura T, Takahashi K, Osaki M, Ito H, Yodoi J, Murawaki Y, Shiota G (2008). Aberrant expression of selenoproteins in the progression of colorectal cancer. *Cancer letters*. 259, 218-230.
- Musaro A, McCullagh K, Paul A, Houghton L, Dobrowolny G, Molinaro M, Barton ER, Sweeney HL, Rosenthal N (2001). Localized Igf-1 transgene expression sustains hypertrophy and regeneration in senescent skeletal muscle. *Nature genetics*. 27, 195-200.
- Nairn RS, Kazianis S, McEntire BB, Della Coletta L, Walter RB, Morizot DC (1996). A CDKN2-like polymorphism in Xiphophorus LG V is associated

with UV-B-induced melanoma formation in platyfish-swordtail hybrids. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 93, 13042-13047.

- Nakae J, Kitamura T, Kitamura Y, Biggs WH, 3rd, Arden KC, Accili D (2003). The forkhead transcription factor Foxo1 regulates adipocyte differentiation. *Developmental cell.* 4, 119-129.
- Nakano M, Gotoh S (1992). Accumulation of cardiac lipofuscin depends on metabolic rate of mammals. *Journal of gerontology*. 47, B126-129.

Nakatani K, Sakaue H, Thompson DA, Weigel RJ, Roth RA (1999). Identification of a human Akt3 (protein kinase B gamma) which contains the regulatory serine phosphorylation site. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*. 257, 906-910.

- Navarro A, Sanchez Del Pino MJ, Gomez C, Peralta JL, Boveris A (2002). Behavioral dysfunction, brain oxidative stress, and impaired mitochondrial electron transfer in aging mice. *American journal of physiology*. 282, R985-992.
- Navarro J, Obrador E, Carretero J, Petschen I, Avino J, Perez P, Estrela JM (1999). Changes in glutathione status and the antioxidant system in blood and in cancer cells associate with tumour growth in vivo. *Free radical biology & medicine*. 26, 410-418.
- Nave BT, Ouwens M, Withers DJ, Alessi DR, Shepherd PR (1999). Mammalian target of rapamycin is a direct target for protein kinase B: identification of a convergence point for opposing effects of insulin and amino-acid

deficiency on protein translation. *The Biochemical journal*. 344 Pt 2, 427-431.

- Nelson KK, Ranganathan AC, Mansouri J, Rodriguez AM, Providence KM, Rutter JL, Pumiglia K, Bennett JA, Melendez JA (2003). Elevated sod2 activity augments matrix metalloproteinase expression: evidence for the involvement of endogenous hydrogen peroxide in regulating metastasis. *Clin Cancer Res.* 9, 424-432.
- Newlands S, Levitt LK, Robinson CS, Karpf AB, Hodgson VR, Wade RP, Hardeman EC (1998). Transcription occurs in pulses in muscle fibers. *Genes & development*. 12, 2748-2758.
- Ng Y, Ramm G, Lopez JA, James DE (2008). Rapid activation of Akt2 is sufficient to stimulate GLUT4 translocation in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *Cell metabolism*. 7, 348-356.
- Niwa K, Inanami O, Yamamori T, Ohta T, Hamasu T, Kuwabara M (2003). Redox regulation of PI3K/Akt and p53 in bovine aortic endothelial cells exposed to hydrogen peroxide. *Antioxidants & redox signaling*. 5, 713-722.
- Nystrom T (2005). Role of oxidative carbonylation in protein quality control and senescence. *The EMBO journal*. 24, 1311-1317.
- Ogura M, Kitamura M (1998). Oxidant stress incites spreading of macrophages via extracellular signal-regulated kinases and p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase. *J Immunol*. 161, 3569-3574.
- Ohanna M, Sobering AK, Lapointe T, Lorenzo L, Praud C, Petroulakis E, Sonenberg N, Kelly PA, Sotiropoulos A, Pende M (2005). Atrophy of

S6K1(-/-) skeletal muscle cells reveals distinct mTOR effectors for cell cycle and size control. *Nature cell biology*. 7, 286-294.

- Ohlemiller KK, McFadden SL, Ding DL, Flood DG, Reaume AG, Hoffman EK, Scott RW, Wright JS, Putcha GV, Salvi RJ (1999). Targeted deletion of the cytosolic Cu/Zn-superoxide dismutase gene (Sod1) increases susceptibility to noise-induced hearing loss. *Audiology & neuro-otology*. 4, 237-246.
- Ohsawa I, Ishikawa M, Takahashi K, Watanabe M, Nishimaki K, Yamagata K, Katsura K, Katayama Y, Asoh S, Ohta S (2007). Hydrogen acts as a therapeutic antioxidant by selectively reducing cytotoxic oxygen radicals. *Nature medicine*. 13, 688-694.
- Olguin HC, Olwin BB (2004). Pax-7 up-regulation inhibits myogenesis and cell cycle progression in satellite cells: a potential mechanism for self-renewal. *Developmental biology*. 275, 375-388.
- Ono Y, Sensui H, Sakamoto Y, Nagatomi R (2006). Knockdown of hypoxiainducible factor-1alpha by siRNA inhibits C2C12 myoblast differentiation. *Journal of cellular biochemistry*. 98, 642-649.
- Oury TD, Ho YS, Piantadosi CA, Crapo JD (1992). Extracellular superoxide dismutase, nitric oxide, and central nervous system O2 toxicity.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 89, 9715-9719.

Pages G, Guerin S, Grall D, Bonino F, Smith A, Anjuere F, Auberger P,
Pouyssegur J (1999). Defective thymocyte maturation in p44 MAP kinase
(Erk 1) knockout mice. *Science (New York, N.Y.* 286, 1374-1377.

- Pak JW, Herbst A, Bua E, Gokey N, McKenzie D, Aiken JM (2003). Mitochondrial DNA mutations as a fundamental mechanism in physiological declines associated with aging. *Aging cell.* 2, 1-7.
- Pansarasa O, Bertorelli L, Vecchiet J, Felzani G, Marzatico F (1999). Agedependent changes of antioxidant activities and markers of free radical damage in human skeletal muscle. *Free radical biology & medicine*. 27, 617-622.
- Papa S, Skulachev VP (1997). Reactive oxygen species, mitochondria, apoptosis and aging. *Molecular and cellular biochemistry*. 174, 305-319.
- Patel S, Van Der Kaay J, Sutherland C (2002). Insulin regulation of hepatic insulin-like growth factor-binding protein-1 (IGFBP-1) gene expression and mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) signalling is impaired by the presence of hydrogen peroxide. *The Biochemical journal*. 365, 537-545.
- Patti ME, Butte AJ, Crunkhorn S, Cusi K, Berria R, Kashyap S, Miyazaki Y,
 Kohane I, Costello M, Saccone R, Landaker EJ, Goldfine AB, Mun E,
 DeFronzo R, Finlayson J, Kahn CR, Mandarino LJ (2003). Coordinated
 reduction of genes of oxidative metabolism in humans with insulin
 resistance and diabetes: Potential role of PGC1 and NRF1. *Proceedings*of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 100,
 8466-8471.

Perdiguero E, Ruiz-Bonilla V, Gresh L, Hui L, Ballestar E, Sousa-Victor P,
Baeza-Raja B, Jardi M, Bosch-Comas A, Esteller M, Caelles C, Serrano
AL, Wagner EF, Munoz-Canoves P (2007). Genetic analysis of p38 MAP
kinases in myogenesis: fundamental role of p38alpha in abrogating
myoblast proliferation. *The EMBO journal*. 26, 1245-1256.

Perkins ND (2003). Oncogenes, tumor suppressors and p52 NF-kappaB. Oncogene. 22, 7553-7556.

- Persinger R, Janssen-Heininger Y, Wing SS, Matthews DE, LeWinter MM, Toth MJ (2003). Effect of heart failure on the regulation of skeletal muscle protein synthesis, breakdown, and apoptosis. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* 284, E1001-1008.
- Peterson RT, Desai BN, Hardwick JS, Schreiber SL (1999). Protein phosphatase 2A interacts with the 70-kDa S6 kinase and is activated by inhibition of FKBP12-rapamycinassociated protein. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 96, 4438-4442.
- Phillips T , Leeuwenburgh C (2005). Muscle fiber specific apoptosis and TNFalpha signaling in sarcopenia are attenuated by life-long calorie restriction. *Faseb J.* 19, 668-670.
- Piao YJ, Seo YH, Hong F, Kim JH, Kim YJ, Kang MH, Kim BS, Jo SA, Jo I, Jue DM, Kang I, Ha J, Kim SS (2005). Nox 2 stimulates muscle differentiation via NF-kappaB/iNOS pathway. *Free radical biology & medicine*. 38, 989-1001.

- Pignolo RJ, Martin BG, Horton JH, Kalbach AN, Cristofalo VJ (1998). The pathway of cell senescence: WI-38 cells arrest in late G1 and are unable to traverse the cell cycle from a true G0 state. *Experimental gerontology*. 33, 67-80.
- Pollack M, Leeuwenburgh C (2001). Apoptosis and aging: role of the mitochondria. *The journals of gerontology*. 56, B475-482.
- Ponsot E, Lexell J, Kadi F (2008). Skeletal muscle telomere length is not impaired in healthy physically active old women and men. *Muscle & nerve*. 37, 467-472.
- Poon AC, Ferrell JE, Jr. (2007). Systems biology. A clock with a flip switch. *Science (New York, N.Y.* 318, 757-758.
- Powell CS, Jackson RM (2003). Mitochondrial complex I, aconitase, and succinate dehydrogenase during hypoxia-reoxygenation: modulation of enzyme activities by MnSOD. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*. 285, L189-198.
- Puigserver P, Wu Z, Park CW, Graves R, Wright M, Spiegelman BM (1998). A cold-inducible coactivator of nuclear receptors linked to adaptive thermogenesis. *Cell.* 92, 829-839.

Qin G, Zhang Y, Cao W, An R, Gao Z, Li G, Xu W, Zhang K, Li S (2005).
Molecular imaging of atherosclerotic plaques with technetium-99mlabelled antisense oligonucleotides. *European journal of nuclear medicine and molecular imaging*. 32, 6-14.

- Qin Z, Itoh S, Jeney V, Ushio-Fukai M, Fukai T (2006). Essential role for the Menkes ATPase in activation of extracellular superoxide dismutase: implication for vascular oxidative stress. *Faseb J*. 20, 334-336.
- Rahman I, Gilmour PS, Jimenez LA, Biswas SK, Antonicelli F, Aruoma OI
 (2003). Ergothioneine inhibits oxidative stress- and TNF-alpha-induced
 NF-kappa B activation and interleukin-8 release in alveolar epithelial cells. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*. 302, 860-864.
- Rando TA, Blau HM (1994). Primary mouse myoblast purification, characterization, and transplantation for cell-mediated gene therapy. *The Journal of cell biology*. 125, 1275-1287.
- Rao GN, Lassegue B, Griendling KK, Alexander RW (1993). Hydrogen peroxide stimulates transcription of c-jun in vascular smooth muscle cells: role of arachidonic acid. *Oncogene*. 8, 2759-2764.
- Rasbach KA, Schnellmann RG (2007). PGC-1alpha over-expression promotes recovery from mitochondrial dysfunction and cell injury. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*. 355, 734-739.
- Rasbach KA, Schnellmann RG (2007). Signaling of mitochondrial biogenesis following oxidant injury. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 282, 2355-2362.
- Rasmussen BB, Fujita S, Wolfe RR, Mittendorfer B, Roy M, Rowe VL, Volpi E
 (2006). Insulin resistance of muscle protein metabolism in aging. *Faseb J*.
 20, 768-769.

- Raue U, Slivka D, Jemiolo B, Hollon C, Trappe S (2007). Proteolytic gene expression differs at rest and after resistance exercise between young and old women. *The journals of gerontology*. 62, 1407-1412.
- Reaume AG, Elliott JL, Hoffman EK, Kowall NW, Ferrante RJ, Siwek DF, Wilcox HM, Flood DG, Beal MF, Brown RH, Jr., Scott RW, Snider WD (1996).
 Motor neurons in Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase-deficient mice develop normally but exhibit enhanced cell death after axonal injury. *Nature genetics.* 13, 43-47.
- Rebbapragada A, Johnson MS, Harding GP, Zuccarelli AJ, Fletcher HM, Zhulin IB, Taylor BL (1997). The Aer protein and the serine chemoreceptor Tsr independently sense intracellular energy levels and transduce oxygen, redox, and energy signals for Escherichia coli behavior. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 94, 10541-10546.
- Relaix F (2006). Skeletal muscle progenitor cells: from embryo to adult. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* 63, 1221-1225.
- Relaix F, Montarras D, Zaffran S, Gayraud-Morel B, Rocancourt D, Tajbakhsh S,
 Mansouri A, Cumano A, Buckingham M (2006). Pax3 and Pax7 have
 distinct and overlapping functions in adult muscle progenitor cells. *The Journal of cell biology*. 172, 91-102.
- Relaix F, Rocancourt D, Mansouri A, Buckingham M (2004). Divergent functions of murine Pax3 and Pax7 in limb muscle development. *Genes & development*. 18, 1088-1105.

- Relaix F, Rocancourt D, Mansouri A, Buckingham M (2005). A Pax3/Pax7dependent population of skeletal muscle progenitor cells. *Nature*. 435, 948-953.
- Ressler S, Bartkova J, Niederegger H, Bartek J, Scharffetter-Kochanek K, Jansen-Durr P, Wlaschek M (2006). p16INK4A is a robust in vivo biomarker of cellular aging in human skin. *Aging cell*. 5, 379-389.
- Richler C, Yaffe D (1970). The in vitro cultivation and differentiation capacities of myogenic cell lines. *Developmental biology*. 23, 1-22.
- Rochard P, Rodier A, Casas F, Cassar-Malek I, Marchal-Victorion S, Daury L, Wrutniak C, Cabello G (2000). Mitochondrial activity is involved in the regulation of myoblast differentiation through myogenin expression and activity of myogenic factors. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 275, 2733-2744.
- Rodriguez JA, Nespereira B, Perez-Ilzarbe M, Eguinoa E, Paramo JA (2005). Vitamins C and E prevent endothelial VEGF and VEGFR-2 overexpression induced by porcine hypercholesterolemic LDL. *Cardiovascular research*. 65, 665-673.
- Rodriguez-Iturbe B, Sepassi L, Quiroz Y, Ni Z, Wallace DC, Vaziri ND (2007).
 Association of mitochondrial SOD deficiency with salt-sensitive
 hypertension and accelerated renal senescence. *J Appl Physiol.* 102, 255-260.
- Rommel C, Bodine SC, Clarke BA, Rossman R, Nunez L, Stitt TN, Yancopoulos GD, Glass DJ (2001). Mediation of IGF-1-induced skeletal myotube

hypertrophy by PI(3)K/Akt/mTOR and PI(3)K/Akt/GSK3 pathways. *Nature cell biology*. 3, 1009-1013.

- Rosen DR, Siddique T, Patterson D, Figlewicz DA, Sapp P, Hentati A, Donaldson D, Goto J, O'Regan JP, Deng HX, et al. (1993). Mutations in Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase gene are associated with familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Nature*. 362, 59-62.
- Rosen H, Rakita RM, Waltersdorph AM, Klebanoff SJ (1987). Myeloperoxidasemediated damage to the succinate oxidase system of Escherichia coli.
 Evidence for selective inactivation of the dehydrogenase component. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 262, 15004-15010.
- Roux PP, Blenis J (2004). ERK and p38 MAPK-activated protein kinases: a family of protein kinases with diverse biological functions. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev.* 68, 320-344.
- Rudnicki MA, Schnegelsberg PN, Stead RH, Braun T, Arnold HH, Jaenisch R (1993). MyoD or Myf-5 is required for the formation of skeletal muscle. *Cell*. 75, 1351-1359.
- Sacheck JM, Hyatt JP, Raffaello A, Jagoe RT, Roy RR, Edgerton VR, Lecker SH, Goldberg AL (2007). Rapid disuse and denervation atrophy involve transcriptional changes similar to those of muscle wasting during systemic diseases. *Faseb J*. 21, 140-155.
- Salminen A, Ojala J, Huuskonen J, Kauppinen A, Suuronen T, Kaarniranta K (2008). Interaction of aging-associated signaling cascades: inhibition of

NF-kappaB signaling by longevity factors FoxOs and SIRT1. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* 65, 1049-1058.

- Salvemini D, Mazzon E, Dugo L, Serraino I, De Sarro A, Caputi AP, Cuzzocrea S (2001). Amelioration of joint disease in a rat model of collagen-induced arthritis by M40403, a superoxide dismutase mimetic. *Arthritis and rheumatism.* 44, 2909-2921.
- Sandri M, Sandri C, Gilbert A, Skurk C, Calabria E, Picard A, Walsh K, Schiaffino S, Lecker SH, Goldberg AL (2004). Foxo transcription factors induce the atrophy-related ubiquitin ligase atrogin-1 and cause skeletal muscle atrophy. *Cell.* 117, 399-412.
- Sandstrom J, Karlsson K, Edlund T, Marklund SL (1993). Heparin-affinity patterns and composition of extracellular superoxide dismutase in human plasma and tissues. *The Biochemical journal*. 294 (Pt 3), 853-857.
- Schenk H, Vogt M, Droge W, Schulze-Osthoff K (1996). Thioredoxin as a potent costimulus of cytokine expression. *J Immunol*. 156, 765-771.
- Schleicher ED, Wagner E, Nerlich AG (1997). Increased accumulation of the glycoxidation product N(epsilon)-(carboxymethyl)lysine in human tissues in diabetes and aging. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 99, 457-468.
- Schriner SE, Linford NJ, Martin GM, Treuting P, Ogburn CE, Emond M, Coskun PE, Ladiges W, Wolf N, Van Remmen H, Wallace DC, Rabinovitch PS (2005). Extension of murine life span by overexpression of catalase targeted to mitochondria. *Science (New York, N.Y.* 308, 1909-1911.

- Scott PH, Brunn GJ, Kohn AD, Roth RA, Lawrence JC, Jr. (1998). Evidence of insulin-stimulated phosphorylation and activation of the mammalian target of rapamycin mediated by a protein kinase B signaling pathway. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 95, 7772-7777.
- Sen CK (1999). Glutathione homeostasis in response to exercise training and nutritional supplements. *Molecular and cellular biochemistry*. 196, 31-42.
- Sharma P, Rupar CA, Rip JW (1998). Consequences of aging on mitochondrial respiratory chain enzymes in cultured human fibroblasts treated with ascorbate. *Gerontology*. 44, 78-84.
- Shatrov VA, Sumbayev VV, Zhou J, Brune B (2003). Oxidized low-density lipoprotein (oxLDL) triggers hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha (HIF-1alpha) accumulation via redox-dependent mechanisms. *Blood*. 101, 4847-4849.
- Shefer G, Van de Mark DP, Richardson JB, Yablonka-Reuveni Z (2006). Satellite-cell pool size does matter: defining the myogenic potency of aging skeletal muscle. *Developmental biology*. 294, 50-66.
- Sheng H, Brady TC, Pearlstein RD, Crapo JD, Warner DS (1999). Extracellular superoxide dismutase deficiency worsens outcome from focal cerebral ischemia in the mouse. *Neuroscience letters*. 267, 13-16.
- Shintani T, Klionsky DJ (2004). Cargo proteins facilitate the formation of transport vesicles in the cytoplasm to vacuole targeting pathway. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 279, 29889-29894.

- Shiose A, Kuroda J, Tsuruya K, Hirai M, Hirakata H, Naito S, Hattori M, Sakaki Y, Sumimoto H (2001). A novel superoxide-producing NAD(P)H oxidase in kidney. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 276, 1417-1423.
- Shono T, Ono M, Izumi H, Jimi SI, Matsushima K, Okamoto T, Kohno K, Kuwano M (1996). Involvement of the transcription factor NF-kappaB in tubular morphogenesis of human microvascular endothelial cells by oxidative stress. *Molecular and cellular biology*. 16, 4231-4239.
- Silva JP, Shabalina IG, Dufour E, Petrovic N, Backlund EC, Hultenby K, Wibom R, Nedergaard J, Cannon B, Larsson NG (2005). SOD2 overexpression: enhanced mitochondrial tolerance but absence of effect on UCP activity. *The EMBO journal*. 24, 4061-4070.
- Singh I (1996). Mammalian peroxisomes: metabolism of oxygen and reactive oxygen species. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. 804, 612-627.
- Skapek SX, Rhee J, Spicer DB, Lassar AB (1995). Inhibition of myogenic differentiation in proliferating myoblasts by cyclin D1-dependent kinase. *Science (New York, N.Y.* 267, 1022-1024.
- Sohal RS (2002). Role of oxidative stress and protein oxidation in the aging process. *Free radical biology & medicine*. 33, 37-44.
- Sorescu D, Weiss D, Lassegue B, Clempus RE, Szocs K, Sorescu GP, Valppu L, Quinn MT, Lambeth JD, Vega JD, Taylor WR, Griendling KK (2002).
 Superoxide production and expression of nox family proteins in human atherosclerosis. *Circulation*. 105, 1429-1435.

Southgate RJ, Neill B, Prelovsek O, El-Osta A, Kamei Y, Miura S, Ezaki O, McLoughlin TJ, Zhang W, Unterman TG, Febbraio MA (2007). FOXO1 regulates the expression of 4E-BP1 and inhibits mTOR signaling in mammalian skeletal muscle. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 282, 21176-21186.

- Srinivas V, Zhang LP, Zhu XH, Caro J (1999). Characterization of an oxygen/redox-dependent degradation domain of hypoxia-inducible factor alpha (HIF-alpha) proteins. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*. 260, 557-561.
- Srivastava S, Chan C (2007). Hydrogen peroxide and hydroxyl radicals mediate palmitate-induced cytotoxicity to hepatoma cells: relation to mitochondrial permeability transition. *Free radical research*. 41, 38-49.
- St John JC, Ramalho-Santos J, Gray HL, Petrosko P, Rawe VY, Navara CS, Simerly CR, Schatten GP (2005). The expression of mitochondrial DNA transcription factors during early cardiomyocyte in vitro differentiation from human embryonic stem cells. *Cloning and stem cells*. 7, 141-153.
- Stadtman ER (2002). Importance of individuality in oxidative stress and aging. *Free radical biology & medicine*. 33, 597-604.
- Stahl M, Dijkers PF, Kops GJ, Lens SM, Coffer PJ, Burgering BM, Medema RH (2002). The forkhead transcription factor FoxO regulates transcription of p27Kip1 and Bim in response to IL-2. *J Immunol*. 168, 5024-5031.
- Steinberg HO, Chaker H, Leaming R, Johnson A, Brechtel G, Baron AD (1996). Obesity/insulin resistance is associated with endothelial dysfunction.

Implications for the syndrome of insulin resistance. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 97, 2601-2610.

- Steinmetz I, Weber T, Beier K, Czerny F, Kusterer K, Hanisch E, Volkl A, Fahimi HD, Angermuller S (1998). Impairment of peroxisomal structure and function in rat liver allograft rejection: prevention by cyclosporine. *Transplantation*. 66, 186-194.
- Stevenson EJ, Giresi PG, Koncarevic A, Kandarian SC (2003). Global analysis of gene expression patterns during disuse atrophy in rat skeletal muscle. *The Journal of physiology*. 551, 33-48.
- Stitt TN, Drujan D, Clarke BA, Panaro F, Timofeyva Y, Kline WO, Gonzalez M, Yancopoulos GD, Glass DJ (2004). The IGF-1/PI3K/Akt pathway prevents expression of muscle atrophy-induced ubiquitin ligases by inhibiting FOXO transcription factors. *Molecular cell*. 14, 395-403.
- St-Pierre J, Drori S, Uldry M, Silvaggi JM, Rhee J, Jager S, Handschin C, Zheng K, Lin J, Yang W, Simon DK, Bachoo R, Spiegelman BM (2006).
 Suppression of reactive oxygen species and neurodegeneration by the PGC-1 transcriptional coactivators. *Cell.* 127, 397-408.
- Strassburger M, Bloch W, Sulyok S, Schuller J, Keist AF, Schmidt A, Wenk J, Peters T, Wlaschek M, Lenart J, Krieg T, Hafner M, Kumin A, Werner S, Muller W, Scharffetter-Kochanek K (2005). Heterozygous deficiency of manganese superoxide dismutase results in severe lipid peroxidation and spontaneous apoptosis in murine myocardium in vivo. *Free radical biology* & *medicine*. 38, 1458-1470.

- Strasser H, Tiefenthaler M, Steinlechner M, Eder I, Bartsch G, Konwalinka G (2000). Age dependent apoptosis and loss of rhabdosphincter cells. *The Journal of urology*. 164, 1781-1785.
- Strle K, Broussard SR, McCusker RH, Shen WH, LeCleir JM, Johnson RW, Freund GG, Dantzer R, Kelley KW (2006). C-jun N-terminal kinase mediates tumor necrosis factor-alpha suppression of differentiation in myoblasts. *Endocrinology*. 147, 4363-4373.
- Stroka DM, Burkhardt T, Desbaillets I, Wenger RH, Neil DA, Bauer C, Gassmann M, Candinas D (2001). HIF-1 is expressed in normoxic tissue and displays an organ-specific regulation under systemic hypoxia. *Faseb J*. 15, 2445-2453.
- Suh YA, Arnold RS, Lassegue B, Shi J, Xu X, Sorescu D, Chung AB, Griendling KK, Lambeth JD (1999). Cell transformation by the superoxidegenerating oxidase Mox1. *Nature*. 401, 79-82.
- Sunters A, Fernandez de Mattos S, Stahl M, Brosens JJ, Zoumpoulidou G,
 Saunders CA, Coffer PJ, Medema RH, Coombes RC, Lam EW (2003).
 FoxO3a transcriptional regulation of Bim controls apoptosis in paclitaxeltreated breast cancer cell lines. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 278, 49795-49805.
- Tajbakhsh S, Rocancourt D, Buckingham M (1996). Muscle progenitor cells failing to respond to positional cues adopt non-myogenic fates in myf-5 null mice. *Nature*. 384, 266-270.

Takagi Y, Mitsui A, Nishiyama A, Nozaki K, Sono H, Gon Y, Hashimoto N, Yodoi J (1999). Overexpression of thioredoxin in transgenic mice attenuates focal ischemic brain damage. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 96, 4131-4136.

Takaishi H, Konishi H, Matsuzaki H, Ono Y, Shirai Y, Saito N, Kitamura T,
Ogawa W, Kasuga M, Kikkawa U, Nishizuka Y (1999). Regulation of
nuclear translocation of forkhead transcription factor AFX by protein
kinase B. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 96, 11836-11841.

- Tassi V, Coco A, Padovano L, De Bonis C, De Cosmo S, Trischitta V (2008). Akt2 Gene common allelic variants in insulin resistance and the metabolic syndrome. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* 18, 263-270.
- Tatsumi R, Anderson JE, Nevoret CJ, Halevy O, Allen RE (1998). HGF/SF is present in normal adult skeletal muscle and is capable of activating satellite cells. *Developmental biology*. 194, 114-128.
- Tatsumi R, Hattori A, Ikeuchi Y, Anderson JE, Allen RE (2002). Release of hepatocyte growth factor from mechanically stretched skeletal muscle satellite cells and role of pH and nitric oxide. *Molecular biology of the cell*. 13, 2909-2918.

Taylor RW, Barron MJ, Borthwick GM, Gospel A, Chinnery PF, Samuels DC,
Taylor GA, Plusa SM, Needham SJ, Greaves LC, Kirkwood TB, Turnbull
DM (2003). Mitochondrial DNA mutations in human colonic crypt stem
cells. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 112, 1351-1360.

- Terman A, Brunk UT (1998). On the degradability and exocytosis of ceroid/lipofuscin in cultured rat cardiac myocytes. *Mechanisms of ageing and development*. 100, 145-156.
- Tews DS, Behrhof W , Schindler S (2005). Expression patterns of initiator and effector caspases in denervated human skeletal muscle. *Muscle & nerve*. 31, 175-181.
- Tews DS, Goebel HH (1997). Apoptosis-related proteins in skeletal muscle fibers of spinal muscular atrophy. *Journal of neuropathology and experimental neurology*. 56, 150-156.
- Thompson MG, Thom A, Partridge K, Garden K, Campbell GP, Calder G, Palmer RM (1999). Stimulation of myofibrillar protein degradation and expression of mRNA encoding the ubiquitin-proteasome system in C(2)C(12) myotubes by dexamethasone: effect of the proteasome inhibitor MG-132. *Journal of cellular physiology*. 181, 455-461.
- Torella D, Rota M, Nurzynska D, Musso E, Monsen A, Shiraishi I, Zias E, Walsh K, Rosenzweig A, Sussman MA, Urbanek K, Nadal-Ginard B, Kajstura J, Anversa P, Leri A (2004). Cardiac stem cell and myocyte aging, heart failure, and insulin-like growth factor-1 overexpression. *Circulation research*. 94, 514-524.
- Toyokuni S (2002). Iron and carcinogenesis: from Fenton reaction to target genes. *Redox Rep.* 7, 189-197.
- Tran H, Brunet A, Grenier JM, Datta SR, Fornace AJ, Jr., DiStefano PS, Chiang LW, Greenberg ME (2002). DNA repair pathway stimulated by the

forkhead transcription factor FOXO3a through the Gadd45 protein. *Science (New York, N.Y.* 296, 530-534.

- Trifunovic A, Hansson A, Wredenberg A, Rovio AT, Dufour E, Khvorostov I, Spelbrink JN, Wibom R, Jacobs HT, Larsson NG (2005). Somatic mtDNA mutations cause aging phenotypes without affecting reactive oxygen species production. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 102, 17993-17998.
- Trifunovic A, Wredenberg A, Falkenberg M, Spelbrink JN, Rovio AT, Bruder CE, Bohlooly YM, Gidlof S, Oldfors A, Wibom R, Tornell J, Jacobs HT, Larsson NG (2004). Premature ageing in mice expressing defective mitochondrial DNA polymerase. *Nature*. 429, 417-423.
- Umekawa T, Sugiyama T, Kihira T, Murabayashi N, Zhang L, Nagao K, Kamimoto Y, Ma N, Yodoi J, Sagawa N (2008). Overexpression of thioredoxin-1 reduces oxidative stress in the placenta of transgenic mice and promotes fetal growth via glucose metabolism. *Endocrinology*.
- Ungvari Z, Labinskyy N, Gupte S, Chander PN, Edwards JG, Csiszar A (2008). Dysregulation of mitochondrial biogenesis in vascular endothelial and smooth muscle cells of aged rats. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* 294, H2121-2128.
- Ushio-Fukai M, Alexander RW, Akers M, Griendling KK (1998). p38 Mitogenactivated protein kinase is a critical component of the redox-sensitive signaling pathways activated by angiotensin II. Role in vascular smooth

muscle cell hypertrophy. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 273, 15022-15029.

- Vaillant F, Nagley P (1995). Human cell mutants with very low mitochondrial DNA copy number (rho d). *Human molecular genetics*. 4, 903-914.
- Van der Heide LP, Jacobs FM, Burbach JP, Hoekman MF, Smidt MP (2005).
 FoxO6 transcriptional activity is regulated by Thr26 and Ser184,
 independent of nucleo-cytoplasmic shuttling. *The Biochemical journal*. 391, 623-629.

Van Remmen H, Ikeno Y, Hamilton M, Pahlavani M, Wolf N, Thorpe SR, Alderson NL, Baynes JW, Epstein CJ, Huang TT, Nelson J, Strong R, Richardson A (2003). Life-long reduction in MnSOD activity results in increased DNA damage and higher incidence of cancer but does not accelerate aging. *Physiological genomics*. 16, 29-37.

- Van Remmen H, Salvador C, Yang H, Huang TT, Epstein CJ, Richardson A (1999). Characterization of the antioxidant status of the heterozygous manganese superoxide dismutase knockout mouse. *Archives of biochemistry and biophysics*. 363, 91-97.
- Van Remmen H, Williams MD, Guo Z, Estlack L, Yang H, Carlson EJ, Epstein CJ, Huang TT, Richardson A (2001). Knockout mice heterozygous for Sod2 show alterations in cardiac mitochondrial function and apoptosis. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* 281, H1422-1432.
- Varjosalo M, Bjorklund M, Cheng F, Syvanen H, Kivioja T, Kilpinen S, Sun Z, Kallioniemi O, Stunnenberg HG, He WW, Ojala P, Taipale J (2008).

Application of active and kinase-deficient kinome collection for

identification of kinases regulating hedgehog signaling. Cell. 133, 537-548.

- Vasilaki A, Csete M, Pye D, Lee S, Palomero J, McArdle F, Van Remmen H,
 Richardson A, McArdle A, Faulkner JA, Jackson MJ (2006). Genetic
 modification of the manganese superoxide dismutase/glutathione
 peroxidase 1 pathway influences intracellular ROS generation in quiescent,
 but not contracting, skeletal muscle cells. *Free radical biology & medicine*.
 41, 1719-1725.
- Ventura JJ, Hubner A, Zhang C, Flavell RA, Shokat KM, Davis RJ (2006). Chemical genetic analysis of the time course of signal transduction by JNK. *Molecular cell*. 21, 701-710.
- Verdijk LB, Koopman R, Schaart G, Meijer K, Savelberg HH, van Loon LJ (2007). Satellite cell content is specifically reduced in type II skeletal muscle fibers in the elderly. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*. 292, E151-157.
- Viguie CA, Frei B, Shigenaga MK, Ames BN, Packer L, Brooks GA (1993). Antioxidant status and indexes of oxidative stress during consecutive days of exercise. *J Appl Physiol.* 75, 566-572.
- Volpi E, Rasmussen BB (2000). Nutrition and muscle protein metabolism in the elderly. *Diabetes, nutrition & metabolism*. 13, 99-107.
- Wan PT, Garnett MJ, Roe SM, Lee S, Niculescu-Duvaz D, Good VM, Jones CM, Marshall CJ, Springer CJ, Barford D, Marais R (2004). Mechanism of

activation of the RAF-ERK signaling pathway by oncogenic mutations of B-RAF. *Cell.* 116, 855-867.

- Wang CC, Tsai MF, Hong TM, Chang GC, Chen CY, Yang WM, Chen JJ, Yang PC (2005). The transcriptional factor YY1 upregulates the novel invasion suppressor HLJ1 expression and inhibits cancer cell invasion. *Oncogene*. 24, 4081-4093.
- Wang L, Sharma K, Deng HX, Siddique T, Grisotti G, Liu E, Roos RP (2008).
 Restricted expression of mutant SOD1 in spinal motor neurons and interneurons induces motor neuron pathology. *Neurobiology of disease*. 29, 400-408.
- Wang X, Martindale JL, Liu Y, Holbrook NJ (1998). The cellular response to oxidative stress: influences of mitogen-activated protein kinase signalling pathways on cell survival. *The Biochemical journal*. 333 (Pt 2), 291-300.
- Wellman TL, Jenkins J, Penar PL, Tranmer B, Zahr R, Lounsbury KM (2004).
 Nitric oxide and reactive oxygen species exert opposing effects on the stability of hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha (HIF-1alpha) in explants of human pial arteries. *Faseb J*. 18, 379-381.
- Westwood ME, Argirov OK, Abordo EA, Thornalley PJ (1997). Methylglyoxalmodified arginine residues--a signal for receptor-mediated endocytosis and degradation of proteins by monocytic THP-1 cells. *Biochimica et biophysica acta*. 1356, 84-94.

- Wilson EM , Rotwein P (2007). Selective control of skeletal muscle differentiation by Akt1. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 282, 5106-5110.
- Wolf FI, Torsello A, Covacci V, Fasanella S, Montanari M, Boninsegna A, Cittadini A (2002). Oxidative DNA damage as a marker of aging in WI-38 human fibroblasts. *Experimental gerontology*. 37, 647-656.
- Wu AL, Kim JH, Zhang C, Unterman TG, Chen J (2008). Forkhead box protein
 O1 negatively regulates skeletal myocyte differentiation through
 degradation of mammalian target of rapamycin pathway components.
 Endocrinology. 149, 1407-1414.
- Wu JJ, Bennett AM (2005). Essential role for mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase phosphatase-1 in stress-responsive MAP kinase and cell survival signaling. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 280, 16461-16466.
- Wu Z, Puigserver P, Andersson U, Zhang C, Adelmant G, Mootha V, Troy A, Cinti S, Lowell B, Scarpulla RC , Spiegelman BM (1999). Mechanisms controlling mitochondrial biogenesis and respiration through the thermogenic coactivator PGC-1. *Cell*. 98, 115-124.
- Wu Z, Woodring PJ, Bhakta KS, Tamura K, Wen F, Feramisco JR, Karin M,
 Wang JY, Puri PL (2000). p38 and extracellular signal-regulated kinases
 regulate the myogenic program at multiple steps. *Molecular and cellular biology*. 20, 3951-3964.
- Wullschleger S, Loewith R, Hall MN (2006). TOR signaling in growth and metabolism. *Cell*. 124, 471-484.

- Xiao L, Pimentel DR, Wang J, Singh K, Colucci WS, Sawyer DB (2002). Role of reactive oxygen species and NAD(P)H oxidase in alpha(1)-adrenoceptor signaling in adult rat cardiac myocytes. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*. 282, C926-934.
- Yablonka-Reuveni Z, Nameroff M (1990). Temporal differences in desmin expression between myoblasts from embryonic and adult chicken skeletal muscle. *Differentiation; research in biological diversity*. 45, 21-28.
- Yang W, Zhang Y, Li Y, Wu Z, Zhu D (2007). Myostatin induces cyclin D1 degradation to cause cell cycle arrest through a phosphatidylinositol 3kinase/AKT/GSK-3 beta pathway and is antagonized by insulin-like growth factor 1. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 282, 3799-3808.
- Yant LJ, Ran Q, Rao L, Van Remmen H, Shibatani T, Belter JG, Motta L, Richardson A, Prolla TA (2003). The selenoprotein GPX4 is essential for mouse development and protects from radiation and oxidative damage insults. *Free radical biology & medicine*. 34, 496-502.
- Yarian CS, Toroser D, Sohal RS (2006). Aconitase is the main functional target of aging in the citric acid cycle of kidney mitochondria from mice. *Mechanisms of ageing and development*. 127, 79-84.

Yasuhara S, Perez ME, Kanakubo E, Yasuhara Y, Shin YS, Kaneki M, Fujita T, Martyn JA (2000). Skeletal muscle apoptosis after burns is associated with activation of proapoptotic signals. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*. 279, E1114-1121.

- Yun K, Wold B (1996). Skeletal muscle determination and differentiation: story of a core regulatory network and its context. *Current opinion in cell biology*.
 8, 877-889.
- Yun Z, Lin Q, Giaccia AJ (2005). Adaptive myogenesis under hypoxia. *Molecular and cellular biology*. 25, 3040-3055.
- Zetser A, Gredinger E, Bengal E (1999). p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway promotes skeletal muscle differentiation. Participation of the Mef2c transcription factor. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 274, 5193-5200.
- Zhang J, Jin N, Liu Y, Rhoades RA (1998). Hydrogen peroxide stimulates
 extracellular signal-regulated protein kinases in pulmonary arterial smooth
 muscle cells. *American journal of respiratory cell and molecular biology*.
 19, 324-332.
- Zhang LP, Maiorino M, Roveri A, Ursini F (1989). Phospholipid hydroperoxide glutathione peroxidase: specific activity in tissues of rats of different age and comparison with other glutathione peroxidases. *Biochimica et biophysica acta*. 1006, 140-143.
- Zhao J, Brault JJ, Schild A, Cao P, Sandri M, Schiaffino S, Lecker SH, Goldberg AL (2007). FoxO3 coordinately activates protein degradation by the autophagic/lysosomal and proteasomal pathways in atrophying muscle cells. *Cell metabolism.* 6, 472-483.

- Zhou S, Yao Y, Davison A, Vieira A (2004). A cytochrome c-enhanced peroxidation reaction with potential use in screening dietary antioxidants.
 Journal of pharmaceutical and biomedical analysis. 34, 1057-1061.
- Zhu CH, Mouly V, Cooper RN, Mamchaoui K, Bigot A, Shay JW, Di Santo JP, Butler-Browne GS, Wright WE (2007). Cellular senescence in human myoblasts is overcome by human telomerase reverse transcriptase and cyclin-dependent kinase 4: consequences in aging muscle and therapeutic strategies for muscular dystrophies. *Aging cell*. 6, 515-523.
- Zu YL, Ai Y, Gilchrist A, Maulik N, Watras J, Sha'afi RI, Das DK, Huang CK (1997). High expression and activation of MAP kinase-activated protein kinase 2 in cardiac muscle cells. *Journal of molecular and cellular cardiology*. 29, 2159-2168.